
 
 
 
 
 

 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

Monday 16 September 2013 
2.00 pm 
Council House (Next to the Civic Centre), Plymouth 
 

Members: 
The Lord Mayor, Councillor Mrs Pengelly, Chair 
The Deputy Lord Mayor, Councillor Churchill, Vice Chair 
Councillors Mrs Aspinall, Ball, Mrs Beer, Bowie, Bowyer, Mrs Bowyer, Casey, Coker, Damarell, 
Darcy, Philippa Davey, Sam Davey, Mrs Dolan, Drean, Evans, K Foster, Mrs Foster, Fox, Fry, 
Gordon, Haydon, James, Jarvis, Jordan, Martin Leaves, Michael Leaves, Sam Leaves, Lowry, 
Dr. Mahony, McDonald, Monahan, Morris, Murphy, Mrs Nelder, Nicholson, Mrs Nicholson, 
Parker, Penberthy, Rennie, Ricketts, Dr. Salter, Singh, John Smith, Peter Smith, Stark, Stevens, 
Jon Taylor, Kate Taylor, Tuffin, Tuohy, Vincent, Wheeler, Wigens, Williams and Wright. 
 

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf. 
 

This meeting will be broadcast live to the internet and will be capable of subsequent repeated 
viewing.  By entering the Council Chamber and during the course of the meeting, councillors are 
consenting to being filmed and to the use of those recordings for webcasting.  Although the 
public seating areas are not filmed, by entering the meeting room and using the public seating 
area, the public are consenting to being filmed and to the use of those recordings for webcasting. 
 

The council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.  Data collected during this 
webcast will be retained in accordance with authority’s published policy. 
 
 

Tracey Lee 
Chief Executive 

 

 Tracey Lee 
Chief Executive 
 
Plymouth City Council 
Civic Centre 
Plymouth  PL1 2AA 
 
Please ask for  Nicola Kirby, Democratic 
Support 
T 01752 304867 
E nicola.kirby@plymouth.gov.uk 
www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy 
06 September 2013 

Public Document Pack



 
CITY COUNCIL 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
PART I – PUBLIC MEETING 
  
1. APOLOGIES    
  
 To receive apologies for absence submitted by councillors. 
  
2. MINUTES   (Pages 1 - 18) 
  
 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 22 July 2013.    
  
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   (Pages 19 - 20) 
  
 Councillors will be asked to make declarations of interest in respect of items on this 

agenda. A flowchart providing guidance on interests is attached to assist councillors. 
  
4. APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES, OUTSIDE BODIES 

ETC   
(Pages 21 - 22) 

  
 The Interim Director for Corporate Services will submit a schedule of vacancies on 

committees, outside bodies etc and of changes notified to us.    
  
5. ANNOUNCEMENTS    
  
 (a) To receive announcements from the Lord Mayor, Chief Executive, Interim 

Director for Corporate Services or Assistant Director for Law, Democracy and 
Governance; 

 
(b) To receive announcements from the Leader, Cabinet Members or Committee 

Chairs. 
  
6. QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC    
  
 To receive questions from and provide answers to the public in relation to matters which 

are about something the council is responsible for or something that directly affects 
people in the city, in accordance with Part B, paragraph 11 of the Constitution. 
 
Questions, of no longer than 50 words, can be submitted to the Democratic Support 
Unit, Plymouth City Council, Civic Centre, Plymouth, PL1 2AA, or email to 
democraticsupport@plymouth.gov.uk. Any questions must be received at least five 
complete working days before the meeting. 

  
  
  



 

CABINET AND CO-OPERATIVE SCRUTINY BOARD RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
7. FINANCE: NEW CAPITAL SCHEMES   (Pages 23 - 24) 
  
 Cabinet Member: Councillor Lowry 

  
The City Council will asked to approve two new capital schemes relating to the Marjon 
link road and vehicle and plant replacement Phase 4 which were identified in the capital 
and revenue monitoring report submitted to Cabinet. 
 
The minute of Cabinet held on 6 August 2013 and the Cabinet report can be viewed 
using the following link: http://tinyurl.com/mmkjs4l 

  
8. URBAN ENTERPRISE: NEW ENTERPRISE UNITS AT 

OCEAN STUDIOS   
(Pages 25 - 34) 

  
 Cabinet Member: Councillor Evans (Council Leader) 

 
The City Council will be asked to agree that, subject to a favourable outcome to both the 
European Regional Development Fund and the Growing Places Fund applications, the 
council acts as guarantor for Ocean Studios Community Interest Company (CIC) for 
repayment of the balance of the Trust’s loan from the LEP outstanding to a maximum of 
£794,000 on the terms set out in the Cabinet report, with authority to agree the Heads 
of Terms to be delegated to the Director for Place.  Approval will also be sought for a 
capital contribution of £794,000 from the Investment Fund.  
 
The minute of Cabinet held on 6 August 2013 will be submitted together with the report 
considered at Cabinet. 

  
9. REDEVELOPMENT OF THE CIVIC CENTRE AND FUTURE 

ACCOMMODATION REQUIREMENTS   
(Pages 35 - 52) 

  
 Cabinet Member: Councillor Lowry  

 
The City Council will asked to approve the capital budgets to achieve decant of the Civic 
Centre. 
 
The minutes of Cabinet held on 3 September 2013 will be submitted together with the 
public report considered at Cabinet.  (Please see also agenda item 17 below).  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  



 

10. THE BRILLIANT CO-OPERATIVE COUNCIL 
SUSTAINABLE THREE YEAR PLAN   

(Pages 53 - 62) 

  
 The City Council will asked to approve a revised approach to financial planning over the 

medium term and to support a council-wide transformation programme based on co-
operative values to substantially reduce the operating costs of the council and ensure the 
maximum possible investment in achieving Corporate Plan objectives. 
 
The minute of the Co-operative Scrutiny Board held on 4 September 2013 and the 
minute of Cabinet held on 3 September 2013 will be submitted together with the report 
considered at Cabinet.  

  
11. WEBCASTING   (Pages 63 - 68) 
  
 The Assistant Director for Law, Democracy and Governance will submit a report on a 

four year webcasting contract. 
  
12. CONSTITUTIONAL CHANGES: PLANNING 

COMMITTEE CODE OF PRACTICE AND TERMS OF 
REFERENCE   

(Pages 69 - 100) 

  
 The Assistant Director for Law, Democracy and Governance will submit a report on 

changes to the constitution, in particular to amend the Planning Committee Code of 
Practice and Planning Committee terms of reference. 

  
13. ARRANGEMENTS FOR CODE OF CONDUCT 

COMPLAINTS   
(Pages 101 - 120) 

  
 The Assistant Director for Law, Democracy and Governance will submit a report asking 

the City council to adopt the arrangements in the written report to update the process 
for handling complaints under the councillors’ code of conduct pursuant to Section 28 of 
the Localism Act 2011. 

  
14. MOTIONS ON NOTICE    
  
 To consider motions from councillors in accordance with Part B, paragraph 14 of the 

Constitution. 
  
15. QUESTIONS BY COUNCILLORS    
  
 Questions to the Leader, Cabinet Members and Committee Chairs covering aspects for 

their areas of responsibility or concern by councillors in accordance with Part B, 
paragraph 12 of the constitution. 

  
  
  
  
  
  



 

16. EXEMPT BUSINESS    
  
 To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 

1972 to exclude the press and public from the meeting for the following items of business 
on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 2 and 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended by the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000.   

  
PART II (PRIVATE MEETING) 
 
AGENDA 
 
MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC TO NOTE 
that under the law, Council is entitled to consider certain items in private.  Members of the 
public will be asked to leave the meeting when such items are discussed.  
  
17. REDEVELOPMENT OF THE CIVIC CENTRE AND 

FUTURE ACCOMMODATION REQUIREMENTS (E3)   
(Pages 121 - 138) 

  
 Further to agenda item 9 above, the private report submitted to Cabinet on 3 September 

2013 will be submitted.   
  
18. SENIOR MANAGEMENT RESTRUCTURE (E2 AND 3)   (Pages 139 - 148) 
  
 The Chief Executive will submit a report on the proposed Senior Management Structure.  
  
 



This page is intentionally left blank



���������	�
�����
�������
�������

���������	�
�
�

����
�������
�������
�

���������
�
���������	�
��
���	���������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������� ������ 	���������� 	��������	����!��������������
����	��"����������#�	��$�����#�	��������������������%#�������������������&����	��'��
����
(�	
�����)������)��#����)��
������������
��#����$���
��#����
� �	�����������	���������
��
����������������������	������*��
����*��������������*����������"��!����"��+����	��,�������
,��!����������$�������)����$������"�����$������$���!��$��#�����$������)�����	������������	�����
������������	�����������-��������-�������-����������
�-����������
�
�������������
����.�������������	���/�������������"�����0������(� ���/�����������������������

� ����������	���
�'�#�������0��)�
����$�����/�������������
����+���$��������������0��
*���������+	�/�����������$�������1������0�����
�
���������������+�����.�����
��
���	���/���������������"������	0��������������������
��#�����
�
�����	�
���/������%&�����#�0�
�
������������������
����2�33������
��������
����4�56�����
�
�����������	
�
�������
����������
��
���
�������
�����������
������	����������	���
�
��������������������
�
������������������������������������
�
�����	����������
���������	
������������������
�
���������
��������������
�

���� ���������������������������������������� ���
�
7�������+�������������
��
���	�������������	�
��
���	������!������������

�����
�����������������������������������
����������������������������������
�

���� ���!������
�
�����
��������������������������������������	������������
����83�)����2385���+9����������
����
��������������������:�����������86� ����� �����!�
�+	����������������
	�
���� 	���
��
����������������7����� 	�����
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Agenda Item 2Page 1



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

���� "��#�����������������������
�
��������� ����
������������������������ ������
����������
����� ����������
��������
����
����������������������������������������
��������
������������������������;�
�

�
$%� ��%$� ���%&%'�� �%
'���
���������������
���������

��������56�;�
1�����������������
��������������#����������
��!���������� ����������
,�	��������

"��#���� (���
����������
�

�������<������������
���������	�����������
,�	���������
�

���������������
���������

�������5=�;�(���	�
+����
�	�*($�

"��#����
�

$���������*($�
����������

�����������
���������

�������2>�?�
���������������
�����������������
��
+�
��������

��������+���
��������	�
���������

%����	������"�	������
��������	�(������

�����������
'��
���

�������52�;��������#���
���"�	������

"��#����
�

(�����#���?�������������
��#�����
�$��������
�������
�,������
��������	��
�

�����������
)��
���

��������56�;�
1�����������������
��������������#����������
��!���������� ����������
,�	��������

��������+���
��������	�
���������

(��� ������������	�
�
+	�����,�	����������
�
�����������+����������
��������������
-��!���<�@�������
�

�����������$���

��#���

�������56��;�
1�����������������
��������������#����������
��!���������� ����������
,�	��������

��������+���
��������	�
���������

(��� ���+��
� ���� ���
,�	������������������

�����������$���

��#���

�������5=�;�(���	�
+����
�	�*($�

"��#����
�

$��������*($�
�����	����
�

��������������
�����	�

�������5=�;�(���	�
+����
�	�*($�

"��#����
�

(��������*($����������
�

�����������
�������
�
�

�������5=�;�(���	�
+����
�	�*($�

"��#����
�

$��� ���� �� *($�
����������

�����������)����
$�����

�������52�;��������#���
���"�	������

"��#����
�

(����������+����������
��#�����
�$��������
�������
�,������
��������	��
�

Page 2



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

�����������)���
��	����

�������5=�;�(���	�
+����
�	�*($�

"��#����� (�������*($�
�����	����

�
�����������
-��������

�������53�;�
*����+������
�
"�������.�
*����+������
�
���������
��������

"��#���� (�� ��� �� ���+��� ��� ��
������ ������ ��� ������
������� �������
� ��� ���
������������

�
���� ��������������������������(��!���"��)�"����������

�
�����������������������������������������$��#����� �����+�����
����
�
�������	�������������
�;�
�

/�0� �������������������������������������������������	��������������� ������
+	?����������������$���� �	�-��
����
���
�#��	�������� ��������������
����������+���������������������� ����� ���
����������������A����

/+0� ��������� �������������������
�������������������������������
� ��
��������	���
�'�#��������;��

�

����$$���%%�%�	� �%$*%&'+�,�


������������������� ����������� ������� ��� ��������
���������������*��
����

-��!���� "�	������ 1#��#�� � ��
�
$������	�"�����

����������� ������� ��� ��������
�������������&�

������ ���
��� ��
� ��������� ����	�
)���������������

����������� -������ ��� ��������
���������������*��
���

�
�����
���������� �����������������;�
��

� ����$$���%%'�
���
��+%&��)���%'��

�%$*%&'+�,� �,,����$%��'�
����-�.�

/�0� "�	��������������	�
(�����

� ��#�����������������
���������������������
������������������
��� �����
�
�����������-��������

�������������
������������

/+0� "�	������%����	�
��������	�
�����
�

1��������������
#�����	�
�

�����"��+����	�

�
/��������������������
������
������#��������������������������������/�0��+�#�0��

�
�

Page 3



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

���� ����!�����������
�
�+%�"%,����#�&���
��&�;�
�

/�0�  ������
�������������������������������������������������������	�
��������������������������������������������#���������$���� �	�
-��
A�
�

/+0� ������������
� ���� ����������� $������� $��#����� ����� ��� ������
�����#�������������������������������������)�� ��
�����%&������������
�����������$��#�������

��
����	�

�&��/
�'�0����	�
�#%
�%&1��������
��������������������������������������	����
��������+�
���
�+����
����������������� ��������
��������������������������������������
�
��
�+�������� ��
������������
�#�
������������#���������
�
����	�

�&�2�

�
$'�0�
*��%���%$*%&�3�&��+�
�&%��
���4���5��%�,
%1���������
�
�����?�
�

/�0� ���� ���������� ����� ������������ ������ �����������
����� ���"�	������
��
�+������
���
������6=����2=� ��!����
���������������
���#�
�
��������
������������������������+��������%�����
���
�-����A�

/+0� ���� �������� ��
� +���� ����������� ��� +�

���� ���� ���
�� ����� ����
����������� ���� %
�������� ���� ������ ������	� �������.� -�
� ����
"�����	A�-��
���
� "�����	� ��
�(��	������� "�����	� $������� ��
�
�������� �������������������
���

����	�

�&��%�*%&�+��0�
*��%���%$*%&�3�&����,%&
��/%'�
�����$$������
"%/%
�,$%��1���������
������ ���������
������	�
�	���������������������7���

������������
���!������������������������������� ���������������������� �+���������
��������	���������)��������&���
������
����������������+���������
�
���������	�������
�
#��������������
���� ��� ��!���� ����"�	���������	��������������	���������������
�
�����+����������
�������#������������������!�����'�����������
�����������

��
����	�

�&���6%&�0�
*��%���%$*%&�3�&��&
�',�&�1���������
����������(������������
$�����-����
%"���
�������� ��
������������������������ ����������#��������
������������������
�����#�����
�������B>3�=���������
%"���
��� �+�����
#���
���������
 ���
������#�����	�B23�8�� ����� ���#��	�
���������������
�

���� 7!��������)4������!)#�����
�
�����:�����������
�+���������#�
���������+�������������+��������������������������� ������
����������������������
��
���	���� ��������#�����������+��������������������������
�����
����� ��������������83����������������������
�
���-��������/C50������
�
���������������
���������+��������������������
� �	�������������
"��+����	�������
�
������������+��� �?�

�
�

Page 4



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

��������	

�	

��������	
��	


������	������	 �������	

C5D85?8>� ���
-��������

����������� 
� �	��
/��+����� ���+��� ����
�������0�

��
��������
��������
���������
��

�����������������	���#������&�������
��������
������������+�������E��7������ ����
�����+����+�����
�������������������������������+�����������
�
��������
�	���������
��������	�������E��7������� �������
�#�������������
��������
���E���

���������	
�
���������������+�������������������������������������������������
��������
 �����
�������������
��������
�����������������������
������������ ���&�����
�������#�
�������
�����������
�
����� ��������+����+�����
�������������������������������+����+��������������
�
�
�����+���������
���������������������<�� �+��������
�����������
�
$�����������
��������������
� ���������������������.�
�
��������� ����

•� ����	��������
����������������������
������������A�
•� �
�����������+����������������
�A�
•� �����
�����������������������������+����������
�����	��������������������

��
��&�������������������������#�������
��� ������������������A�
•� *�����!����	��������������#	��������#�����
�� �������������

����������� ����"�	���������	��������� ������������#�
�����������
�����������������	��������
���������
���+��
���������
������������#��������
������
�������A�

•� ���������������������������������������������	���������������������
	��������������
��������������8FA�

•� ���!����
����������������������+������������������������ �����
%����������������
������
A�

•� ���	�������+	��� ���������A�
•� ���#�
��������:����
�������������������#�������������������������

������������ �����
�����������!��������A�
•� %&�������
������������#��
���	�����������	�
������������
��+�����

����#�
��
�������		

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Page 5



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

7�������+�������������:��������������C>���� ���������������� ���
�+�������������$���������
��������+��� �?�

�
��������	

�	

��������	��	 
������	������	 �������	

C>�85D8>� ���$������ �����������$�����
/�����	�
��
��0�

"�	�����!�
� ������������

"����������"�	�����!�,���
�������#�������
���������
��������+����� �������
����� ��� "�	�����!�� ��
� ���� ����� �� ������������� 
�	� +�� �������
� ��� ����
��+9������� ������������+��������������#�������������� ���	�	��������E�
�
���������	
	
��������������
��������������������� ����"�	�����!�"���������������
���#�����	��
#���
�������#�������� ���������������$������
����������
����
���������������������������������$������
������������
������#���������������
��
��������������������������
�	����������������	��
�
������������������������	�
����������������������������	�����������������
�����
$������
�������#�
����$������(�+����������%�+����������������������
� ��������������
������
#���
����#�����	�����������	�
�������� �������
��+9��������&�����#����+���������������������233=������������
#���
����#�����	��
����"�����������������<��
���������������������������������������2382� ���
��
������� ���������
�������������+��������������
������ �����&�����#����+����
���������������
�
������:����
�$83=�����+����
�����
���
�
�������
�+�� ���������� 	�������
"����$(�����
�������
��7���
������
������������ 	����������������������
 �	�����������+�������
�������	�����������������������������������+�������
�
����������������������������������
�#���������
���������������������	�����
����$83=� ���
��������/��������������������0������������ ���
�+������
�����
�
���#��	������������������������
����������� ���
���������������>������
�����
�26��� ���������������������8�/	�����8?50��
�

�
�����	����-��!��
���/C60������
�
���������������
���������+��������������������

� �	�������������"��+����	�������
�
������������+��� �?�
�

��������	

�	

��������	��	 
������	������	 �������	

C6�85D8>� ��� ��	���?
-��!��
���

�����������
� �	�
/��+��������+�������
�������0�

B=3��������������
�

�
-�	� ���
�����
�+��������������#���������#������

���B=3��������
����������
	���
�+��
���������
�� �������+�����+����������������
+����������������
�������&���
�����������&���������
��� � ���
������
�������
�+���<������
���#���	��������E���

Page 6



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

���������	
	
�����������'�#�������<�������������������������-�������,�����������
������������ ��!�
�#��	�������	� ����������������������� ��������
����������"�	������ ��������������
���-����#�� ��!�
� ����$������

��
���
��������
� �	�������������������������������������
�+	�����
G+�
�������&<���
���#��+�����������#����� ��!���� ������
�#�
��������
�
���������������������������������������A�����������
#�����+������������
�
+����������
�
�����������
��&������������ ��������������������82�
������	���	��������������
� ��!�	����������������
�
(� �#����
��������������������� ������������� ������������#���+�	������
������� ��������������
�+����
�����������������+9����
��������#��	�
������������ ������	���� ���
���������������	��������������#��	�
������������
����������������
��������������������������������	�����
���������������
���� ��
��������������������������
��+�������
��+����	�
1�
����%#����������������� �� ��!� ����������������������������������
 ���������������������������#��� �	�������	�����
�+�����!���������
����������������
�#�
��������������������
�
����B=3������������������������������
����������#���������������
�+	�
���������������������������������������������������#��	���������
�
��������������������������&�
�+���������#�� �
������	������
�����

�������� �����
������������������������
������2385D8>����!���������
������������������������������������-�������,�������������������&�
��	������
�
������������	����������������������#����������������������������
��#���������-������+����������
������!����������������������������
����
� �������
��#���������������������������
����<������������������
#������+�����������
�����
�
-������������������#��� ������ ��!�������
������
������������
���#���	�
��#�������������������������������#�������������	������!���������
���������
���������������#���
�

�
���1�(����/C=0������
�
���������������
��������������������������
�
������������
+��� �?�
�

��������	

�	

��������	��	 
������	������	 �������	

C=�85D8>� ���1<(���� �������������������
/��+��������+�������
%�#��������0�

���� ���	<�� ���������

��&�
�� 
��������� ��+��
������������2382�

�

Page 7



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

�
-���������������������<���� ������������������
������
��������������
�('��
�������� ���������� �����������#�� �����
���� ��� ������ G+��!�����
<� �C� 
���� ���
�������������� ���������-��������������#�� ����������������������������������	�
�������� ���� �����������	� �����������-���� ���� "�����+����� ���� ���	<�� ���������

��&�
��
�����������+��������������2382E�
�
���������	
	
�����������
���������������
����������������������������������%�,���1��������
�����������+�����������
�+	��%�,����������
���#����+������������+������
�
�����
�
����������������� �+������7���������������
����������������������� ����+��
��
���
����������&���� ���������
�
(� �#�����������
����������������������������������������������������������������
���	� ����+�������������1<(����+	���������
�
��������
��������������������2382�����������������
��&�
������������������
��������������5�-��������������#�����58�>5������������������������+�
��
�
����*������������C�����	�1+9����#���������������
��&�
�����>3����������������
��������+�
��
�

�
�	�� �����������#�������-�.�8����9-�:���

�
�����������%#����/��������
��
��0���������
�������+�������������
���������������#�����
�
�����������"�����$����������
�
��������������/��+������������86�������0��
�
�����������
�+������������!��������������������� ���������� ���
�+�����
�
� ��������
���
�
������������ �����
#���
�������������
����������������� ���
�+�������������������
����
���������������"���� ����� ���
�+����������
����
�������������

�
��������� ����������&������
��+�����������!�����������������������������������������������
�������#�������������������������	���������������������������������������������$��#����/������
����������������������,�#�� �'����0��������
��������� ������	������������� �����
�
�����������������������������������������������������,�#�� �'�������&�� ��!��

�
�����
�����������������<������������"����2385D8>�;�238=D84�����
����
������+�����
��
�

�
�� ���!�#����������������!�4����� �������������������������-�����
�
�����������-�������/���������������
������������0���������
������������,���������
�������	����������������#������2382?85�����������������:����
�+	������7"����������	�
�������������
�����"��������/��
��������������������86��������
0����
�
�����������
� �	������
�
���������������

�
�����������,����������������	����������������#������2382?85� �������
��
�

Page 8



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

���� ��� �)�!����"��#����� ����� �)�!����"����!�����"���������
�
������������������������������������������$��#�������
�"����� �����+�����
����
*����+������
�"�������.�*����+������
����������
���������
��������������������
/��+��������+�������%�#��������0���#�
�������������
������������� ������������������
�����#��������
�
������������
������ ��������
�
�+	������������"��+����	�/��+��������+�������
���������#�����
���������	���#��������0� �����
�����
������������������+����	���
�+����

�������
����������������������+�����
�����+�������
�
������������
�
�����
����������
�������
���������	�������������������������������"��������$��#���������
������������� ��������"���������(��
����������������#�����
���������	���#�������������
��+������������������������*����+������
����������
����������������
�������������������
��
����
���������������������������
�

/�����������-�������
������
������#��������������������������������+�#������0��
�

���� ���#������������������#���� �2� ������#4��!������4�
��!���#���
�
���������������������������
� ����������	���
�'�#�������������
���
�������������������
�����������������������$��#������������������������������������#���� �������"�	���������	�
����������

�
�����������"�����$�����/�����	�
��
��0���#�
�������������
������������� ���������������
����
�
��������� ��;�
�

G����
��������������������������
�#����-������
��������������������<�

���
������������������	���������
�
���������������
��
�����
�����
��������������������������
�#����-������
����������������������
�
��������������������
� �
��������� ��������������
�+���������#�
��������������������������
����� ����"�����������������
8>����������������������
� �

���� ��&%���/%&�����
�$���+���
�
�����������%#������#�
���
��������������	������
�
���������� �����������?��

�
G�������� +����#��� ����� ���� ���������� +	� ��#��� ��
� $�������� ����� ��
�
,������ ��������	� ��� ���� ����� ��#��� ��� ���� ���	� ���� ���������+���� � ����
����������� +	� ����������� (����	� ����� "�	������ ��&��	���� ��	� � ���� ���
�������������������#����������#���������+���������
�<��

��
�����������
�+��������������������
������
�
�?��

Page 9



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

�
/�0� ���� 
��������  ��� ��
�� +	� ���� ����� ��
� ������� ��������	� 
�������

��������#�
�������
����������#���������� ��
�+	������������A��

/+0� ���� ������ 
�
� ���� ��!�� �������� ��� ������ ���� ��� ��� ��� #������+���
����H���A����

/�0�� ������  ���
� +�� ������� ��������� ������ ��� 
�������� ��
� ��9���
����
����A��

/
0� ��������
�����+�������������������������������������A��

/�0�

��

���� ����� ��
� +���� ��#�� �
� +	� ���� 1#��#�� � ��
� $������	�
���������������
���
������������
�+�������#�	�
���������������
�
���������������	A��

/�0� ���� ��������� +	� ����������� ���!� (����	� /������ ��� ��#��� ��
�
$���������������
�,��������������	0� ��������������+�����
���� ���
����
�����������
����������
�
���	����������������������#������������
���	A�

/�0� ������������ ��� ���������� ��!� ���������������
����������������	����
�����#���������	��������+���������������A��

/�0� �����������
����������������	���
���
��������������������
���������A��

/�0� �����������
����������������	� ���
�+�������
��������������������>�
$�����+��� 2385� ��� ����+����� ��� ���������
� ��������� ������ ���� ����
����������������������"�	�����������

/90� ������#����������
��������
���
��� ���
� ���������������� ���+�
� ����
�����
��������������
����������83�������������4�6������������

�
����� ������#���������������� ��������
������+�����
�����

�
/������������'��
�����
�)����$�����
������
����#���������������������������������+�#������0��
�

���� !;���&
�%5�	��&
�',�&����&&���&���
�
�����������%#������#�
���
������������"�����$����������
�
���������� ����������?�

G�������� +����#��� "�	������ �����
� +�� ��� ���� @�� $��������� ����������
�����
�����
� �����������������������
�<�

�
�����������
�+��������������������
������
�
�?�
�

/�0� �������	� ��������������@��$������������������������
����#���
��������������	���
������#�����	����#���+������
� ��������������������
 �������������������������A���
��
�

Page 10



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

/+0� ����������	� ������������������ ��!�������� ���
�+����������
����������������������#���������
����
���������#��	���
����������
�������	���#���������������������������������������������������������A���
��

/�0�� ��� ���#������������ ����+�������������
������9�+����
�����������
�

����� ������#���������������� ��������
������+�����
���
�

���� �
$%
'��%
��2
'�%�2
�%&��&%
�$%���2�&6'���
�
�����������%#������#�
���
��������������!��������
�
���������� �����������?�
��

G����������������&������	���������
��+�����������������������
����
���������������������(��
�-�����-���������������-��!����

�
-�� �������������������������������������	������������������
������
 ��!���
�����������
�������#�����������B>�������������������
����!��
 ������
������������2386���
������$--�����������������������#��������
�����
���������#��	����������������2386�?23���#���������������������

�
����������������� ���� ��!� ����$--����
���#��������������#�������+���
��������	��������� �� ����+���������
�������������������� ������������#��
��	� �
���� ������� ���������� ���� ������ ��������	� +���� �� � ��
� ������ ��
������������
�������������������#�
�
�<�

�
�����������
�+��������������������
������
�
�?��
�

/�0�  ������ ���� ������
� ��#��������  ���  ������
�� ���� 
���	� ���
��������������� �������
� �� �������� ��
� $�����-����-�����  ���
����
����+������������������� ��
A�����

/+0� ���������
���������
� �������
��&��������������������A���

/�0�

��

����
����� ��� ������������ �&��������
� �������� ���+������ ������� ���
��	����������
�����+�� �����������������������
��#���������������
��+����� ���+��� ��
� $�����-����-�����  ���� ��:�����
� +	� ����
��������
��
��A�

/
0�
��

�����������������
���#��������� ���������������
�+����!���������������
�������������������	�������������

�
����� ������#���������������� ��������
������+�����
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Page 11



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

���� �,,�'����������+%��&�	%''��3��&�/
��'
������
6��5�,

	%�<��+����+%����

��
�
���
�
�����������$��#������#�
���
������������)�����	���������
�
���������� ����������?�
�

G"�	���������	��������� �����������������������
�����������������������
��������������#������������!���������� ����������,�	����������
������������
�������G��&�
�	�������������������	 ����<�
���#��	������������������ ����
���
��������������������
��� ��������#��������"�	����������
������

�
@�9�������
�������������"����1������� ������#����
�������������������������
������������	���
������������������������������������	�������������

�
�������� ���������  ���� ���#�	� ������ #�� �� ��� ���� $�������	� ��� $����� ����
���������� 7���#������ ��
� $!����� ���!���� ����������� ����� ���#����� ���
"�	������  ���� +�� ��������
� ��
� ��:����� "�	�����I�� ���+���� ���
"����������������������������?�������,�	��������<�

�
�����������
�+���������������������
������
�
�?��
�

/�0� ��������#���������������������������
�������A�
��

/+0� ����������#�
�+������������&��������������#������������������A����
��

/�0�
��

�����,�	�������� ������������+������#���A��

/
0�� ��������#�����������������������������

����� ������#���������������� ��������
������+�����
��

/�����������)��
�����
�$���
��#��� ���
�� ������������������
�����������
��������
������������0��

/������������������������
������
������#��������������������������������+�#������0��

�
���� �
,,��)�&�+�
��������

�
�����������"����������#�	���#�
���
������������"�����$����������
�
���������� �����������
������	� ��������
��������*($� ��������#�
�
���������#����������#��	������
�����������
�����
�������������������
���
�

G������������� ������������������������������������������*($��������+�������
����=6���+����
�	�<��

�
7�������
����� ��������,����������+����/����������>�20����������������������������������
�����#�
�����&���������������������������������#�	���������
�����������������
�
�
�
�
�

Page 12



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

������������������
���#�
���������� ��������
�����;�
�

G������������� ������������������������������������������*($��������+�������
����=6���+����
�	��������������������	�������	
������
������%����������	�%�����
	���&�������'��&���!������&
������(������

�
���������������������������
� ����������	���
�'�#���������&������
������������������
����
����� �����������#�����������������������������
������������������
�����
9���������
�����������
����������������������

�
����� ���������
9����������������������������
� ���
�� ���������
�������
���#�
���
������������
��������+���

�
����������� ��
�G+����
�	<��������� ��?�

�
G��
� ��� ����� ��� ���� ,�� (��� )����	� (���� �"� ��� $�������	� ��� $����� ����
(������ ����������������� ��<������+�������	������<���

�
��������
����� ��������
�
�+	��������������������
�
�����������
�+���������������������
������
�
�;�
�

/�0� ����������������
������������	� ��������������+����������
�
�����
�
������������� �������+�� ������
�+�����������
A�
��

/+0� ������������������������������������������A���
��

/�0�
��

�������
��������������
���
������������������*($A�
��

/
0�
��

������ ��������
��������
��������������� ����������
�������������
���#���A�

��
/�0� �������
�����

���������������:����������

�
����� ������#�������������
����� ��������
��

�
����� ���������������+	������������"����������#�	��������+������#�����������������
�
��
 ��������������#������
������
���

�
/�����������$���
��#��� ���
�� ������������������
�����������
���������������

�+�#������0��
/����������������������������������	���������
���
�)�����	����
������
����������

������������������+�#������0��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Page 13



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

���� ��,,�&���5��+%����
�	�

��&
�'
	������
=���
�

�����������-����������#�
���
������������"��+����	������
�
���������� �����������?�
��

>����	�
����%'��+
���
��

� 
�������#����������������������#����������������������������������

���
������
������������������#�������������� �	����������)����2385�
�����������#��$���
����,�#�� �����������������&���������������
�����+�����������+�
���������������������+���������A�
��


� ���	�����������������#����
���
������
����������������������������	<��
�����#������+�����
����
	�����
�����������&����������������
�������
���������������������&�$�������$������� ������������
��������#�
����
�����+����������������������� �����������������������	�������
���	�
��#�����&������A�
��


� ����������+���������
��������� �	��������������������������#��������
��#���������� ����������������
�����:���H����������#���������������
���������������������������������#�������
�#������������������������H���A�
�


� %&���
����������������������������������������&��/���0���������������
����������������������������+��
����
�
���#���#�������
�������B23+��
����

����������#������������@����	���A��
��


� ��� ������ 88� %�������� �������� �����
���� ��������'�����	�� 7���	� ��
�
$�����������#��������
� ��������������������+��
����
�
���#���#���
��������
����������B53+����	�����

�

����	�
�*%
�%/%'��+
���
�


� ,�#�����������������������
�����������������
�����������
�+	������
�����+�������#�����������2383���
�����A�


� 
����� ��#�������� 
����#��� ��� �����#�� �� ������������ ����������� ���
������#���������!�����������������������+���������+��������������
�
��#������&���
����������������#�������������������������&�+�������A��

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

Page 14



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

����	�
�$�������
�

��������������������������������������
����������������
��������������������
�����������������#�������<�������������������
��������������������������
���������#����������
����������	�
��#��������!������+�������#�����;������	�
������#	������������������������������&�����������������#������#�������������#��
����������
�������������������������������� ��������
����������������
���	�����������������������������������'�#���������������������������
�
����������#�����������������������������#�������?�����������!�������
��������������������������������
���������������������%&�����#����� ��������
����"����������������
���������������������������<�
�

�����������
�+���������������������
������
�
�?�
�

/�0� ����� ��� �����
� �������������� ��������� ��� ��:����
�� ��� ����� ������
 ��� ���� �� ������#�� ������� ��� ������ ���������� ������
����
��
�#�
����	A���

/+0� ����� ��� �������� ���� �&����������� ��� 	���
� ��
� ���� +���� ���� ��
�
�����������
�� ���
�+����������	��������
A��

/�0�
��

�������������
�+��
������
�����������	��������������&� ���
���������
����#��
���
���������
��	������ ���
���!��������	��������������

�
����� ��������:�������������������������������������
�
�#�����������#���
�;��
�
���������������/530�
�
��
��
������������)
������*��
�����������������+������������+������%�+������,������-�.��/�������
!���
���0��������+�����������
����������������������������������'���
���%
�����!��%�
�������%�
����
%��������!��1�������2��1�������1
		
���1
�����3
�������4��������4
��
��������4�
������
�
�������������������/8J0�
�
��
��
������*���������*�����*�����������*�������+������+������-�����������-�������-����!������!�������
�
������0�������%���0�������+��������������������
��������������
���������'
�����������%�������
�
�+����������/80�
�
+�)
���0����������5���
�6�
�
��������� �������+���� �����+�����/40�
�
��
��
����������+������&�����������
��0��������
�)�����������������50���������6��+��%����������
4
��������
�
�
�
�

Page 15



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

����������� ��������
����������������������
���������� ��;�
�

G���������������������������������'�#���������������������������
�����
������#�����������������������������#�������?�����������!���������������
������� ��� ���� �������� ��
� ���������� ���������� %&�����#�� ��� ����� ��� ����
"����������������
���������������������������<�

�
����� ��������
��������������������%#����/��������
��
��0���!�
����������������������������

� ����������	���
�'�#��������������#�
������ ������ �����������������������������������
�����������������!��������������� ��������	���
���
�������+�����������	���������������
�

�	�� "��� �����������������������?������������
�
���������������������������
� ����������	���
�'�#�������������
���
�������������������
�����������������������$��#������������
������������������$�������868�1���������

�
�����������
� �	�/��+��������+��������������0��������
���
�������������� 	��������
�
�
������������
������������
�
�����
�������������������������������������������������������%����������������������	���
�
����������
��������
���������������<������������������+������������
������������������������������
����������������
����� ����$�������868��������
�����'�#������������8J42�� ����������������
85��������2385��
�

�
�� 7!��������)4���!���##������
�
7�������
����� ��������������82������������������������������� ����:��������� ������!�
����
����
��
������+��������+������
��������������������#��������������������������������
��������+����	�?�
�
� �&�$� ��� ��*@%	��
8� ���������������� �������������!��� "��!���������#��<��"����� ���
������������

������� ����+��������
�+	� ��!�������
,�	���-�������K��
���
��������!���
 �����!�
� ����������� ���+�����
��!����

�������������!���������
�
��������������� ���� ��!���� ��������,�	���-�������
K��
���
���� ������������������������������������������&�����������

2� �����������$���!� �����������%#���� (��������������
������%#�����������
�������������������������	������������
�����
�	���
��������
�������������	�
�����
�+�����%����������	���������������
�����
����
����#��������

�����������%#����������
�
� ����������
���������
� ���� �����+��� ����� �������	�
��
������������������!������
������ �#���������

�

Page 16



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

5� �����������
�� 	���

�����������
� �	� ������������� ����������������������
���
���� ���
���������������#���� ����
������������
������
� �	� �����!�
�
 ��������
�������� ���
�+���������#��
��������

����������� 
� �	� ������
�
� ����� ��� ���������� 	���� ���
���� ���
� �������� �����
���� ��������  ���
� ��	� �� ��#����  ���� ��
� ���	�  ���
�  ��!�  ���� �����������
1�������� ��������� ���!��������� � ��� ����
�+��������
� �������������� ���
�������
����
�������� ���
�+���������#�����������
��������������������������	���������
�����	������
��������� ���
�+����+�����
��������������������������������

>� ����������������� �������������!��� -��������������������#������#����������
����������
�������#�����������!����
�#�������������������
������$������E�

�������������!��� ������
�
� ����� ����� ��#����� ��� +����� �����#�
� +��� �����
������ ��������������+����#������������#���������������� �������
� ���#��������	� ���
��������������1�������� �������!������� �	����
�����������

�������������������

6� ����������������� �������������!��� ������������� �������������������
�������� ���
�������������������������
���������

�������������!��� ������
�
� ����� ������ ��
� +������� �������� ������233J� ��
�
��������� ���  ��� ���� �� ��������	� ��:���������� ���� ��������  ���
� ��������� ���
��������������

=� �����������$���!� �����������
��������

(� ����	���+��������!�� ��������

������������������+������E�7��
���������������������
��������	<������!�
 ���������������
�� �������������

��  ������� ���������  ���
� +�� ���#�
�
� ��� ���� ���+��� ��� ����!�� ��
� �����
��������������
�
����������	<������!� �����������	�+����������+����
���

4� �����������)����� �����������
�������
�

-������������	��������������������
+�� ����������������
���� �����������
 ������������������
����
���E��

������������������
�������
�
����������������
���!�����������
� ������������
����������'���+������@������
���
�������+�
���#����+��������������������� ���
������������
�������������������+����������
�+�� �������������+���������������
�
�������������������������� ���� )�����$���������*��
������������� ���
��&�����
��������������������������
�����������������	��������������������� ���
�+�������
��������������)������

F� �����������$���!� �����������
-��������

����������������
��
�������"������
��:����
�� ���������������������������
��
�������������� ���������������������
 ���
�+����
���#����+����������������
-�������� ����������!�
� ���������� ���
����������=3��������������������������
��������(����� ����
�#���
��������

�+����'����E��

Page 17



�
�����
��
���������  �!
��� "#$�

�����������-��������������
�
���������� ���
����������� ��������
�������������
� �� ������  ���� �#����+��� ���� ���� ������ ���������� � ���� 
����������� ���
�������
��������������	� ���������������+����	����������������������

�
�����������������7
���
���������������
))����������7
���
���������
))�����������������������
������
����
�����
�
������� �����
�������� ��� ���� �+�#�� ������ �� �������  ��� ��#�
�� �����
�
� ��
� �����
� ���
������
���������"����
����,����83�8���
����������������������+�	��
�4�53�����

Page 18



 
 

DECLARING INTERESTS – QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF 
 
 
 
 
 
           
          
 
         
    
         No   Yes 
 
 
 
 
   
    No   Yes 
 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      
              
         
          
     
                
          
                
     
 
           
 
             
      
     
 

 
 
 
 
 
D
P 

I 

Does the business relate to or is it likely to affect a disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI)?  This will include 
the interests of a spouse or civil partner (and co-habitees): 

• any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation that they carry on for profit or gain 
• any sponsorship that they receive including contributions to their expenses as a councillor or the 

councillor’s election expenses from a Trade Union 
• any land licence or tenancy they have in Plymouth 
• any current contracts leases or tenancies  between the Council and them 
• any current contracts leases or tenancies  between the Council and any organisation with land in 

Plymouth in they are a partner, a paid Director, or have a relevant interest in its shares and 
securities 

• any organisation which has land or a place of business in Plymouth and in which they have a 
relevant interest in its shares or its securities 

What matters are being discussed? 

 
 
 
P
r 
I 
v
a
t
e 
 
I
n
t
e
r
e
s

t 

Does the business affect the well-being or financial position of (or relate to the approval, consent, licence or 
permission) for: 

• a member of your family or  
• any person with whom you have a close association; or 
• any organisation of which you are a member or are involved in its management (whether or not 

appointed to that body by the council).  This would include membership of a secret society and 
other similar organisations. 

 
Yes           No   You can speak and vote 

 
 
 
   

 
 

Yes    No 

Speak to Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting to avoid risk of allegations of corruption 
or bias 

Declare interest and leave (or obtain 
a dispensation) 

Declare the interest and speak and 
vote  

Will it confer an advantage or disadvantage on your family, close associate or an organisation 
where you have a private interest more than it affects other people living or working in the 
ward? 

C
a
b
i
n
e

t 

Cabinet members must declare and give brief details about any conflict of interest* relating to the matter to 
be decided and leave the room when the matter is being considered. Cabinet members may apply to the 
Monitoring Officer for a dispensation in respect of any conflict of interest. 
 
*A conflict of interest is a situation in which a councillor’s responsibility to act and take decisions impartially, 
fairly and on merit without bias may conflict with his/her personal interest in the situation or where s/he may 
profit personally from the decisions that s/he is about to take. 
 

Agenda Item 3Page 19



Page 20

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Final 03.09.13  Not protectively marked 

CITY COUNCIL 
16 September 2013

 
 

APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES, OUTSIDE BODIES ETC 
Report of the Interim Director for Corporate Services. 
 

The City Council is asked to consider the following appointments – 

 

   Committees and 
Other  Bodies  

Membership Appointments 
2013/14 

(a) Devon and Somerset Fire 
and Rescue Authority  

 

One vacancy arising from 
resignation of Councillor Martin 
Leaves. 

Current representatives are 
Councillors Gordon and John 
Smith. 

 

Councillor Stark 

 The council’s representation is proportional with two representatives nominated by the 
Labour Group and one from the Conservative Group.  The term of office is continuing 
until such time as the councillor resigns or is replaced by the authority.  

 

 

(b) Standing Advisory 
Committee for Religious 
Education * 

 

One vacancy arising from 
resignation of Councillor Ricketts. 

Current representatives are 
Councillors Mrs Aspinall, Drean, 
Gordon, Singh and Stark. 

 

 

 

 The council’s representation is proportional with three representatives nominated by 
the Labour Group and three from the Conservative Group.  The term of office is 
continuing until such time as the councillor resigns or is replaced by the authority.  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 4Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Final 19 August 2013  Not protectively marked  

CITY COUNCIL 
16 September 2013

 
 

CABINET MINUTE 24 OF 6 AUGUST 2013 
    
Finance - Capital and Revenue Monitoring Report: Recommendation to the City 
Council   

 
Further to minute 23 above,   
 
the City Council is Recommended to agree the new schemes to be added to the capital 
programme totalling £3.3m as follows – 
 

● Marjons Link Road £1.5m 
● Vehicle and Plant Replacement Phase IV £1.8m 

 
  

                          ______________________________________________ 

Note: 

The full report in connection with this minute is available on the website 

www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy 

or by contacting Democratic Support on 01752 304867 

 

Agenda Item 7Page 23



Page 24

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Final 19 August 2013  Not protectively marked  

CITY COUNCIL 
16 September 2013

 
 

CABINET MINUTE 25 OF 6 AUGUST 2013 
 
URBAN ENTERPRISE: NEW ENTERPRISE UNITS AT OCEAN STUDIOS   

 
Anthony Payne (Director for Place) submitted a written report on the Ocean Studios 
development at the Royal William Yard, which was a £4.06 million building project which could 
unlock £3.27 million public funding to create 1,900 square metres of affordable artists’ studios.  
 
The report indicated how the delivery of the project would be facilitated by a capital contribution 
of £794,000 from the City Council’s Investment Fund and how the potential financial impact of the 
council acting as guarantor to a loan of similar value would be mitigated.  
 
Councillor Evans (Council Leader) introduced the proposals and advised Cabinet Members that 
the council would be liable for any outstanding payments at the end of the 10 year loan period.  
 
Patrick Bowes (Urban Enterprise Project Manager) also reported on the proposals.  
  
Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision – 
 
As set out in the report.  
 
Agreed that subject to a favourable outcome to both the European Regional Development Fund 
and the Growing Places Fund applications and the approval of the City Council, the council agrees 
– 

 
 

(1) to act as guarantor for Ocean Studios Community Interest Company 
(CIC) for repayment of the balance of the Trust’s loan from the LEP 
outstanding to a maximum of £794,000 in accordance with an agreed 
Heads of Terms between Plymouth City Council and the Ocean 
Studios CIC which mitigates the potential financial impact upon the 
council. Authority to agree the Heads of Terms to be delegated to 
the Director for Place; 
  

(2) to make a capital contribution of £794,000 from the Investment 
Fund.  

                         ______________________________________________ 

Note: 

The full report in connection with this minute is available on the website 

www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy 

or by contacting Democratic Support on 01752 304867 

Agenda Item 8Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
  
Subject:    Urban Enterprise: New Enterprise Units at Ocean Studios.  

Committee:    Cabinet  

Date:    6 August 2013 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Evans 

CMT Member:   Anthony Payne (Director for Place) 

Author: Patrick Bowes, Urban Enterprise Project Manager 

Contact:    Tel: 01752 304882 
    e-mail : Patrick.bowes@plymouth.gov.uk  

Ref:    Your ref. PB /UE 

Key Decision: Yes  
Part: I  
 
 
 
Purpose of the report:  
 
Ocean Studios development is a £4.06 million building project which could unlock £3.27 million 
public funding to create 1,900 sq metres of affordable artists’ studios in a deprived area that has the 
strong will to provide 104 new jobs, safeguarding 40, and forms one of the ‘Plans for Jobs’ projects. 
This report explains how the delivery of the project is facilitated by a capital contribution of £794,000 
from the City Council’s Investment Fund. In addition, the Council will act as guarantor to a loan of 
similar value, and this report explains how the potential financial impact of this enabling role will be 
mitigated.  
 
Ocean Studios is a Community Interest Company (CIC) in the creative sector, one of the priority 
sectors identified for growth. Plymouth artists have been appealing for studio space for a long time 
and Ocean Studios is the product of many years cooperation between several networks of local 
creative producers. The vacant, derelict Cooperage building at Royal William Yard – a Grade 1 listed 
building – provides the project with a fitting home.  
 
Ocean Studios will provide a unique mix of studio space, fully equipped workshops and business 
support to help stem the loss of over 600 student graduates in arts related degrees from the City’s 
University and College of Art who seek workspace and infrastructure but end up moving away from 
Plymouth because no such facilities currently exist. Ocean Studios based at Royal William Yard 
currently have a waiting list of 151 artists which is indicative of the actual demand.  
 
Additionally, Ocean Studios will run an extensive education and outreach programme focussing on 
the residents of Stonehouse as well as the many recovery houses and homeless centres nearby so 
that participants can take the vital stepping stone from worklessness, crime and addiction to 
recovery, self-esteem and eventual employment. 
 
The primary funder is the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) which seeks to address 
economic disparity issues in some of the most deprived parts of the South West Competitiveness 
area through supporting regeneration and creating and safeguarding jobs. This project forms part of 
the wider, extended Urban Enterprise Programme in Plymouth which is a job creation programme 
made up of revenue and capital elements which targets mainly unemployed people and equips them 
with the advice, skills and knowledge to set up their own business. 

Page 27



 

 

 
In addition to the £1.978 million sought from ERDF, Ocean Studios will be seeking a loan of £0.794 
million from the Growing Places Fund (GPF) administered by the Local Enterprise Partnership 
matched by the Investment Fund to enable delivery of the project and the Council proposes to act as 
guarantor for any balance of the loan outstanding at the end of the 10 year repayment period. The 
remainder of the funding package will be made up by £0.445 million from English Heritage and £0.052 
million from others. 
 
The Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) has indicated that the Council acting as guarantor will be a 
condition of their funding offer. Therefore without this support the project, with a total value of 
£4.06m is very unlikely to proceed. The report sets out the mitigation measures proposed to limit 
the financial liability on the Council.  
 
The rationale for this capital project is to respond to the lack of managed workspace provision in the 
deprived wards and provide an enterprise culture centred around enterprise hubs which create new 
work opportunities for local people and for them to grow their new start businesses and is embraced 
by the recently approved ‘Plan for Jobs’ as one of the nineteen projects. 
         
The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/2014 – 2016/17:   
 
The commitments included within this project fully supports the Co-operative Council’s 
approach to ensuring that customers are engaged and that local needs are met. The project is 
integrated with the Plan for Jobs which recognises that addressing the significant issues of 
unemployment and worklessness cannot be tackled by the Council alone, and requires a multi-
partnership approach to have the greatest impact on the lives of Plymouth residents. 
 
The Urban Enterprise programme helps deliver the Corporate Plan’s four key outcomes:- 
 

• Pioneering Plymouth – through the cultural offer providing value to the city 
• Growing Plymouth – through creating a strong economy creating a range of job opportunities 
• Caring Plymouth – through helping people take control of their lives and communities 
• Confident Plymouth – Citizens wanting to live and work in Plymouth through introducing new 

enterprise hubs in the heart of deprived communities          
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land 
 
The cost of the capital project is estimated at £4,063 and will be met from the following sources of 
funding 
£1.978m - ERDF 
£0.794m - Growing Places Loan (re-payable by Ocean Studios) 
£0.794m - Plymouth City Council Grant (met from the Investment Fund) 
£0.445m - English Heritage Grant 
£0.052m - Other Sources 
 
It should be noted that project delivery and funding arrangements are directly between Ocean 
Studios CIC and the funders (with the exception of the Council’s Grant). The Council will  be acting 
as  accountable body in respect of the Investment Fund contribution but is not associated with the 
procurement or project delivery. 
 
The decision will require the Council to act as Guarantor to a Growing Places Fund (GPF) loan up to 
a maximum of £0.794 million and secured by a charge against Ocean Studios lease should the project 

Page 28



 

 

fold. This guarantee will only come into effect at the end of the 10 year loan period should Ocean 
Studios CIC not be able repay the loan at that time. The Council will have no liability should the 
project fold within this initial 10 year period. Should it be necessary for the Council to step in as 
guarantor at the end of this period, this will involve the Council paying off the Growing Places Loan 
and entering into a loan itself with Ocean Studios as explained in 4.6. 
 
The development appraisal submitted with Ocean Studios business case makes clear that the capital 
repayment of the GPF loan in years 1 – 10 is likely to be significant.  However, it is anticipated the 
loan will be repaid directly by them through a combination of retained surpluses and a commercial 
loan arrangement at the end of the 10 year period if necessary. 
 
In order to mitigate the financial liability upon the Council, further refinement of the Heads of Terms 
seeks to achieve the aim that the Council will be funder of last resort. In the event that the Council is 
required to step in as guarantor, Ocean Studios CIC have been agreed to provide security in the 
form of a legal charge against the 35 year lease of the building of which 25 years will be left at year 
10. Ocean Studios lease the building from Urban Splash. 
 
The directors of Ocean Studios have carried out extensive research to ensure the project is viable 
and robust. This has included research into the demand from artists and the local Stonehouse 
community. Liaising with the higher and further education institutions has also formed part of this 
demand analysis. In addition to this the directors have investigated other successful studio models 
nationally to ensure the delivery of Ocean Studios achieves the high level of success anticipated. 
Whilst the the business case appears robust, it is important that the Council recognises there is an 
element of risk associated with an investment on this nature. 
   
Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management: 
 
In order that the proposal progresses satisfactorily through the ERDF application process, a number 
of key requirements need to be met which demonstrate that the economic disparities of Plymouth 
are being addressed and the core outputs of job creation and managed workspace area are being 
met. This needs to be set in the context of providing new opportunities for the local community, in 
particular those isolated from the labour market and demonstrate sustainability and long term value 
for money. 
 
Ocean Studios wish to explore the opportunities to use the rates rebate and the new business rates 
retention scheme to help reduce their costs and therefore increase repayments on the GPF loan. The 
Council will need to consider this as against rates legislation at a later date, as a formal decision 
cannot be made on this matter until after occupation of the building. 
 

 

Equality and Diversity 

Has an Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?   No    

As part of the ERDF requirements the proposal submitted by the Millfields Trust needs to 
demonstrate a positive contribution towards equality or opportunity. The Trust has its own Equality 
Policy and has proposed Equality Indicators as part of their application for ERDF funding. 
  
 
 
 

Page 29



 

 

Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 
It is recommended that 
 

1. Subject to a favourable outcome to both the ERDF and GPF applications, the Council agrees 
to act as guarantor for Ocean Studios CIC for repayment of the balance of the Trust’s loan 
from the LEP outstanding to a maximum of £794,000 in accordance with an agreed Heads of 
Terms between Plymouth City Council and the Ocean Studios CIC which mitigates the 
potential financial impact upon the Council. Authority to agree the Heads of Terms to be 
delegated to the Director of Place. 
 

2. Subject to a favourable outcome to both the ERDF and GPF applications, the Council agrees 
to make a capital contribution of £794,000 from the Investment Fund. 

 
Reason – (1) The Heads of Terms will be further refined to mitigate the financial liability upon the 
Council and take account of comments made by officers. 
 
(2) The money invested through the investment fund meets the key criteria of significant leverage,   
creating jobs, and a rental income from the vacation of a Council owned premises 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
 
The Regional Growth Fund (RGF) has been comprehensively researched as potential match but an 
application made under RGF 2 in June 2011 was unsuccessful. 
 
An initial application to the LEP for a Growing Places Fund loan of £1.65 million was rejected on the 
grounds that the return of investment was insufficient.  
A subsequent offer from the LEP was to meet the shortfall of £1.588 million 50/50 with PCC’s 
Investment Fund  on condition that PCC act as guarantor at the 10 year stage (now subject of this 
report) or offer the whole amount with a pay back guarantee after 5 years. The latter was rejected in 
favour of the former. 
 
 
Published work / information: 
 
Cabinet – 12 February 2013 – Building for Jobs – Plymouth Investment Fund 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s44381/Building%20for%20jobs%20-

%20Plymouth%20Investment%20Fund.pdf 
Background papers: 
 
None    
 
Sign off:   
Fin AF/Pla

ceF 
EDC 
1314 
004.2
3.07.1
3 

Leg SC/1
6157 

Mon 
Off 

DV
S 
24/
07/
13 

HR  Assets  IT  Strat 
Proc 

 

Originating SMT Member 
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the contents of the report?  Yes  

Page 30



 

 

1.0 Background 
 
1.1 The primary goal is to create jobs through halting the artistic exodus from Plymouth providing 

affordable artistic workspace that forms a creative hub, capable of attracting talent locally as 
well as from across the region. However, for some people, employment may be an unrealistic 
or a very distant aspiration and for those on recovery programmes, premature return to 
employment could set back the recovery. Therefore, in addition to job creation, Ocean 
Studios will through outreach programming aim to bring at least 10 people into economic 
activity who previously have been suffering from either substance or alcohol abuse. This in 
turn will generate an annual benefit in excess of £250,000 per annum.  

 
1.2 This Urban Enterprise hub scheme has been conceived to create jobs for local people from a 

deprived ward and bring social, cultural and economic benefits. As well as the provision of 
specialist provision for artists in the form of a unique managed workspace, the integration of 
education and outreach programmes also ensures accessibility to all, offering local people, 
some with specific barriers, the opportunity to acquire skills in a range of art disciplines as a 
catalyst for them to seek work opportunities elsewhere.  

 
1.3 The total cost of the project is £4.06 million with £1.978 million being applied for from ERDF, 

£0.794 million being applied for from Growing Places Fund, £0.794 million from the 
Investment Fund, £0.445 million from English Heritage, and £0.052 million from others. 
 

1.4 The Urban Enterprise extension – Strategic Investment framework (SIF) Phase 2 discussion 
paper to Cabinet Planning on 26th November explained the difficulties that a project such as 
Ocean Studios CIC would have in paying back the entirety of its Growing Places Fund (GPF) 
loan within the 10 year stipulated term for repayment owing to its status as a social 
enterprise. The outcome was a letter sent expressing the Council’s potential intent to act as a 
guarantor of the capital loan repayment beyond the 10 year Growing Places Fund loan, subject 
to Cabinet decision on this report and the Council being able to agree suitable contractual 
arrangements with the LEP for the guarantee. 
 

1.5 The Building for Jobs – Plymouth Investment Fund Report to 12th February Cabinet makes 
clear the types of project that might benefit from the fund citing Ocean Studios as an example 
of a quality business premises that would fill a current gap in the market at the same time as 
leverage funding from ERDF and GPF and forms the basis of an application for gap funding. 
This forms the rationale for recommending a capital contribution of £0.794 million from the 
Investment Fund, explained in 2.4 below. 
 

1.6 The Ocean Studios CIC project also features in ‘Plans for Jobs’ ‘Project 5’ which aims to 
create a series of managed business hubs to support the growth of start-ups, capitalising upon 
the success of the Urban Enterprise programme, through the development of a series of 
projects specifically targeting disadvantaged groups in the City.  

  
 
2.0      Capital Programme Business Case 
 
2.1 The project status details and programme milestones are consistent with the ERDF and GPF 

timescales. With regard to costs / budget and risks, a detailed assessment of cost and an 
agreed schedule of consultant costs and due diligence surveys has been produced and 
submitted as part of the various ERDF and GPF funding applications.  
 

Page 31



 

 

2.2 A full application was submitted to ERDF on 28th February and will be reported to the 16th 
September ERDF Competitiveness Operational Group meeting. 

 
2.3 A GPF  loan offer is expected to be made after the 23rd July LEP Board meeting after due 

diligence.  
 

2.4 A full Capital Programme Business Case (CPBC) was submitted to the Capital Delivery Board 
on 19th July following meetings held between the Council and Ocean Studios. This provided 
information about the project details, and its request for a capital contribution from the 
Investment Fund on the basis that the project delivers:- 

 
• Leverage of £3.27 million from other public sector funding 
• Creates 104 jobs, safeguards a further 40 jobs and will involve approximately 

40 construction jobs 
• A rental income from a premises which artists will vacate and move into Ocean 

Studios  
 
The CPBC also provided an update of material submitted in the ERDF and GPF applications, 
to inform the required contractual arrangements with the Council as guarantor and what the 
financial risks to the Council would be at the end of year 10, and how they are mitigated 
through the Heads of Terms described below. 

 
2.5 The business case indicates an annual operational surplus will be achieved. It should be noted 

that the current plan is based on 100% occupancy (assumption evidenced by actual demand) 
after first and second years at 85% and 95% occupancy. The return on investment highlights a 
limited level of financial risk to the Council at year 10.  Performance against the business plan 
will be regularly monitored, and it has been agreed Ocean Studios CIC would formally assess 
whether the outstanding loan could be repaid from commercial borrowing from year 5 of the 
GPF loan term 

 
2.6 Legal Services, Finance and Capital Strategy teams have been involved through the project 

development stages. 
 
3.0 Mitigation of PCC role acting as guarantor 
 
3.1 The Council has already shared draft Heads of Terms with Ocean Studios who believe they 

are reasonable and realistic. The Heads of Terms will be further refined in response to any 
terms of offer made by the Local Enterprise Partnership should a loan offer materialise. 
Plymouth City Council will prepare a legal charge, a deed of guarantee with the LEP ( which 
together with the Heads of Terms document will be drafted to ensure the Council is the 
funder of last resort), and the loan arrangements after year 10 with Ocean Studios CIC.  

 
4.0      Heads of Terms 
 
4.1  The overarching requirement from the Council’s perspective is that Ocean Studios must 

explore every opportunity to minimise the Council’s liability in its proposed role to act as 
guarantor.  

 
4.2 At the expiration of 5 years after the date of the LEP loan agreement, Ocean Studios CIC will 

instigate an assessment of whether the GPF loan then outstanding could be repaid from 
commercial borrowing over a term of up to a further 20 years.  

 

Page 32



 

 

4.3 If commercial borrowing can then be arranged, Ocean Studios CIC will enter into the relevant 
funding obligations, and once in receipt of the commercial loan monies, will repay all GPF 
funding then outstanding. 

 
4.4 If the assessment of commercial borrowing does not identify any suitable lender, Ocean 

Studios CIC will repeat the process outlined in 4.2 at the end of years 6, 7, 8 and 9. 
 
4.5 If these further assessments prove ineffective, the Council will undertake to provide funding 

(not exceeding £0.794 million) to enable the GPF funding outstanding to be repaid at the 
expiration of 10 years from the original loan agreement. 

 
4.6 The outcome of 4.5 would be the Council repay such outstanding borrowing to the LEP and 

Ocean Studios CIC will enter into a new loan agreement with the Council on the prevailing 
Public Works Loan Board Maturity Rate (PWLB), and on the same basis as in the Heads of 
terms, except that the loan period shall be an additional 15 years. 

 
4.7 Ocean Studios CIC will also enter into a Legal charge for the benefit of the Council over the 

site and premises from completion of the guarantee agreement with the LEP. This charge may 
rank behind any charge imposed by any other external funder of the development works, such 
as the LEP. 

 
5.0 Next steps 
 
5.1 After a positive discussion at the 23rd July 2013 LEP Board meeting, a final unconditional offer 

letter is required from the LEP by 30th August to allow sufficient time for the appraisal work 
to be completed in connection with the ERDF grant application referred to in 5.2 below. 

 
5.2 Following the 22nd July ERDF Competitiveness Operational Group meeting, a number of pre-

appraisal issues need to be addressed in readiness for recommending a decision at 16th 
September ERDF Competitiveness Operational Group meeting which includes confirmation 
of match funding.  

 
5.3 Contractual arrangements between the Council and Ocean Studios and the LEP to be finalised 

after successful outcomes to the ERDF and GPF applications. 

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Final 6 September 2013  Not protectively marked  

CITY COUNCIL 
16 September 2013

 
 

CABINET MINUTES 38, 38A AND 45 OF 3 SEPTEMBER 2013 
 
REDEVELOPMENT OF THE CIVIC CENTRE AND FUTURE ACCOMMODATION 
REQUIREMENTS  
 
Minute 38  

Anthony Payne (Director for Place) and David Trussler (Interim Director for Corporate Services) 
submitted a report seeking authority to award the contract for the redevelopment of the Civic 
Centre and adjoining car park to the preferred bidder, to agree where services and staff will be 
relocated following an options appraisal, to agree the financial resources and to ask the City 
Council to agree capital resources. 

Councillor Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) introduced the proposals and computer 
generated images of the proposals relating to the Civic Centre were shown to Cabinet. It was 
emphasised that the proposals were subject to further work and planning considerations and 
Councillor Lowry hoped that the public would be provided with an opportunity to express their 
views.      

Cabinet Members welcomed –   

(a) the new jobs that would be created;     

(b) the improvements to the Civic Centre building;   

(c)  the proposed new Arts Centre;  

(d)  the improved working and IT facilities for staff; and  

(e) the improved environment for the city which would create a 
causeway from the City Centre to the Hoe.   

Cabinet Members’ attention was also drawn to the separate private report, referred to in minute 
45 below, which included commercially sensitive information.     

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision – 

As set out in the report.  

Minute 53 of the Co-operative Scrutiny Board of 21 August 2013 was also submitted endorsing 
the recommendations in the written reports and seeking an update in three months’ time with 
further information to be provided as set out in the minute. 

The Chair expressed his gratitude to Les Allen (Transformation Programmes Manager) and Alwyn 
Thomas (Civic Centre Project Director) (who were in attendance at the meeting) for their work 
on this project.     

 

Agenda Item 9Page 35



 

 

Agreed –  

(1) to award the contract for the re-development of the Civic Centre to 
Resurgam (West End) Limited, being the party selected as preferred 
bidder following the public procurement exercise;   

(2) the preferred locations for services to be redeployed to and the 
assets for redevelopment / lease, to support services decanting from 
the Civic Centre identified in the private report referred to in 
minute 45 below; 

(3) 

  

the revenue budgets to achieve decant of the Civic Centre as 
identified within the private report referred to in minute 45 below;  

(4) 

  

to delegate authority to the Cabinet Member for Finance to award 
contracts and approve leases within the agreed budget to redevelop 
the facilities identified within the private report referred to in minute  
45 below.  

  

Minute 38a 

Further to minute 38 above, the City Council is Recommended to agree 
appropriate capital budgets to achieve decant of the Civic Centre, as 
identified within the private report referred to in minute 45 below.  
 
Minute 45 (Exempt Business E3) 

Further to minutes 38 and 38a above, Anthony Payne (Director for Place) and David Trussler 
(Interim Director for Corporate Services) submitted a private report relating to the contract for 
the redevelopment of the Civic Centre and adjoining car park and future accommodation 
requirements for the City Council, which contained commercially sensitive information.  

                        ______________________________________________ 

Note: 

The full report in connection with this minute is available on the website 

www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy 

or by contacting Democratic Support on 01752 304867 

Page 36



 

Revised 16 July 2013 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
  
Subject: Redevelopment of the Civic Centre and Future 

Accommodation Requirements    

Committee:    Cabinet   

Date:    3 September 2013     

Cabinet Member:    Councillor Mark Lowry  

CMT Members: Anthony Payne (Director for Place) 

 David Trussler (Interim Director for Corporate 

Services)   

Authors:                     Les Allen, Accommodation Transformation Programme 
Manager 

 Alwyn Thomas, Civic Centre Project Director 

Contact details:   Tel: 01752 304127 
    Email: les.allen@plymouth.gov.uk 

 
Tel: 01752 304307 
Email: alwyn.thomas@plymouth.gov.uk 

   

Ref:        

Key Decision:   Yes  

Part:                          1   
 
Purpose of the report:  
 

(1) To award the contract for the redevelopment of the Civic Centre and adjoining car 
park to the preferred bidder; 

 
(2) To agree where services and staff would be relocated, the financial resources and to 

ask the City Council to agree capital resources. 
         
The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 -2016/17:                 
 
The sale of the Civic Centre will contribute to the Pioneering Council by allowing greater 
flexibility and efficiency in delivering services; the Growing Council by facilitating the Arts 
Centre and creating a substantial number of jobs and training opportunities and the 
Confident Council by regenerating this site in a way in which all residents of Plymouth can 
be proud, with an internationally branded, top quality hotel. 
 
 
 

Page 37



 

Revised 16 July 2013 

The future locations of staff and services decanting from the Civic Centre will support the 
Pioneering and Caring priorities of the council by providing the essential customer services 
in the centre of the city.  This moves the more process driven elements to other areas 
across the city reducing the cost of operating and limiting expenditure to essential sites thus 
freeing up finances for front line services and removing inequalities in access across public 
buildings.          
 
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land: 
 
The resolution of the Civic Centre site links to the Accommodation Transformation 
Strategy and forms part of the council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. The annual revenue 
cost to the Council of the recommended solution can be contained within existing revenue 
budgets held for the Civic Centre. Full financial information is contained in the Part 11 
report. 
 
There will be a requirement for Capital investment in assets to achieve the occupancy levels 
required  and  further investment in ICT infrastructure to support decant and flexible 
operations in the future.   
   
Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety 
and Risk Management: 
 
Resolution of the Civic Centre site removes one of the biggest financial risks to the council. 
This has featured on the strategic risk register since the listing of the buildings in 2007.  
Doing nothing and maintaining the building in its current status represents a serious health 
and safety risk as significant investment is required to ensure structural stability and builds 
up increased liability for the future. 
 
A number of opportunities have been created by seeking alternate ways of working resulting 
in opportunities for closer working with partners to improve community safety and deliver 
services more aligned to the needs of the city. The provision of more flexible ways of 
working across the city will improve service delivery and access to services across the city 
in the long term. 
 

Equality and Diversity: 

Has an Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?   Yes 
  
 
Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 
 

1. To award the contract for the re-development of the Civic Centre to the party 
selected as Preferred Bidder following the public procurement exercise.  

 
Reasons: i)  To implement the conclusion of the public procurement process.  

ii) Sale of the site for redevelopment will: 
    a)  Deliver economic, physical and social regeneration  
    b)  Maintain the Council House for formal meetings and ceremonies 

Page 38



 

Revised 16 July 2013 

    c)  Reduce the accommodation operating costs over a period of 25 years 
    d)  Remove the liability to maintain a grade II listed building 

 
2. To agree the preferred locations for services to be redeployed to and the assets for 

redevelopment / lease, to support services decanting from the Civic Centre. 
 
Reason: To progress lease negotiations and contract specification, procurement and award 
to meet the timelines required to support the sale of the Civic Centre programme.  
 

3. To agree the revenue budgets and seek appropriate capital budgets required from 
Council to achieve decant of the Civic Centre as identified within the attached Part 
11 report.  

 
Reason: To progress all work streams required to decant from the Civic Centre.  
 

4. To delegate authority to Cabinet Member for Finance to award contracts and 
approve leases within the agreed budget to redevelop the facilities identified in the 
attached Part 11 report.  

 
Reason: There will be a number of contracts and leases to be approved which will be in 
excess of currently approved delegations of authority and will need to be approved quickly 
to support commercial decisions.   
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
 
To award the contract to another contractor would not be lawful as it would contravene 
the procurement process undertaken. 
 
Doing nothing and maintaining the building in its current status represents a serious health 
and safety risk as significant investment would be required by the council to ensure 
structural stability and builds up increased liability for the future. 
 
The delivery of a preferred bidder for the Civic Centre has provided the driver to identify 
alternate accommodation across the city.  As such a large number of options have been 
identified and reduced to a small number of alternate options taking into account the 
operating cost envelop which needs to be maintained, the opportunities available on the 
market at this time and the requirements of the Council’s services at the point of change.  
 
The alternate options are still subject to lease negotiations and procurement competition to 
obtain the best value for money available but include utilising opportunities such as 
partnership working with some services moving to partner locations.  
 
 
 
Published work / information: 
 
Civic Centre & Accommodation Strategy Update 20 January 2009 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s17553/Civic%20Centre%20Accomm%2
0Strat%20update.pdf 
 

Page 39



 

Revised 16 July 2013 

Accommodation Strategy June 2009 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s18978/Accommodation%20strategy.pdf 
Accommodation Strategy Report 10 August 2010 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s25099/Accommodation%20Strategy%2

0Business%20Case.pdf 
Accommodation Strategy – Civic Centre Options 28 November 2006 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s10375/Accommodation%20Strategy%2

0-%20Civic%20Centre%20Options.pdf 
 
Background papers:  
 

Title Part 1 Part II Exemption Paragraph Number 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

Future of Civic Centre 23 August 
2011 

 x   x     

Accommodation Strategy – Civic 
Centre 25 September 2007 

 x   x     

Equality Impact Assessment for 
Customers 

x         

Equality Impact Assessment for 
Staff 

x         

 
 
Sign off:   
 
Fin TPOC131

4002SRA0
7-08-2013 

Leg 18164
/ALT 

Mon 
Off 

TH22/
08 

HR  Assets  . IT  Strat 
Proc 

JK/S
PU/C
P/32
9/08
13 

Originating SMT Member: n/a 
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the content of the report?  Yes  
 

 

Page 40



 

Revised 16 July 2013 

ACCOMMODATION TRANSFORMATION PROGRAMME / CONTRACT 
AWARD FOR THE REDEVELOPMENT OF THE CIVIC CENTRE 

 
1. Background: 

 
Since July 2004 work has been undertaken on options to secure a strategy for 
dealing with the City Council’s administrative estate. Windsor House was secured as 
a long term strategic site, leaving the key remaining issue as the Civic Centre.  
 
In June 2007 DCMS wrote to the Council confirming that the Civic Centre campus 
had been approved for listing as a Grade 11 listed building.   
 
In January 2009 Cabinet approved the preparation of a joint report by the Council 
and English Heritage of a detailed brief summarising the repair and refurbishment 
specification to be adopted by the Council and/or a purchaser (investor/developer) 
in the event that the building was either reoccupied or disposed of by the Council.  
In addition approval was given for the Civic Centre campus to be formally marketed 
upon receipt of the refurbishment brief and to approve the Council as the lead 
procurer of the new Civic Offices.   
 
Alongside of this Cabinet approved the principles of the Accommodation Strategy 
and its on-going development and for the progression of negotiations with our Local 
Strategic Partners (including Devon & Cornwall Constabulary and the Primary Care 
trust) about the opportunity of developing a co - location centre.  
 
The key principles of the strategy were: 

• The Council should agree to aim for stage 4 of the ‘Without walls’ 
evolutionary model, and a target for an overall 80% desk to employee ratio. 

• All meeting rooms to be bookable centrally 
• All furniture to be corporately owned, with existing furniture budgets 

centralised under Property & Economic Development 
• A fundamental re-evaluation, in partnership with key suppliers of office 

furniture design and specification to take place 
• Implement standard signs and corporate identity across all corporate 

buildings 
 
The principles of the accommodation strategy, including co-location with health 
partners, have been installed in all the main corporate buildings via the first phase of 
the accommodation strategy delivery with the exception of the Civic Centre which 
was excluded due to the uncertainty around its future occupation by the Council. 
 
In 2011 Cabinet agreed that the Council would continue to explore the opportunity 
for freehold disposal as part of the Competitive Dialogue process.  Subject to this 
not being possible it approved a proposal for the redevelopment of the Civic Centre 
to be put out for European procurement via the Official Journal of the European 
Union (OJEU) with a view to the Council taking a lease-back of reduced space in a 
refurbished Civic Centre.  
 

Page 41



 

Revised 16 July 2013 

The report explained the position in terms of the Civic Centre which can be 
summarised as: 
• A city centre site of 0.936 ha (2.31 acres) including a surface car park of 

approximately 0.29 ha (0.72 acres). 
• The civic centre and council house was completed in the early 1960’s opening in 

1963 and was grade II listed in 2007.  
• The building has a significant maintenance backlog. 
• A feasibility study jointly commissioned with English Heritage was completed in 

April 2010 and concluded that the building could be sufficiently repaired to give it 
50 years of life but at a significant cost. 

• It also concluded that there were alternative uses for the building as either office, 
a hotel or residential use. These options are supported in planning terms. 

• It houses 1008 staff on 13 floors in the tower. 
• Accommodation for elected members, Council meetings & Civic Reception 

facilities are provided in the Council House. 
 

2. The Issues:  
 
There are a host of issues in relation to the Civic Centre building which means that 
the Council does not see its long term future linked to the building. 
 
• The building provides sub-standard accommodation which has suffered from a 

lack of comprehensive capital investment. In particular: 
• Poor thermal insulation with singled glazed metal framed windows. 
• Only 3 lifts currently work and they are at the end of their useful life and 

beyond economic repair and need to be replaced. 
• The cladding on the outside of the building is failing which has led to the 

temporary works to protect those outside from falling masonry. Twice 
yearly scaling is carried out to remove loose elements and it is estimated 
that the panels will need to be completely replaced by no later than five 
years time. 

• The grade II listing placing restrictions on capital works that can be 
carried out and consequently increasing the cost of those works. 

• The building in its present state represents a serious health and safety risk 
as significant investment is required to ensure structural stability. 

• The need for the present sized accommodation is diminishing and will diminish 
further in the future as new ways of working including home working are rolled 
out and the Council pursues an alternative service delivery model.  

• The Council House will still have value to the Council for public meetings and 
ceremonies. 

• The Council has limited capital to fund the repairs backlog and refurbishment of 
the building and such investment is not a priority for the Council. 

• The Council has advice from Counsel that there are no grounds to mount a 
challenge to the listing. Current legal advice is that the position has not changed.  

 
The present situation of our use and occupation of the building in its present state 
cannot, therefore, continue beyond the next 5 years in the absence of significant 
capital investment. 
 

Page 42



 

Revised 16 July 2013 

3.  Objectives: 
 
The August 2011 report and subsequent considerations have identified a number of 
objectives to be achieved. 

 
• Deliver economic, physical and social regeneration.  
• Provide a reduced level of office accommodation to reflect current and future 

working practices (flexible working, home-working etc.). 
• Provide a city centre based ‘first stop’ for customers. 
• Maintain (if practicable) the Council House for formal meetings and ceremonies. 
• Reduce the accommodation operating costs.  
• Remove the liability to maintain a grade II listed building. 
• Improve the environmental credentials of the Civic Centre building. 

 
4. Options 

 
The August 2011 report set out five different options to achieve all or some of these 
objectives. It was not believed at the time, following a soft market test exercise, that 
the option of a freehold sale was achievable. These options were: 

 
a. Re-development of the site requiring consent for demolition. 
b. Carry out a full refurbishment of the buildings by the Council. 
c. A sale and leaseback of the buildings. 
d. A sale and leaseback of part of the buildings. 
e. Continue with the existing maintenance regime (the status quo option albeit 

limited to the life of the building in its current condition, estimated as 5 years at 
this time). 

 
It was recommended then, that option d, the sale and leaseback of part of the civic 
centre tower would be the most cost-effective solution. In order to develop that 
solution, an Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) procurement exercise 
was carried out with a view to the council taking a leaseback of reduced space in a 
refurbished building. In addition it was agreed that the Council would continue to 
explore the opportunity for freehold disposal.  
 
 

5. Best Value Analysis 
 

Officers have undertaken a Best Value analysis to confirm that the decision of 
Cabinet in August 2011 to seek to vacate the Civic Centre still provides best value 
for the Council. The results are shown in the Part 11 report. 
 
 

6. Procurement Project: 
 
A Contract Notice for the redevelopment was published in the OJEU on 08 
September 2012.   

 

Page 43



 

Revised 16 July 2013 

Following a successful Bidder’s Day held at Plymouth’s Guildhall, the first stage of the 
procurement process commenced with the authority requiring interested parties to 
complete a Pre Qualification Questionnaire (PQQ). Applicants had to meet the 
minimum requirements for economic and financial standing (financial capabilities) and 
technical and professional capacity (relevant technical experience and resources) and 
had to meet the legal eligibility criteria, as set out in the PQQ.  

The four highest scoring applicants were taken forward to the Invitation to Submit 
Solutions Stage (ISS).  During this phase participants were required to engage in 
dialogue with the authority to develop their solutions and to enable them  to be 
tested against the authority’s requirements.  

The ISS stage required participants to propose their solutions for the project by 
responding to specific questions detailed in the ISS questionnaire. Key questions 
related to cost to the council, job creation and environmental impact in addition to 
planning fit and the likelihood of obtaining listed building consent. Four companies 
were involved during this phase and the council continued to dialogue with the two 
highest scoring participants following evaluation of the ISS submissions.  Two 
companies were then taken forward to the final tender stage. 

The authority closed dialogue on the 15 March 2013 once it could identify one or 
more solutions capable of meeting its needs and issued the Call for Final Tenders on 
that date.  Participants had until the 18 April to submit their final tender. They 
presented their solutions to senior councillors and officers on the 19 April 2013.  
The two submissions were then evaluated by officers against the published evaluation 
criteria and a Preferred Bidder has been identified. The Preferred Bidder is identified 
in the Part 11 report. 

 

7. Solution Offered by the Preferred Bidder  

The solution offered by the Preferred Bidder allows the Council to vacate the Civic 
Centre entirely, thus meeting the objective of removing liability for a Grade II Listed 
Building. The Civic Centre and car park will then be redeveloped into a high quality 
internationally branded hotel (4 star), feature apartments, restaurants, other food 
and beverage operations and, subject to grant funding by a third party, an Arts 
Centre, achieving the objective of physical regeneration of the site. 
 
This solution will result in the creation of a significant number of jobs and training 
opportunities. The Preferred Bidder is committed to providing local jobs for local 
people and has begun establishing working relationships with local firms. They will 
create training courses for school leavers and unskilled workers to develop their 
skills and experience levels in addition to training courses for students, school 
leavers and the long term unemployed in connection with Plymouth City College’s 
Employer Endorsement Scheme. All posts will be advertised with the 1000 Club, of 
which they are a member. 
 
 
 

Page 44



 

Revised 16 July 2013 

The company offers a long term commitment to the City of Plymouth with an 
estimated 128 permanent jobs along with apprenticeships, work placements and 
training courses in the Leisure & Tourism sector; all being made available directly 
through the Preferred Bidder once the redevelopment is complete and fully 
operational. 
 
An estimated further 233 permanent jobs will also be available across the 
food/beverage, health and cultural sectors once the scheme is fully let and 
operational.  
 
Additionally, 449 jobs will be generated through the Civic Centre project 
construction process alone. This achieves the objective of economic and social 
regeneration. The jobs created are a direct contribution to the Plan for Jobs.  
Project number 1 says “By creating a new partnership of public and private sector 
landowners we will accelerate, unblock and maximise local employment from the 
regeneration of the West End including the Theatre Royal, Pavilions and Civic 
Centre”. 
 
Once refurbishment has finished, the public space surrounding the building will 
experience all the usual benefits of major investment in a thirteen floor city centre 
development. Activity at street level from the new uses will increase significantly. 
The design solutions by the architects will generate many more leisure-orientated 
trips to this area of the city, which is likely to become a destination or hub with its 
own identity. Many more leisure-orientated visitors will be attracted to the city 
generally, and they will congregate here and be ideally positioned for walking to 
nearby shops or to the Hoe as its world-famous visitor attraction. The new uses will 
attract all ages, business travellers and families, from home and abroad. 
 
The proposal involves the transfer of the freehold interest in the Civic Centre and 
its rear car park (not the Council House) to the Preferred Bidder at nil 
consideration. The company will then apply for planning permission and listed 
building consent to re-develop the property. Once planning permission is achieved 
there is a legally binding development obligation on the developer to complete the 
re-development within 2 years. It will not be possible for the developer to “sit on his 
hands” and land-bank the property. It is anticipated that contracts will be signed this 
year, once the funders have completed all usual due diligence and the contract will 
only be conditional on obtaining planning consent. The developer will be under a 
legally binding obligation to diligently pursue the planning application. 
 
The benefits to the Council of this proposal include the elimination of one of its 
most significant financial risks in terms of the repair costs anticipated for the Civic 
Centre; the creation of significant numbers of jobs and training opportunities along 
with the economic regeneration benefits of having an internationally branded, high 
class hotel in the centre of the city. 
 
The Council House will be retained meeting the objective of its continued use for 
civic purposes. 
 
The redevelopment will also meet the objective of improving the environmental 
credentials for the Civic Centre by improving its rating from E to B. 

Page 45



 

Revised 16 July 2013 

 
 

8. Evaluation 
 
Submissions were evaluated using the criteria listed in table 2 overleaf.  

 

Page 46



 

Revised 16 July 2013 

Table 2: Evaluation Criteria 
 

Ref Issue Available 
Score 

Weighting %age of 
overall 
score 

Pass/Fail Questions 
A1.1  Purchase of Freehold       
A1.2 Solution for Provision of 

Office Accommodation 
(specification) 

      

A1.3 A1.3 Capital Contribution       
A1.4 A1.4 Financial Guarantee       
A1.5  English Heritage       
A1.6 Form of Lease to Council       
          
Scored 
Questions   
Technical 
Proposals   

    9% 

B1.1  Quantum of Leaseback 10 9%   
          
Contractual       3% 
C1.1 The Contract  10 3%   
          
Financial 
Proposals   

    45% 

D1.1 Financial Proposal 10 43%   
D1.2 Capital Contributions 10 2%   
          
Deliverability       17% 
E1.1 Funding/Occupiers/Surveys/ 

Capacity/Vibrancy of proposal 
10 12%   

E1.2 Planning 10 5%   
     
Environmental 
Factors   

    11% 

F1.1 Energy Performance 10 1%   
F1.2 Carbon Emission 10 10%   
          
Economic 
Factors   

    15% 

G1.1(i) Number of Jobs 10 8%   

G1.1(ii) 
Clear statement re job 
creation 

10 3%   

G1.1(iii) How will jobs be created? 10 4%   
          
  TOTAL 110 100% 100% 

Page 47



 

Revised 16 July 2013 

 
The Preferred Bidder scored a total of 83% 
 
The second placed bidder scored a total of 74% 
 

9. Current Position Post Procurement Exercise 
 

The outcome of the procurement exercise is a freehold disposal with no requirement for 
the council to leaseback space. This allows the council to utilize the current market 
conditions to procure a better financial deal to meet its space requirements with a revised 
estimated cost over 25 years as follows as detailed in the Part 11 report.  
 

 
10. Route to Decant 

 
In anticipation of the preferred bidder being selected the Accommodation 
Transformation Programme commenced work on the potential decant of the Civic 
Centre based largely upon the concept of operations used to deliver the Corporate 
Accommodation Strategy.  A Senior Responsible Officer and Programme Manager 
were appointed at the start of April 2013 to deliver a coordinated delivery of the 
Civic Decant with a cogent solution for the operational accommodation to meet the 
needs of the Council’s Transformation Programme.  
 
The team sought to achieve a realistic delivery time table in consultation with the 
preferred bidder for the Civic Centre and equitable operating costs.  The solution 
needed to deliver a ‘Front of House’ where the services to the public could be 
delivered within the city centre (an objective) and provide sufficient accommodation 
to meet the needs of the current occupation levels of the Civic Centre on a hot 
desking ratio of no greater than 8:10 at this time, in other locations across the city. 
This effectivly reduces the accommodation footprint by 7% in the first instance. 
Given the changing nature of local authority finances the delivery of a flexible 
operating base with flexible infrastrucutre and ICT will be essential to service 
provision as Plymouth moves into the future. The remaining objectives of reducing 
accommodation levels and operating costs over 25 years will be achieved in this way. 
 

11. Time Table 
 
The current proposed timeline has the Council vacating the Civic Centre by 
November 2014 with vacant possession being provided in December 2014 / January 
2015. This is a timeline which the Council is keen to achieve.  The current 
programme for the Preferred Bidder shows that planning permission will be sought 
April – August 2014.  To achieve the vacant possession date work will need to be 
commenced and leases agreed on a number of properties prior to planning 
permission being granted for the Civic Centre. This exposes the council to the risk 
and associated wasted costs in the event that planning approval is not obtained.  In 
mitigation, significant dialogue between the developer, planning and English Heritage 
to gain accord on the route forward has been completed and thus this risk is seen as 
low. 
 

Page 48



 

Revised 16 July 2013 

The Accommodation Transformation Programme will seek to de-risk the impact on 
service delivery by decanting the civic in a phased approach up to December 2014 
taking advantage of the delivery of buildings early and any partnering opportunities 
which may present themselves.  To achieve this will require significant coordinated 
effort across all departments. 

 
12. The Approach 
 
When the decision was taken in 2011 to commence dialogue with the market the 
authority had understood that the cost to refurbish the Civic Centre was significant 
and outside the authorities’ ability to finance.  It also understood that there was 
likely to be a little interest in the outright purchase of the building given the state of 
the market, the results of a soft market testing exercise and the condition of the 
building.  Further to this the authority would potentially need to lease back a number 
of floors in order to make the commercial deal possible, deliver a solution to the 
building and maintain its iconic status within the city; whilst using the development to 
help stimulate the provision of jobs, economic activity and regeneration in the city.  
The dialogue process delivered a solution for the whole building surpassing the 
authority’s expectations and totally achieving the aims originally set in 2011. 
 
Since the decision in 2011 and the outcome in 2013 the financial markets have 
changed alongside the political landscape and the availability of funding for local 
authorities.  With the city commencing a whole scale transformation programme, 
and the future shape and structure of the organisation at this time unknown, the 
delivery of an accommodation infrastructure to support service delivery must be a 
flexible one to meet the needs of the business both now and in the medium term.  
 
A number of options were investigated to deliver a coordinated solution to the civic 
centre into a solution which would add value to the transformation programme and 
the changing nature of the operations of Plymouth City Council.  Clearly with the 
physical condition of the Civic Centre, the option to do nothing does not exist and 
the need to remove the asset liability remains as does the need to create jobs, 
economic activity and regeneration of an iconic landmark within the city. As such the 
options investigated were as follows: 
 
Option A  Refurbish the current Civic Centre  
Option B Provide a whole scale New Building to replace the current Civic 

Centre 
Option C Provide a number of refurbished buildings across the city to replace 

capacity 
Option D Provide a flexible operating base in the medium term 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



 

Revised 16 July 2013 

Option A  
 
Option A looked at remaining in the Civic Centre with it being refurbished by 
Plymouth City Council in the immediate future. This option had already been looked 
at in 2011 to form the original decision to commence competitive dialogue.  As 
discussed earlier, the costs of this had been calculated however in order maintain a 
rational approach, it was decided that this should be tested again.  In doing so with a 
group of independent Professional Quantity Surveyors the investigation arrived at a 
cost detailed in the Part 11 report.  This level of funding on maintaining business as 
usual was not supported and the option was rejected.  
 
Option B 
 
Option B looked to provide a whole scale new building to accommodate the staff, 
services and technology currently housed within the Civic Centre.  The costs based 
upon this option are detailed in the Part 11 report.  This did not include the cost of 
site assembly or resource to conduct decant.  Further to this the time line to 
achieve site assembly and delivery would have a negative impact upon the potential 
solution for the Civic Centre.  Although sites were available, the cost to provide a 
building which would be excessive in terms of size given potential operating models 
was not seen as a sound investment in business as usual at this time and as such this 
option was rejected.  
 
Option C 
 
Option C looked to accommodate staff in multiple locations across the city investing 
in assets largely owned by the authority.  However due to the nature of current 
service provision and the need to maintain a city centre presence this would 
necessitate heavy investment in an asset that the authority did not own. It would also 
require significant investment in ICT infrastructure, disruption to services prior to 
transformation and the termination of a number of commercial leases that the city 
has with partners providing income to the city.  This option was also rejected given 
the size of the investment in assets that were not owned by PCC and did not 
provide the long term solution given the changing nature of the business as a whole. 
 
Option D 
 
Option D sought to accommodate staff in leased accommodation and a number of 
unoccupied commercial properties taking advantage of current market conditions 
whilst the authority completes its transformation over the next five years altering its 
shape, size, and structure and operating model accordingly. This will allow the 
authority to develop its strategy for wider asset rationalisation within its 
transformation programme alongside its partners desire to do the same achieving 
economies of scale across the board.  The cost to achieve this is is detailed in the 
Part 11 report with an ongoing revenue support requirement which is subject to 
further review. The option of remaining in the Civic Centre during this five year 
period was discounted due to the negative impact on the proposed solution for the 
Civic Centre and the anticipated repair costs over that period of 5 years. 
 
 

Page 50



 

Revised 16 July 2013 

Recommended Option 
 
Option D is the recommended option delivering an operating base for the city based 
upon a mixture of leased and owned assets which remain flexible in terms of size to 
allow the Council to adapt to the changing nature of service delivery across the city 
and the changes in public sector financing.    
 
The infrastructure will be delivered over the next 18 months decanting staff and 
services as elements become available with the final element being the customer 
facing areas which will decant in the latter quarter of 2014.  The programme will 
achieve an 8:10 hot desking ratio and will seek to compress to 6:10 alongside the 
delivery of technological solutions to allow mobile working to take place.  The 
expectation is that approx. 290 staff will be deemed mobile and as such will have ICT 
solutions to meet their needs.  The remaining staff will be deemed flexible unless 
flagged for specific permanent desks. This arrangement will be delivered across the 
estate with all staff from the CEO down working in this way.   
 
This provides the smallest operating cost at this time. This information is likely to 
change as the lease negotiations continue in an attempt to gain the most beneficial 
offer possible for the authority. As a result of this the paper seeks to have the 
delegated authority to agree the leases to be given to Cabinet Member for Finance in 
consultation with the Director of Corporate Resources. 
The solution allows the public to have direct access to services in the city centre 
through the provision of a ‘Front of house’ through a commercial property along the 
same lines as a high street bank would provide.  A preferred solution is being 
pursued and seen as appropriate, again these are subject to lease negotiations.  The 
support elements are then located in a number of buildings which are either owned 
by the authority or leased.  The aim was to cause minimal disruption to services and 
to sustain the economic links between the 1000 staff and the city centre.   
 

13. Capital Requirements 
 
The capital requirements to achieve the programme are set out in the Part 11 
report.  This is spread across a large number of projects within ICT and the building 
environment. Revenue Requirements 
 
Further to the capital requirements to deliver this programme of works, there will 
be a number of revenue costs immediately associated with decant of the Civic 
Centre.  These are detailed in the Part 11 report. 
 

14. Co-operative Scrutiny Board 
  

The Co-operative Scrutiny Board considered this matter on 21 August 2013 and 
endorsed the recommendations set out in this report.  The minute of the Board is 
attached.      
 

Page 51



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Final 6 September 2013  Not protectively marked  

CITY COUNCIL 
16 September 2013

 
 

CO-OPERATIVE SCRUTINY BOARD MINUTE 61OF 4 SEPTEMBER 
2013 
 

THE BRILLIANT CO-OPERATIVE COUNCIL SUSTAINABLE THREE YEAR PLAN 
   
Tracey Lee (Chief Executive) and Councillor Tudor (Leader) presented a report that identified 
some of the key financial challenges that the Council faced over the coming three years, proposed 
a revised approach to financial planning over the medium term and sought approval for a Council-
wide transformation programme based on Co-operative Values to substantially reduce the 
operating costs of the Council and ensure the maximum possible investment in achieving the 
Corporate Plan objectives. 
  
Since 2009/2010 the Council had already reduced its expenditure by circa £30m through efficiency 
savings and service reductions.  With the impact of the reduction in government funding, Welfare 
Reform, reductions in Revenue Support Grant and the localisation of the Council Tax benefit and 
Business Rates receipts and the increased demand for Council services, the Council faced an 
estimated funding gap over the next three years of circa £65m.  The value of these savings equated 
to the complete shutdown of Exeter City Council for five years. 
  
The proposed Transformation Programme would deliver a fundamental change in the way that the 
Council goes about its business, delivering significant savings in four key areas – 
  
 ● economic growth initiatives that would provide financial dividends for the 

Council, a more commercial approach to the way that the Council runs its 
services and smarter procurement and commissioning; 

    
 ● customer-led service design, transforming the way the Council interacts with 

customers to meet their demands and preferences; 
    
 ● 
   

creating an integrated approach to health, wellbeing and social care 
commissioning, working co-operatively across all local communities and partners; 

    
 ● 
   

smarter, evidence based decision-making for the Council using co-operative 
principles and support services delivering against the Council’s new organisational 
requirements. 

  
To support the delivery and implementation of the Transformation Programme, the council would 
develop two ‘enabling programmes’ focused on – 
  
 ● better use of the Council’s physical and technical infrastructure and assets to 

better service the needs of the organisation now and into the future; 
   
 ● ensuring that Members and staff are engaged and supported through the 

Transformation Programme and that they have the necessary skills to deliver. 
  

Agenda Item 10Page 53



 

 

In response to questions raised by Members, it was reported – 
  
 (a) the cuts from Central Government were unprecedented and as such there would 

be reductions in Council services although currently no decisions had been taken; 
however the three year plan outlined how this would be achieved; 

    
 (b) engagement with the local community would continue as part of the scrutiny 

process;  
    
 (c) 
   

this situation provided a good opportunity to undertake more effective working 
with neighbouring authorities (such as the Council administering the Business 
Rates Scheme for the whole of Devon); 

    
 (d) 
   

the Corporate Management Team was undertaking a series of road shows (73 in 
total) across the whole authority, to share the values, objectives and outlining the 
new  Corporate Plan; members of staff would be asked to make a commitment to 
be open to change and not to dismiss it; 

    
 (e)  an undertaking was made to provide a detailed breakdown of the 

estimated funding gap of circa £65m. 
  
The Chair thanked Tracey Lee and Councillor Evans for attending the meeting and for the 
transparency and openness with which they had shared the financial challenges facing the Council.  
The Chair also offered the Board’s assistance in undertaking effective scrutiny, in order to add 
value to this process. 
  
The Board agreed to endorse the recommendations to City Council, as follows – 
  

 (1) adopt a longer term approach to addressing the reduction in funding 
available to the Council, planning for a balanced indicative budget in 
each of the coming three years; 

    
 (2) support the implementation of Council-wide transformation 

programme, based on Co-operative Values, to substantially reduce 
the operating costs of the Council and ensure the maximum possible 
investment in achieving the Council’s objectives; 

    
 (3) 
   

agree Cabinet review earmarked reserves and balances to ensure 
that the Transformation Programme reserve is adequate to cover 
cashflow requirements for the period of 2013/14 to 2016/17 
(managing the overall costs incurred and savings achieved across 
each financial year); 

   
 (4) a further report is presented by Tracey Lee (Chief Executive) and 

Councillor Evans (Leader) to the Co-operative Scrutiny Board at its 
meeting on 16 October 2013, setting out the Transformation 
Programme and its key elements, including the governance 
proposals, in more detail to enable effective scrutiny. 

 

Page 54



 

Final 6 September 2013  Not protectively marked  

CITY COUNCIL 
16 September 2013

 
 

CABINET MINUTE 42 OF 3 SEPTEMBER 2013 
 
THE BRILLIANT CO-OPERATIVE COUNCIL SUSTAINABLE THREE YEAR PLAN 
   

Tracey Lee (Chief Executive) submitted a report identifying some of the key financial challenges 
that the council would face over the coming three years and proposing a revised approach to 
financial planning over the medium term. The report also sought support for a council-wide 
transformation programme based on co-operative values to substantially reduce the operating 
costs of the council and ensure the maximum possible investment in achieving Corporate Plan 
objectives. 

Councillor Evans (Council Leader) introduced the proposals and indicated that -    
 

(a) the council was taking a structured approach to dealing with an 
unprecedented reduction in funding by the government;     

(b) a three year strategy was being proposed which it was hoped would 
provide a balanced financial position;  

(c)  the transformation programme would need to be driven both by 
management and politicians. 

Councillor Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) referred to recent press statements by Oliver 
Colville MP, relating to requests for further spending proposals in the city and indicated that no 
such requests had been submitted to the local authority. Councillor Lowry indicated that he 
would welcome a meeting with Oliver Colville MP or representatives of any other local 
authorities should they wish to contact him.   

Tracey Lee (Chief Executive) advised Cabinet Members that the council would await the local 
government settlement in December 2013/ January 2014 and would be working with partners 
across the city on the major transformation programme.       

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision – 

As set out in the report.  

Cabinet was advised that the proposals would be considered by the Co-operative Scrutiny Board 
on 4 September 2013 and that the recommendations would be submitted direct to the City 
Council meeting for consideration. 

The City Council is Recommended to - 

  

(1) adopt a longer term approach to addressing the reduction in funding 
available to the council, planning for a balanced indicative budget in 
each of the coming three years;  

Page 55



 

 

(2) support the implementation of a council-wide transformation 
programme, based on co-operative values, to substantially reduce 
the operating costs of the council and ensure the maximum possible 
investment in achieving the council’s objectives;  

(3) 

  

agree that Cabinet reviews earmarked reserves and balances to 
ensure that the  Transformation Programme reserve is adequate to 
cover cashflow requirements for the period of 2013/14 to 2016/17 
(managing the overall costs incurred and savings achieved across 
each financial year). 

 

                         ______________________________________________ 

Note: 

The full report in connection with this minute is available on the website 

www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy 

or by contacting Democratic Support on 01752 304867 

Page 56



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
  
Subject: The Brilliant Co-operative Council Sustainable Three 

Year Plan  

Committee:    Cabinet 

Date:    3 September 2013 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Evans 

CMT Member:   Tracey Lee (Chief Executive) 

Authors: Giles Perritt, Head of Policy, Performance and 
Partnerships  

Contact details   Tel:  01752 304464 
    Email: giles.perritt@plymouth.gov.uk 

Ref:     

Key Decision: No 
 
Part: I    

 
Purpose of the report:  
 
This report identifies some of the key financial challenges that the Council faces over the 
coming three years, proposes a revised approach to financial planning over the medium 
term, and seeks support for a Council-wide transformation programme based on Co-
operative Values to substantially reduce the operating costs of the Council and ensure the 
maximum possible investment in achieving Corporate Plan objectives. 
 
Funding for local government has been significantly affected by the Coalition Government’s 
plans to reduce the national deficit.  Since 2009/10, there have been a number of changes to 
the Local Government funding regime that have resulted in an overall reduction in income 
to the Council from central government of £9.5m per year.  The Council has already 
reduced expenditure in this period by c£30m, through efficiency savings and service 
reductions.   
 
In July 2013, the Department for Communities and Local Government published the detail 
of its funding intentions for 2014-15 and 2015-6 with a ‘real terms’ cut of 10% in overall 
funding for local government.  It is now clear that £1bn has, in addition, been set aside from 
the settlement for allocation to some Councils, but not to others.  Therefore underlying the 
headline 10% real terms cut in funding lies a 15% real terms reduction in the basic allocation 
affecting all authorities including Plymouth.  
 
Sir Merrick Cockell, the Chair of the Local Government Association has said: “This cut will 
stretch essential services to breaking point in many areas. While positive steps have been 
taken to target NHS funding at social care, the fact remains that some councils will simply 
not have enough money to meet all their statutory responsibilities.  Services such as culture 
and leisure facilities, school support, road maintenance and growth related programmes will 
bear the brunt of these cuts”.  

Page 57



 
Responsibility for the funding of Council Tax benefit has been transferred to local 
authorities with effect from the current financial year, but prior to the transfer of this 
responsibility, a 10% top slice of resources was taken by the government.  This, coupled 
with other anticipated impacts from Welfare Reform is anticipated to add further pressure 
of around £1.5m annually to Council budgets. 
 
Reductions in Revenue Support Grant and the localisation of Council Tax benefit and 
Business Rate receipts have resulted in a significant transfer of financial risk from central to 
local government. 
 
In contrast to the forecast reduction in resources, the demand for key Council services is 
increasing.  For example, the growth in the proportion of older people requiring social care 
is putting pressure on both local authorities and health services nationally.  Current 
forecasts anticipate a 2% increase on social care expenditure year on year in Plymouth, 
equating to annual financial pressures of £4.5m. 
 
There are a number of financial impacts on the Council identified as being the result of the 
broader economic climate.  These include reduced income from commercial rents and 
inflationary increases in contracted services and utility costs. 
 
Taken together, the above factors will contribute to an estimated funding gap for the 
Council over the next three years of circa £65m. To put this into context, this equates to 
the entire annual net expenditure on environmental services and economic development, 
covering refuse collection and disposal, all street services and the Council’s support for 
businesses and employment.  The value of these savings equates to almost five times the 
entire annual revenue budget of Exeter City Council. 
 
The respected economic ‘think tank’, the Institute for Fiscal Studies, (IFS), has stated that: 
“The UK faces the longest, deepest, sustained period of cuts to public services spending at 
least since World War II…”  
 
         
The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 – 2016/17: 
 
In July 2013, the Council adopted a new Corporate Plan, to be a Brilliant Co-operative 
Council.  The plan contains ambitious objectives around the themes of Pioneering, Growing, 
Caring and Confident Plymouth.  Each objective identifies outcomes by which the delivery of 
the objectives will be measured.  Commitments are made to promoting economic growth,   
improving Council services, health and social care outcomes and the reputation of the city.  
The plan also identifies Co-operative values which will inform the way that the Council goes 
about its business. 
 
Given the financial climate described above in which the Council will have to operate over 
the life of the Corporate Plan, a substantially revised approach to financial planning and 
delivering financial efficiencies will be needed.  The Council has sought advice from Ernst 
and Young concerning the robustness of its financial estimates for future years and the 
nature and scale of changes that it will have to make to its structure and delivery 
arrangements to meet its financial challenges and deliver the Corporate Plan. 

Page 58



 
The proposed Transformation Programme will deliver a fundamental change in the way that 
the Council goes about its business, delivering significant savings in four key areas: 
 

• Economic growth initiatives that will provide financial dividends for the Council, a 
more commercial approach to the way that we run our services, and smarter 
procurement and commissioning. 
 

• Customer-led service redesign, transforming the way the Council interacts with 
customers to meet their demands and preferences. 

 
• Creating an integrated approach to health, wellbeing and social care commissioning, 

working co-operatively across all local communities and partners. 
 

• Smarter, evidence based decision-making for the Council using co-operative 
principles, and support services delivering against our new organisational 
requirements. 

 

To support the delivery and implementation of Transformation Programme we will develop 
two ‘enabling programmes’ focussed on: 

 
• Better use of the Council’s physical and technical infrastructure and assets to better 

serve the needs of the organisation now, and into the future; 
 

• Ensuring that Members and staff are engaged and supported through the 
transformation programme, and that they have the necessary skills to deliver. 

 
The Transformation programme will help us to ‘grow’ ourselves out of the financial 
challenges that we face whilst focussing on, and improving, the customer experience and 
maximising opportunities from partnership working across the city. We already have an 
excellent track record across these areas such as generating income through building 
additional homes and attracting more businesses into the city. This needs to be expanded 
and developed in a structured and sustainable programme. 
 
The Transformation programme alone will not enable us to close the £65m gap.  Alongside 
this we will need to take proactive action to manage down the cost drivers and escalating 
pressures that we face, and comprehensively review all services delivered by the Council, 
both statutory and discretionary, followed by proposals for changes in the level, cost and 
nature of provision.  The terms of reference for the review will be bound by the Co-
operative Values of the Council, and will focus on contributing as far as possible to the 
delivery of the Corporate Plan objectives. 
 
          
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land 
 
Councils throughout the country have had to enact drastic action in order to balance 
budgets. There are no easy solutions. 

Page 59



 
Over the last three years, Plymouth City Council has successfully managed net revenue 
savings of circa £30m through a number of delivery programmes.  The scale of future 
financial challenges however is such that the Council will require upfront investment in 
capacity and support to enable it to bring about the fundamental changes described above in 
the coming years. 
 
Revised financial planning arrangements will result in a longer term approach to addressing 
the funding available to the Council, planning for a balanced indicative budget in each of the 
coming three years. 

 
The Transformation programme, as a whole, is a fundamental strand which will enable us to 
develop a three year sustainable financial plan to deliver the Council’s co-operative vision. 
However, there will be a need to incur up front set up costs to structure, plan and provide 
capacity to deliver long term financial and service benefits. Earmarked reserves and balances 
will be reviewed in order to top up the existing Transformation Programme reserve in 
2013/14 which will be used to ‘smooth’ the cashflow differences of costs vs savings between 
specific financial years. As a guide, it is estimated that the net benefit, (accounting  for 
associated spend), from the Transformation Programme will deliver more than 50% of the 
Council’s entire forecasted three year funding gap. 
 
To supplement internal funding, officers are investigating opportunities for draw down of 
national funding streams that have been specifically set up to support transformation, such 
as resources available for Health and Social Care Integration. 
    
Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety 
and Risk Management: 
 
Implications with respect to the above areas relating to the response to individual 
recommendations will be explored in detail as related proposals are brought forward. 
 

Equality and Diversity 
 
An Equality Impact Assessment has not been undertaken as part of the preparation of this 
report, but assessments will be necessary as part of the implementation of its 
recommendations. 

Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 

1. That Council adopt a longer term approach to addressing the reduction in funding 
available to the Council, planning for a balanced indicative budget in each of the 
coming three years. 

2. That Council support the implementation of a Council-wide transformation 
programme, based on Co-operative Values, to substantially reduce the operating costs 
of the Council and ensure the maximum possible investment in achieving our 
objectives. 

 

Page 60



3. That Cabinet review earmarked reserves and balances to ensure that the  
Transformation Programme reserve is adequate to cover cashflow requirements for 
the period of 2013/14 to 2016/17 (managing the overall costs incurred and savings 
achieved across each financial year) 

 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
 
A one year financial planning horizon will not support the long term decision making 
required to deliver the objectives of the Corporate Plan 
The Council’s financial stability will be put at risk unless a transformative appproach is taken 
to revising its delivery arrangements in the coming years. 
Attempting to implement the Transformation Programme without additional support and 
capacity will seriously prejudice the Council’s ability to deliver it effectively 

 
Published work / information:  
LGA local government finance briefing for Leaders, Lead Members and Chief Executives 31 
July 2013 
Local Government Chronicle 27 June 2013 
Spending Round 2013 
 
Background papers: 
 

Title Part 1 Part II Exemption Paragraph Number 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

Ernst and Young Interim Report to 
Plymouth City Council July 2013 

 x   x     

 

 
Sign off: 
 
Fin MC13

14.12 
Leg 18291

/DVS 
Mon 
Off 

18291
/DVS 

HR X Assets X IT X Strat 
Proc 

X 

Originating SMT Member: Tracey Lee 
Have the Cabinet Members agreed the contents of the report?  Yes 
 

Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Revised Jul 2013 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
 
Subject:    Webcasting 

Committee:    City Council 

Date:    16 September 2013 

Cabinet Member:   Councillor Peter Smith 

CMT Member: Assistant Director for Law, Democracy and Governance (Tim 

Howes 

Author: Tim Howes, Assistant Director for Law, Democracy and 
Governance 

Contact details:   Tel: 01752 305403  
    Email: tim.howes@plymouth.gov.uk 

Ref:     DSU/TH/GP 

Key Decision:   N/A 

Part: 1   
 
Purpose of the report:  
The purpose of the report is to seek approval to undertake a four year webcasting contract with the 
flexibility to extend to five years following the 12 month trial period which has been undertaken since 
August 2012.  The report details the successes of the trial period and considers the future costs and 
resource requirement. The report comes before council because of a commitment at City Council in 
June 2012 to bring the results back. 
         
The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 -2016/17:   
This report reflects the value of being democratic and our objective of a Caring Plymouth in the 
emerging corporate plan. 
          
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land: 
The annual revenue cost of webcasting is estimated at just under £20,000 per year, resulting in a total 
contract cost of around £74,000.  In addition staff support is required as described later in the 
report. 
   
Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management: 
Webcasting increases public access to the Councils democratic process for members of the public 
who for example, work during the times which meetings take place, cannot access the council house 
due to a disability or cannot find the time to attend meetings for other reasons such as care 
commitments.  Webcasting makes meetings more inclusive across all communities within Plymouth.   
Access to the public gallery in the Council Chamber is by means of a steep stair case which can prove 
problematic to elderly members of the public or those with mobility problems. 
 

Equality and Diversity: 

Has an Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?   No 
 

Agenda Item 11Page 63



 

Revised Jul 2013 

 
 
  
Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 
It is recommended: 
 

1. that the City Council agree to continue with the webcasting of meetings; 
2. to share the costs and resources implications evenly across the City Council. 

 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
In respect of recommendation 1. - Not to webcast meetings would be a retorgade step in the 
opening up of Council meetings and the Democratic process in general 
 
In respect of recommendation 2.  – there is no alternative as the cost and resources implications 
cannot be absorbed within the Democratic Support budget. 
 
Published work / information: 
Plymouth City Council Constitution 
Minute 13a of City Council meeting of the 25 June 2012 
 
Background papers: 
 
None 
 
 
Sign off:   
 
Fin djn1

314.
16 

Leg TH0
126 

Mon 
Off 

TH0
126 

HR  Assets   IT  Strat 
Proc 

JK/S
PU/
CP/3
32/0
913 

Originating SMT Member:  Timothy Howes  
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the content of the report?  n/a 
 

 

Page 64



 

Revised Jul 2013 

1. Introduction 
 
The Council wants to encourage open government and get more people involved in the 
decision-making process. The webcasting trial over the past year has opened up those meetings 
held in the council chamber through webcasting, which is the live or recorded transmission of 
video over the internet. 
 

2. Results of the trial period 
 

The trial period has seen almost 100 thousand hits in total.  These hits include –  
 

§ live views 
§ archive views 
§ individual document hits 
§ presentation hits 

 
In terms of live hits (as opposed to archive hits) the average is 194 compared to an average of 
around 20 people physically attending meetings such as Planning Committee and City Council in 
the Council House.  There have been almost 29 thousand archive views of our meetings in the 
last year.  The meeting with the highest live viewing figures was planning committee on 15 
August 2013 which saw at least* 1553 people watching the meeting live! (*figures are quoted as 
‘at least’ because more than one viewer in an organisation or a household only counts as 1 
view. For instance, if all Plymouth City Council staff watched a webcast this would count as 1 
hit). 
 
The number of hours predicted has proved adequate for current use and so any contract 
undertaken will be for the same number of hours.  A full breakdown of web casting statistics is 
provided at appendix A. 
 

 
3. Potential for partnership working and cost recovery 
 

Officers are currently in talks with two partner organisations with regards to hosting their 
meetings in the Council House.  As part of the hosting offer the meetings would be webcast 
and resource implications dealt with by a service level agreement.  This would recover some of 
the costs of the system.  The system has also been used at a Royal Institute of British 
Architects event held in the Council Chamber and a ceremony for the Outreach Awards. 

 
4. System Potential 

 
There is the possibility to make the meetings more interactive by  
 

§ running polls on agenda items  
§ providing space for a live twitter 
§ linking to a facebook feed during the meeting.   

 
This would allow greater participation by members of the public watching a live webcast, and 
support the democratic value. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 

Revised Jul 2013 

5. Resource requirement 
 

Each webcast takes around twice the length of the meeting to administer – this includes the set 
up before the meeting, the actual webcast during the meeting and the time to perform checks 
after each webcast.  At present two Democratic Support staff are required for every meeting 
webcast.  Given the small number of staff in the Democratic Support team, it is not possible to 
administer the system within the team on an on-going basis.  As a tool which could be utilised 
across the City Council, it is proposed that the administration of it is shared across the council 
with some nominated operators in each Directorate. 
 
 
 

Page 66



 

Revised Jul 2013 

Appendix A – Statistics by Committee 
 
Committee Date Live Views Archive Views 
City Council 30 July 2012 643 2508 
Planning Committee 23 August 2012 235 1490 
Cabinet 23 August 12 62 1182 
City Council 24 September 2012 798 1918 
Planning Committee 18 October 2012 63 2575 
Planning Committee 8 November 2012 43 974 
City Council 3 December 2012 203 1802 
Planning Committee 6 December 2012 116 2489 
Planning Committee 3 January 2013 203 794 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board 9 January 2013 292 776 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board 14 January 2013 62 437 

Devon and Cornwall Police and 
Crime Panel 17 January 2013 18 1105 

City Council 28 January 2013 346 1334 
Planning Committee 31 January 2013 61 978 
Devon and Cornwall Police and 
Crime Panel 8 February 2013 81 932 

City Council 25 February 2013 382 606 
Plymouth Plan Event 5 March 2013 27 895 
Planning Committee 7 March 2013 66 562 
Planning Committee 4 April 2013 53 575 
Devon and Cornwall Police and 
Crime Panel 9 April 2013 43 569 

City Council 22 April 2013 257 634 
City Council 23 April 2013 21 288 
Cabinet 21 May 2013 13 252 
Planning Committee 23 May 2013 83 262 
City Council 10 June 2013 220 363 
Health and Wellbeing Board 13 June 2013 31 225 
Cabinet 18 June 2013 9 82 
Planning Committee 20 June 2013 43 68 
Planning Committee 18 July 2013 14 808 
City Council 22 July 2013 162 707 
Cabinet  6 August 2013 16 235 
Planning Committee 15 August 2013 1553 263 
Cabinet  3 September 2013   
Total  6219 28,688 
 

Page 67



Page 68

This page is intentionally left blank



Revised Dec 2012 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
  
Subject: Constitutional Changes: Planning Committee Code of Practice 

and Terms of Reference 
 
Committee:    City Council 

Date:    16 September 2013 

Cabinet Member:   Councillor Peter Smith 

CMT Member:   Tim Howes (Monitoring Officer) 

Author: Judith Shore (Democratic and Member Support Manager)  

Contact details:   T: 01752 304494 
    Email: judith.shore@plymouth.gov.uk  

Ref: 

Key Decision:   N/A  

Part: 1   
 
Purpose of the report:  
 
To recommend changes to the constitution, in particular to amend the Planning Committee Code of 
Practice (Part G of the constitution) and Planning Committee terms of reference (Part E of the 
constitution). 
 
The changes have been made in response to the Local Government Association and Planning 
Advisory Service updated guidance on Probity in Planning for Councillors and Officers issued in April 
2013).   
 
The main changes are as follows: 
 
Code of Practice (Appendix A):  
 

• Section 6.6 – ‘officers and serving councillors must not act as agents for people pursuing 
planning matters within Plymouth City Council’s jurisdiction.’ 

• 12.3 – ‘Members should inform the planning officer if they intend to enter the owner’s property 
unaccompanied and seek clarification from the planning officer whether it is appropriate for them to 
be accompanied by an officer.’ 

• Section 12.13 – ‘a record that a Planning Committee site visit has taken place should be made 
through a Planning Committee minute.’ 

 
Terms of reference (Appendix B): 
 

• Widening the types of application considered by the Planning Committee to include close relatives of 
employees or Members;  2.2.2 c) ‘ the application is submitted by an employee or Member of the 
Council, or a close relative of an employee or Member of the Council living in the same property’ and 
4.3 ‘For the purposes of the Planning Committee functions a close relative is defined as:  a husband or 
wife (or civil partner), a son or daughter, a father or mother; or a brother or sister.’ 

         
The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 – 2016/7: 
The changes encourage greater transparency in the democratic process. 

Agenda Item 12Page 69



Revised Dec 2012 

          
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land: 
There are no material implications resulting from these changes to the constitution. 
   
Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management: 
There are no material implications resulting from these changes to the constitution. 
 

Equality and Diversity: 

Has an Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?   No 
  
Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 
It is recommended that Council agree the following: 

1. To adopt the revised Planning Committee Code of Practice 
2. To adopt the change to the Planning Committee’s terms of reference 

 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
The Constitution Review Group considered these amendments before  
recommending them to council.  One option would be to do nothing in which case the Code of  
Practice and Terms of Reference would be out of date and not entirely reflect national guidance.  
 
Published work / information:  
Council constitution 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/constitution 
 
Background papers:  
None 
 
 
 
Sign off:   
 
Fin djn13

14.17 
 

Leg 18374/
DVS 

Mon 
Off 

18374/
DVS 

HR  Assets   IT  Strat 
Proc 

 

Originating SMT Member Tim Howes 
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the content of the report?  n/a  
 

 
  

Page 70



Appendix A 
Appendix 1 

 
“Probity in Planning” 

Planning Committee Code of Practice 
 

Authors: Assistant Director of Planning, Head of Development 
Management and Senior Lawyer 

 
Contents 
 

1. Introduction  
2. Status of the Code 
3. General Role and Conduct of Councillors and Officers 
4. Declaration and Registration of Interest and Bias 
5. Predetermination, Predisposition or Bias 
6. Development Proposals Submitted by Members, Officers and 

the Council 
7. Lobbying 
8. Ward Member Involvement in Planning Application Process 
9. Roles of Members and Officers at Planning Committee 
10. Order of Planning Committee Considerations 
11. Public Speaking at Planning Committee 
12. Site Visits 
13. Decisions Contrary to the Development Plan 
14. Decisions Contrary to Officer Recommendation 
15. Appeals and Inquiries 
16. Quality of Service 
17. Monitoring and Review of Decisions 
18. Training 
19. Complaints   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



1.0 INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1 The conduct of both Officers and Members in Local Government needs to be of the 

highest standing: on this depends the bond of trust between Councils and their local 
people, which is essential if Councils are to play their part in leading communities and 
improving people’s quality of life. The local administration of the planning system has 
come under close scrutiny.  The Nolan Committee’s Third Report investigated 
standards in public life, and was followed by the Local Government Act 2000 which 
introduced a structure by which local authorities were to promote high standards of 
conduct, through a National Code of Conduct for Members.  In 2013 the Local 
Government Association provided updated guidance on “Probity in Planning” and the 
Localism Act 2011 has created a new Standard regime with a more local focus. 

 
1.2 This Code offers clear guidance and advice as to procedures and practices to elected 

Members, Officers and members of the public in connection with the determination of 
planning applications and other applications.  This Code will ensure that not only are the 
applications determined in a fair and impartial way, but also in a way which is seen to be 
fair and impartial.  The introduction of the Local Government Act 2000 and associated 
legislation provides the necessary statutory framework, by which these standards may 
be achieved, maintained and regulated by each local authority. 

 

1.3 Clearly, one of the key purposes of the planning system is to control development in the 
public interest.  When performing this role the Local Planning Authority and elected 
members are making decisions that necessarily affect land and property interests, as well 
as the financial value and settings of land holdings.  Clearly, there is a need to make 
decisions that are open, impartial and based on sound judgement and reason.  The 
process of determining applications should leave no grounds for a suggestion that a 
decision has been impartial, biased or ill founded in any way.  Decisions must always be 
made on planning grounds and planning grounds alone.  

 

1.4  This Code of Good Practice has been adapted from national guidelines on probity to 
take account of the local situation.  Two particular areas of the Localism Act are 
relevant to this code.  Firstly, with regard to pre-determination the Act makes it clear 
that it is proper for councillors to play an active part in local discussions and that they 
should not be liable to legal challenge as a result, provided they maintain an open mind.  
Secondly, and related to pre-determination, the act introduces a new requirement for 
developers to consult local communities before submitting planning applications for 
certain developments.  This gives Members and local residents a chance to comment 
when there is still genuine scope to make changes to proposals at both pre-application 
and post submission stage. 

 

1.5 The Terms of Reference for Planning Committee is set out in the Council’s Constitution 
(http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/constitution) which specifies the matters that are 
delegated to be considered by Planning Committee. 

 

 

 

Page 72



2.0 STATUS OF THE CODE 
 

2.1 This Code sets out the basis as to how Officers and Members should determine 
planning and other relevant applications submitted to the Council and ensures that 
conduct accords with the Council’s Codes of Conduct for Members and Officers which 
is contained within the Councils Constitution.  

 

2.2 This Code is contained in the Council’s Constitution. A breach of this Code, depending 
on the circumstances, does not usually amount to a breach of criminal law but may 
adversely affect the standing of the City Council. It could result in a decision being 
judicially reviewed or allegation of a breach of the Code of Conduct or a complaint of 
maladministration made to the Local Government Ombudsman. 
 
 

3.0 GENERAL ROLE AND CONDUCT OF COUNCILLORS AND 
OFFICERS 
 

3.1 Elected Members are guided by the Council’s Code of Conduct, the seven principles of 
public life and the Localism Act 2012. This Code is further amplified by reference to the 
Council’s constitution in respect of general Council procedures as well as further 
amplification in specific Codes of Conduct such as the advice contained in this Code.  

 

3.2 Councillors and Officers have different but complementary roles with the determination 
of planning applications and it is important that an open, respectful and transparent 
relationship is developed based upon mutual trust and understanding of each other’s 
positions. It is important for the overall standing of the Council and the achievement of 
national performance targets that they work as an effective team.  The role of a 
Councillor when determining a planning application is to have an overriding duty to the 
whole community and, accordingly, in deciding the outcome of an application to make a 
reasoned decision taking into account the provisions of the Development Plan and all 
relevant material considerations.  All decisions should be taken in the interests of 
Plymouth as a whole. 

 

3.3 The basis of the planning system is that consideration is given to all development 
proposals and these are determined against the wider public interest.  Much is often at 
stake in such decisions and in the process for local people and development interests, as 
well as for the City of Plymouth itself.  Given the nature of these decisions opposing 
views are often held by those involved.  Whilst these views must be taken into account 
in the determination of planning applications, as stated above, the Planning Committee 
must not favour any person, group or locality.  Members must therefore take steps to 
ensure that in their discharge of their Planning Committee duties the distinction 
between this role and their role as an individual Ward Councillor is constantly made 
clear.  If Members wish to act in the latter capacity they must make that clear at the 
outset.  Members who do not feel that they can act in this way should consider whether 
they are best suited to serve on the Planning Committee, especially if they feel that they 
will often be placed in the position of wishing to represent constituents and wishing to 

Page 73



speak as a Ward Member rather than a Member of the Planning Committee (See 
paragraph 5.4). 

 

3.4 In reaching a decision Members should ensure they read, consider and take account of 
the relevant material considerations connected with the application and should not 
favour any person, group or locality or put themselves in a position where they may 
appear to do so.  

 

3.5    All decisions should be made in an open and transparent manner by the Members of the 
Planning Committee and this should not at any time be compromised in any way. 
Therefore, such actions as messages being passed to Members of the Planning 
Committee during a debate should be avoided as this could give an impression of undue 
influence from a third party.  In the first instance in an emergency any notes should be 
passed to the Democratic Support Officer.   

 

3.6 Members should always address the Planning Committee through the Chair and avoid 
speaking directly to one another since it is important that all matters being discussed are 
clearly heard and acknowledged by everyone at the meeting. 

 
3.7 In order to ensure that decisions are taken on planning grounds and are sound it is 

incumbent on all Planning Committee Members to give full consideration to reports 
prepared by Officers and familiarise themselves with all relevant national planning 
guidance (including the National Planning Policy Framework), Development Plan policies 
and other material considerations well in advance of the consideration of a development 
proposal at the Planning Committee itself.  It is important also that Members are seen to 
be meeting this provision of the code. 

 

3.8 The role of Officers is to advise Councillors and the Council as a whole (through the 
Cabinet and relevant Portfolio Holders) and to carry out work as set out in the 
Corporate Plan and agreed Business Plans.  Officers are employed by the Council, not 
by individual councillors, and it follows that instructions to them may only be given 
through a decision of the Council, the Cabinet, the relevant Portfolio Holders, or the 
Planning Committee.   

 
3.9  The conduct of Officers who advise on the determination of planning applications is 

contained generally in the Council’s protocol for Member/employee relations and is 
supplemented by guidance from their professional bodies, such as Royal Town Planning 
Institute, the Law Society, and the Institute of Legal Executives.  Officers may not be 
instructed by any Member to conduct themselves in a manner which would place them 
in conflict with their professional codes of conduct.  

 

 

 

 

Page 74



3.10 Members should abide by the following advice: 

 

• Members should always pass a copy of any lobbying correspondence to the 
Assistant Director for Planning  at the earliest opportunity; 

 

• Members should never pressurise or lobby Officers for a particular 
recommendation; 

 

• Members should promptly refer to the Assistant Director for Planning any offers 
made to them of planning gain or constraint of development; 

 

• Members should inform the Monitoring Officer where they feel that they have 
been exposed to undue or excessive lobbying or approaches including 
inappropriate offers of gifts or hospitality (see also paragraph 3.12); 

 

• Members should never use political group meetings to dictate how they should 
vote on a planning issue and should not lobby fellow Members regarding 
concerns or views, nor attempt to persuade other Members to vote in a 
particular way. 

 
3.11 Officers are required to act impartially at all times in determining applications and 

providing advice at the Planning Committee.  Officers will be expected to conduct 
themselves in all they say and do in a manner which totally preserves this position of 
impartiality. 

 
3.12 During the determination of an application, it is possible that Officers and Members may 

be offered hospitality by an interested party.  Even though this rarely occurs in 
Plymouth, it is important to recognise that, if at all possible, these offers should be 
politely declined.  However, any Members receiving any gift or hospitality, in their 
capacity as Members, over the value of £25, should provide within 28 days of receipt 
written notification of the details to the Monitoring Officer of the Council for entry into 
the register of gifts and hospitality which is open to public inspection and located in the 
Democratic Support Office.  Similarly, for Officers, in the event that the receipt of 
hospitality is unavoidable, they must ensure that the hospitality is of a minimal level and 
declare its receipt as soon as possible by completing a “Hospitality Declaration Form” 
and submit this to the Assistant Director for Planning for signature.   

 
 
4.0 DECLARATION AND REGISTRATION OF MEMBER AND 

OFFICER INTERESTS AND BIAS 
 
4.1 Members and Officers are required to give a general notice of interest that they hold 

usually upon their election or appointment to office and are under a duty to maintain 
that declaration and amend, as necessary, within 28 days of becoming aware of any such 
changes, throughout their term of office. 

 

Page 75



4.2 A register of Members’ interests will be maintained by the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
and is available for public inspection.  A register of Planning Officers’ interests will be 
maintained by the Assistant Director for Planning. 

 
4.3 Furthermore, Members and Officers are under a duty to declare interests as and when 

matters arise at Planning Committee.  Guidance on these issues may be sought by the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer.  The decision as to whether an interest ought to be 
declared rests with the individual Councillor or Officer involved. 

 
4.4 There are three types of interest, ‘personal’ ‘prejudicial’ and pecuniary. A member will 

have a  personal interest in a Planning Committee decision if: 
 

• If the matter relates to an interest in respect of which the Member has given 
notice in the statutory register of Member’s interests;  or  

• The decision might reasonably be regarded as affecting their well being or 
financial position or that of a relative or friend or employer to a greater extent 
than other Council Tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the Authority’s area. 

 
4.5  Where a Member considers he or she has such a personal interest in a matter, he must 

always declare it. 
 
4.6 A personal interest will become a prejudicial interest if a member of the public with 

knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard that interest as so significant 
that it is likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest. There are 
exceptions to this, however and full details are given in the Council’s constitution.  

 
4.7 Where any Member of the Council considers that they have a prejudicial interest they 

should discuss this situation with the Monitoring Officer or his representative as soon as 
they realise this is the case: 

 
• Complete a standard form and pass it to the Democratic Support Officer prior 

to the start of Planning Committee; 
 
• Ensure they do not participate at any stage in the consideration of the planning 

application if following advice from the Monitoring Officer they consider that any 
decision they take could be challenged on the grounds of bias; 

 
• Ensure they do not seek or accept any preferential treatment, or place 

themselves in a position that could lead to the public to think they are receiving 
preferential treatment because of their position as a councillor; 

 
4.8 With regard to Planning Officer interests the Assistant Director for Planning Services 

will check the Officer declarations list and advise the Officer accordingly if they feel that 
alternative arrangements are necessary in presenting the report. 

 

4.9 Pecuniary interests are defined in regulations.  The regulations in general will mean that 
a member will have to register any interest they or their husband or wife or civil 
partner has in:  

Page 76



 
• any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation that they carry on for 

profit or gain 
• any sponsorship that the councillor receives including contributions to the 

councillor’s expenses as a councillor; or the councillor’s election expenses from 
a Trade Union.  

• any land licence or tenancy they have in Plymouth; 
• any current contracts leases or tenancies  between the council and them,  
• any current contracts leases or tenancies  between the council and any 

organisation with land in Plymouth in which they are or have a partner, a paid 
director, or have a relevant interest in its shares and securities; 

• any organisation which has land or a place of business in Plymouth and in which 
they have a relevant interest in its shares or its securities.  

 
If a Councillor has a pecuniary interest they must leave the meeting immediately and can 
not participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the matter at the meeting, or 
participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting. 

  

4.10 Members should also not give grounds for a suspicion that any such interests may arise 
and have not been declared. 

 

4.11 When an application is to be determined, there is an expectation that it will be dealt 
with transparently, openly and in a fair way.  Members will be expected to take account 
of all relevant evidence and give it appropriate weight in the decision making process 
and arrive at a reasoned sound decision. 

 

4.12 An alternative approach may be for the Planning Committee Member to refrain from 
making any public statement on an application and to invite another Ward Member to 
attend the Planning Committee to speak on the local ward issues and for the Member 
of the Planning Committee, if s/he has not made a public statement in support of or 
against the application, to confine his/her comments to the relevant planning issues, 
taking into account the interests of the City as a whole. 

 

5.0 PREDETERMINATION OR  PREDISPOSITION  
 

5.1 Members of the Planning Committee need to ensure that they do not fetter their ability 
to participate in the decision making process on an application by making up their mind 
or clearly indicating that they have made up their mind on how they will vote prior to 
the consideration of the application by the committee. 

 

5.2 The Planning Committee should, when considering an application, take into account all 
views that are expressed in such a way that they are openly heard and fairly considered 
in a balanced way before the committee reach a decision. 

 

Page 77



5.3 Members of the Planning Committee can have a predisposition to an initial view, where 
the member is clear they are still willing to listen to all the material considerations 
presented at the Planning Committee before deciding on how to exercise their vote on 
behalf of the community. 

 

5.4 The fettering of a members discretion as set out in 5.1 and then taking part in the 
decision making process will put the Council at risk of a finding of maladministration and 
of legal proceedings on the grounds of there being a risk of bias or predetermination or 
a failure to not take into account all of the factors enabling the application to be 
considered on its merits. 

 

5.5 The Localism Act 2011 now sets out that a member who has expressed a preference 
for a particular outcome of an application as it proceeds to determination, will not be 
taken to have had a closed mind when making the decision just because they have 
previously done or said anything to indicate their view in respect of the matter. 
However, it is important that a fair minded observer would think that the Member was 
open to changing their mind in the light of different or additional information, advice or 
evidence presented. 

 

5.6 It will be evident that the appropriate action is not clear cut and will depend on the 
circumstances of a particular case and application. Planning Committee members need 
to avoid bias and predetermination and take account of the general public’s (and the 
Ombudsman’s) expectation that a planning application will be processed and determined 
in an open and fair manner. To do this, Members taking the decision on an application 
must take account of all the evidence presented before arriving at a decision, and should 
avoid committing themselves one way or another before hearing all the arguments. 

 

5.7 A situation can arise when a Member of the Planning Committee represents a Ward 
within which a contentious application is lodged.  If, prior to the matter being 
considered by the Planning Committee, that Member decides to make a public 
statement, and either supports or opposes the application, it will be difficult for that 
Member to be seen to subsequently determine the application transparently, openly and 
fairly.  Accordingly, the Member should make an open declaration, in relation to his or 
her position and not vote on the determination of the application at Planning 
Committee.  The open declaration should be noted in the Planning Committee minutes.  
The Member will also be required to vacate their seat within the Planning Committee 
and to sit within the public gallery for the duration of the consideration of the item, and 
where they have exercised their right to speak as a Ward member, they can address 
the Planning Committee at the appropriate time in accordance with the Ward Member 
speaking arrangements (see section 11).  

 

5.8  Ultimately it is the responsibility of the individual member to ensure that their role on 
the Planning Committee is not compromised and it is also for them to strike the 
balance that may need to be made between ward and other interests and the 
requirements of the Planning Committee. 

Page 78



 

6.0 DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS SUBMITTED BY MEMBERS, 
OFFICERS AND THE COUNCIL 

 

6.1 In accordance with the Council’s Officer Code of Conduct (June 2000), employees must 
declare any financial or non-financial interests which relate to their work to the 
appropriate Director, Assistant Director, or Head of Service, including membership of 
any organisation not open to the public without formal membership and commitments 
of allegiance.  Such declarations will be maintained in documents which will not be 
publicly disclosable. 

 

6.2 Such declarations can be made on a regular basis without any known future applications 
coming forward.  In such situations, planning and other associated applications will not 
be allocated to that employee to deal with. 

 

6.3 However, it will sometimes occur that an employee only identifies a conflict of interest 
in the course of determining an application.  At this point it is the responsibility of the 
employee to immediately raise the declaration with the Director, Assistant Director, or 
Head of Service and for the employee to take no further action in the determination of 
the case.  Again, a record of the declaration will be maintained in documents which will 
not be publicly disclosable. 

 

6.4 In all instances where there is a conflict of interest the appropriate procedure would be 
for officers to notify the Director, Assistant Director, or Head of Service of that conflict 
and to have no further part in the determination of the application. 

 

6.5 Any proposals submitted by Members and Officers shall be dealt with so as to give no 
grounds for accusations of favouritism.  For this reason reference is made in the Terms 
of Reference for Planning Committee for decision making involving Council employees 
or Members. 

 

6.6  Officers and serving Councillors must not act as agents for people pursuing Planning 
matters within Plymouth City Council’s jurisdiction. 

 
6.7 Any application submitted by Plymouth City Council shall be processed in the same 

transparent and impartial manner as for any other applicant.  

Page 79



 

7.0 LOBBYING 
7.1 It is recognised that lobbying is a normal and perfectly legitimate element of the process 

of considering planning applications.  If a Member, who is not on the Planning 
Committee to determine an application, wishes to support a particular viewpoint then 
that Member has a right to appear at Planning Committee and seek permission to 
address the meeting. 

 

7.2 It is, however, important that Members protect their impartiality and integrity in 
planning matters. Planning Committee Members will not breach the Code by listening to 
or receiving viewpoints from residents or other interested parties provided that they 
make it clear that they are keeping an open mind.  However expressing an intention to 
vote one way or another before a Planning Committee meeting would prejudice 
impartiality. 

 

8.0 WARD MEMBER INVOLVEMENT IN PLANNING 
APPLICATIONS PROCESS 

 
8.1 Ward members have a central role in helping to represent the views of local people and 

other stakeholders at both pre-application and planning application stage.  Ward 
councilors bring strong community leadership, extensive local knowledge and an up to 
date understanding of current issues. Planning officers have to act impartially at all times, 
but will provide support and advice to ward councilors on planning matters in order for 
them to play this community leadership role.  This will include the involvement of ward 
members in negotiations on planning obligations. 

 
8.2  Planning obligations negotiated under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act, 1990 must be seen to mitigate the effects of development whilst recognising that 
each must comply with council planning documents, policies and guidance and 
Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (as 
amended). 

 
8.3 To be lawful, a planning obligation must meet all of the following statutory tests. It must 

be: 
 

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  
 
(b) directly related to the development; and  
 
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  
 
(These apply to both future and existing Section 106 obligations and to CIL payments). 

Page 80



 
8.4 To this end, where the need for a planning obligation is anticipated by a planning officer, 

ward councillors will be consulted at an early stage of the pre-application and planning 
application process. The views of ward councillors on planning obligations will be sought 
electronically through weekly lists and shall be considered in any decision taken by the 
Planning Committee or by an officer acting under delegated authority.  

 
Information available to Ward Councillors 

 
8.5 The following information will be available to ward councillors via the City Council web-

site in order to help inform their consideration of a development proposal at both pre-
application and submission stages: 

 
• The Statement of Community Involvement, which sets out the principles, 

expectations and best practice for everyone involved in the planning process. 
• The Sustainable Neighbourhood Assessments, which set out in detail an 

assessment of existing infrastructure, gaps in provision and key local issues 
within every neighbourhood in the city. 

• The Infrastructure Needs Assessment, which sets out strategic infrastructure 
that is needed in parts of the city to support the overall growth agenda of the 
city. 

• A summary of existing Section 106 agreements within every ward, which is 
updated quarterly. 

• The planning policy framework, as set out in Policy CS33 of the Core Strategy 
and the Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD: these provide the 
policy context for the negotiation of planning obligations and it will be important 
for ward members to be familiar with these. 

 
8.6 To further assist ward councillors in considering to what extent they wish to make 

comments on development proposals, every week ward councillors will be sent by 
email only: 

 
• A list of registered Development Enquiry Service requests where the applicant 

has indicated that they do not wish the pre-application to be confidential.  
Where an applicant has indicated that a pre-application enquiry is confidential 
these will not appear in the weekly list.  

 
• A list of registered planning applications with links (where applicable) to details 

of the proposed Section 106 Obligations Heads of Terms, which will show what 
the developer is proposing for the Section 106 agreement and which provides a 
starting point for members to consider Section 106 matters on a particular 
planning application. 

Page 81



 
Ward Member Involvement at Development Enquiry Service (DES) Pre-

Application Stage 
 
8.7 In accordance with the principles set out in the Statement of Community Involvement, 

councillors should review the weekly DES list. Upon receipt of the DES list ward 
councillors must contact the named case officer within 10 working days if they wish 
to draw attention to any particular planning or Section 106 related issues or concerns, 
specifying which site within their ward this relates to. This will enable officers, ward 
councillors and the developer to more positively engage together in progressing the 
pre-application discussions and take account of key local issues at an early stage. It is at 
this stage a ward councillor should also indicate whether they wish to receive an 
informal presentation from the developer/agent where this is a major development.  
(Informal presentations for minor or householder proposals will only be provided in 
exceptional circumstances at the discretion of the Assistant Director of Planning). Pre-
application presentations to local ward councillors will enable the developer to 
positively engage with ward councillors at an early stage in the development process, 
without compromising the decision making process  

 
8.8 Where requested, for major developments, the planning case officer will facilitate the 

opportunity for an informal presentation of the development proposal by the 
developer/agent to ward councillors, at pre-application stage. A request for an informal 
presentation can be made by ward councillors, the developer/agent or by planning 
officers.  Informal DES presentations will generally be undertaken within 4 weeks of the 
Development Enquiry Service application being registered, and will be carried out fully 
in accordance with the Council’s Code of Good Practice for Members and Officers, and 
the general advice contained in the National Model Code of Conduct (Local Authorities 
(Model Code of Conduct) Order 2007 - S1 2007/1159). Wherever possible meetings 
will be arranged for all members within the ward affected by the proposal to reflect 
member availability, but in order not to unduly delay pre-application discussions 
members will be expected to prioritise attendance at any DES meetings requested. 

 
8.9 The purpose of these DES presentations is to inform ward councillors of emerging 

proposals for major developments and enable key local issues of relevance to the 
development, including any Section 106 matters, to be identified. Such early engagement 
will enable the developer to understand and address any significant local concerns as 
early in the development process as possible including any priorities to mitigate the 
impact of the proposed development. The collection and expenditure of Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payments will not be a matter for discussion at these meetings 
since CIL is non-negotiable and the expenditure will be determined through the 
governance of the Council's Regulation 123 List. 

 
8.10 The developer’s presentation will be limited to the facts of the development proposal. 
 
8.11 Ward councillors will be given the opportunity to ask questions concerning any aspect 

of the proposal, including Section 106 matters.  Unless a matter is commercially 
confidential and sensitive, developers will be expected to provide comprehensive 
answers to questions from ward councillors.  

 

Page 82



8.12 The planning case officer will highlight the key planning issues, summarising policy issues, 
third party views and other issues for consideration. Key issues raised at the DES 
meeting will be written up as part of the case officer’s report to Planning Committee. 

  
8.13 Ward councillors will be at liberty to express opinions in support or opposition for the 

proposals at the meeting if they wish, unless they are also a member of the Planning 
Committee.   

 
8.14 Where a ward councillor is also a member of Planning Committee this will be declared 

at the start of the meeting.  The planning case officer will then make it clear that the 
Planning Committee Member is at the meeting to understand the issues and to ask 
questions of clarification, but will remain open minded so as to avoid any suggestions of 
pre-determination.  

 
8.15 Local ward councillor involvement at pre-application stage will not affect the speaking 

rights of the member at Planning Committee provided the local ward Councillor has 
followed the Council’s Code of Good Practice for Members and officers. 

 
8.16 The advice given at DES stage does not necessarily bind the formal determination by the 

Local Planning Authority of any subsequent planning application. 
 
8.17 Under no circumstances should Planning Committee Members meet with 

developers/landowners (or their advisors) without the presence of a Planning 
Officer.  To do so will be a breach of this code and may prejudice the integrity of any 
subsequent decisions made on any application.  Councillors who are not members of 
Planning Committee are advised to seek advice from Planning Officers prior to agreeing 
to meet with developers or landowners. 

 
Ward Member Involvement at Planning Application Stage 

 
 
8.18 In accordance with the principles set out in the Statement of Community Involvement, 

councillors should review the weekly list of planning applications. It is the councillor’s 
responsibility to initiate contact with the case officer named in the weekly list within 
10 working days of the publication of the list if they wish to draw attention to any 
particular planning or Section 106 related issues or concerns. 

 
8.19 Where a ward councilor requests a presentation on a registered major planning 

application, this must be done within 10 working days of receiving the weekly list. 
(Presentations for minor or householder proposals will only be provided in exceptional 
circumstances at the discretion of the Assistant Director of Planning). The purpose of 
any presentations at this stage is to inform ward councillors of the content of the 
planning application in order to enable ward councillors to make formal representations 
on the application within the published consultation period. The collection and 
expenditure of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payments will not be a matter for 
discussion at these meetings since CIL is non-negotiable and the expenditure will be 
determined through the governance of the Council's Regulation 123 List. 

 
8.20 Wherever possible meetings will be arranged for all members within the ward affected 

by the proposal to reflect member availability, but in order not to unduly delay the 

Page 83



determination of planning applications members will be expected to prioritise 
attendance at any planning meetings requested. This date will normally be within 3 
weeks of receipt of the request for the meeting. Members can still make comments on a 
planning application within the statutory consultation period of 21 days. 

 
8.21 The advice and discussions at any meeting will not necessarily bind the formal 

determination by the Local Planning Authority of the planning application. 
 
8.22  Under no circumstances should Planning Committee Members meet with a developer 

without the presence of a Planning Officer and other Members are advised to seek 
advice from Planning Officers prior to meeting a developer. 

 

9.0 ROLES OF MEMBERS AND OFFICERS AT PLANNING 
COMMITTEE 

 

9.1 Officers and Members have specific roles at Planning Committee.  In particular the 
following Members and Officers will be identified at the Planning Committee: 

 

• Chair of Planning Committee  
• Vice Chair of Planning Committee  
• Other Members of Planning Committee  
• Lead Planning Officer  
• Legal Officer  
• Democratic Support Officer  
• Case Officer  
• Other professional inputs (as determined by the Assistant Director for Planning) 
 

9.2 More information on the roles and responsibilities of the above Officers and Members 
are outlined in a guidance note which will be available at all Planning Committees, a 
copy of which can be found on the Council’s website. 

 

10.0 ORDER OF PLANNING COMMITTEE CONSIDERATIONS  
 

10.1 All decisions that are to be made by the Planning Committee will be based upon written 
reports by Officers supplemented, where necessary, by a brief oral presentation which 
may include a site plan, an aerial photograph of the site, photographs of the site, key 
application plans and drawings, video and other relevant material that the Officer 
considers will assist the Planning Committee in the consideration of the proposal.  

 

10.2 In most cases the Assistant Director for Planning will make a recommendation to the 
Planning Committee to either refuse planning permission, with reasons, or to approve 
planning permission, with conditions.  In exceptional circumstances the Assistant 
Director for Planning may not be in a position to make a recommendation to the 

Page 84



Planning Committee through the main report. Where this is necessary reasons will be 
given as part of the Officer report and presentation to the Planning Committee. The 
Assistant Director for Planning may also need to report updates on specific aspects of a 
proposed development or undertake presentations of development proposals with the 
applicant at the early stages of a proposal.  Where this is the case these will be 
separately identified on the Planning Committee agenda. In order to ensure efficient and 
effective decision making the Assistant Director for Planning will generally seek from the 
Planning Committee delegated authority to determine a planning application after the 
expiry of an advertisement period, or upon receipt of additional details, or will seek 
delegated authority to refuse permission where a Section 106 agreement linked to a 
resolution to grant consent is not, in his/her opinion, being expedited with sufficient 
speed by the applicant or will seek to defer to the Assistant Director for further 
negotiations in consultation with Chair, Vice Chair, and Lead Opposition Group 
Member for Planning. 

 

10.3 Where further detail and clarification on a published report is required, this will be 
provided in the form of a written addendum report, to be made public no later than 
5.00 p.m. the day prior to the Planning Committee meeting.  Officers will always seek to 
ensure that the use of addendum reports is kept to the absolute minimum. 

 

10.4 In exceptional circumstances, a further oral report may need to be provided at the 
Planning Committee meeting itself. 

 

10.5 The order for consideration of all planning applications will be as follows: 

 

1. Planning Officer Oral Presentation; 

2. Any Planning Committee Member(s) with a prejudicial interest who wish to speak 
for or against a proposal (who will then leave the room); 

3. Any eligible Ward Councillor(s) who wish to speak for or against the 
 proposal;  

4. Any Public Speaker who wishes to speak against the proposal;  

5. Any Public Speaker who wishes to speak in favour of the proposal;  

6. Questions to the Planning Officer by Planning Committee Members; 

7. Planning Committee Members debate and consider the proposal; 

8. Planning Committee Members move and debate any alternative motions to the 
recommendation.  The Democratic Support Officer clarifies the wording of the 
alternative motion and the Chair puts these to the vote as appropriate (refer also 
to section 14); 

9. Chair of Planning Committee puts the original recommendation to the vote, if 
necessary; 

10. Formal Decision of Planning Committee on the proposal. 

 

Page 85



10.6 If Members request a point of clarification arising from what they have heard from any 
of the Speakers, to assist them with their consideration of the proposal, the Chair may, 
at his or her complete discretion, ask for a short adjournment so that the Lead Planning 
Officer can consult directly with the Speaker. 

 

11.0 SPEAKING AT PLANNING COMMITTEE  
 

11.1 Once the Planning Committee agenda and accompanying papers are made available to 
the public five days prior to the Planning Committee meeting, anyone who wishes to 
speak must notify the Council’s Democratic Support Section (details of which will be on 
the agenda papers) that they wish to speak, give details of the item upon which they 
wish to speak under Part 1 and whether they wish to speak as a supporter, objector, or 
Ward Councillor.  Notification must be made in person by either telephone, fax, letter 
or e-mail and must be received by no later than 4.30 p.m. two working days before the 
Planning Committee meeting.  An individual who wishes to speak at Planning 
Committee must register personally. 

 

11.2 The Members who will be permitted to speak as Ward Members are normally only 
those Members whose ward boundary falls within the ‘red line’ of the planning 
application site. However, exceptionally other Members will be allowed to speak at the 
discretion of the Chair provided that they represent an adjacent ward to where the red 
line is located and in the Committee’s opinion the development directly affects 
residents in that adjacent ward and any of those residents have submitted letters of 
representation within the statutory notice period. When such an exception is made the 
reason will be provided as part of the Planning Committee minutes. Other Members 
can speak at Planning Committee, but as an objector or supporter and provided they 
meet the other requirements in section 11. 

 

11.3 The other participants allowed to publicly speak at the Planning Committee will be the 
applicant or agent and/or third party objectors and supporters or professional agents 
appointed by them to speak.  In the case of third parties only those who have made 
written representations on the planning application during the statutory consultation 
period will be eligible to speak.  In the case of Public Rights of Way applications there 
will also be a further participant, the landowner, who will be allowed to speak after the 
Officer presentation, and any Members, objectors and supporters have spoken. 

 

11.4 In all circumstances the maximum number of public speakers will be one objector and 
one in support of the development proposal (plus a landowner for Public Rights of Way 
applications).  If there are several persons wishing to speak (whether objectors or 
supporters) preference will be given to the first person who properly registers to speak.  
However the Democratic Support Officer will advise other people who wish to speak 
of the nominated speaker and, if that speaker is agreeable, then an alternative speaker 
can be put forward provided all the other criteria in section 11 is satisfied. 

 

Page 86



11.5 Speakers who have notified that they wish to speak need to attend the Planning 
Committee at least quarter of an hour before the start of the meeting and should 
register their details with the Democratic Support Officer.  They will need to provide 
their name, the application they are to speak on, and whether they are an objector or 
supporter of the proposal.    

 

11.6 Speakers will be allowed to speak for up to a maximum of five minutes and there will be 
no further involvement of the speaker in the deliberations of the Planning Committee, 
except as outlined in paragraph 10.6. Speakers will NOT be given an opportunity to ask 
questions of the Members of the Planning Committee. 

 

11.7 Speakers are not expected to provide any presentational material for the Planning 
Committee. However, if a speaker wishes to submit any presentational material to 
supplement their speech they must do so no later than the deadline for speaking as 
outlined in paragraph 11.1. The material must only deal with issues raised through the 
formal representations procedure on that particular application.  Any other 
presentational material that is produced by speakers will not be accepted and will be 
disregarded. 

11.8 In the event an application is deferred, anyone wishing to speak at the subsequent 
Planning Committee meeting must register in the normal way.  Any previous speaker 
will not be given preference over other eligible speakers. 

 

11.9 Speakers should not interrupt other speakers or interrupt the Planning Committee 
debate.   

 

11.10 Speakers are advised not to make slanderous statements or any other racial motivated, 
discriminatory or inflammatory remarks.  

 

11.11 The Chair can suspend the right to public speaking in relation to an individual item or 
the whole Planning Committee if he/she considers it necessary to maintain order at the 
meeting.   

 

11.12 The Chair can also require a speaker to cease speaking and leave the meeting if in the 
opinion of the Chair the speaker’s statement falls within 11.9 or 11.10 above. 

 

11.13 The Chair of Planning Committee at any time may adjourn the Planning Committee and 
ask for the public gallery to be cleared to maintain order at the meeting if there is any 
activity or behaviour which, in his/her opinion, is disrupting the proper consideration of 
a planning application and/or the conduct of the business of the Planning Committee. 

 

Page 87



11.14 The Chair of Planning Committee at any time may require a Member of the Planning 
Committee to leave the meeting and take no further part in the proceedings if, in his or 
her opinion the Member has made statements that fall within 11.9 or 11.10.  

 

12.0 SITE VISITS   
 

12.1 Planning Committee Members will be expected to be familiar with the site and the 
issues surrounding the Officer recommendation when they arrive at a Planning 
Committee meeting.   

 

12.2 If, prior to a Planning Committee meeting, a Member considers that additional 
illustrative material would assist the Planning Committee to visualise the impact of the 
proposed development (over and above the planning application drawings and plans and 
the material forming part of the Officer’s presentation to the Planning Committee) they 
should advise the Assistant Director for Planning at least three working days before the 
Planning Committee meeting clearly specifying what additional material is needed and 
why. 
 

12.3 Officers will normally organise a site visit ahead of any formal recommendation if they 
feel this would benefit Members’ understanding of the proposal. These site visits will be 
held prior to the Planning Committee meeting and Members will be expected to give 
priority to attending this at the arranged time.  If Members wish the Planning 
Committee to visit other sites on the Planning Committee agenda not already included 
in the scheduled site visit they should advise the Assistant Director for Planning at the 
earliest opportunity.  If Members cannot attend the scheduled site visit they will still be 
expected to have familiarised themselves with the site.  Members should, however, 
inform the planning officer if they intend to enter the owner’s property unaccompanied 
and seek clarification from the planning officer whether it is appropriate for them to be 
accompanied by an officer. 

 

12.4 If a Member of Planning Committee moves a resolution for a site visit at a Planning 
Committee meeting not having attended the scheduled visit under paragraph 12.3 
Planning Committee will exercise a strong presumption against agreeing to defer the 
planning application for a further site visit.  

 

12.5  If during the course of the consideration of any application a Member moves a 
resolution for a site visit on a site which was not included in the Scheduled site visit the 
Member will need to give an explicit reason that must explain why the need for a site 
visit was not apparent prior to the Planning Committee meeting.  In such cases the 
deferment for a site visit will need to be agreed by Planning Committee members 
through a majority vote. 

 

12.6 If a site visit is to be made by the Planning Committee it will consist of an inspection of 
the site (and adjoining sites and buildings as necessary) with the assistance of Officers.  

Page 88



The purpose of the site visit is to assess the site and surroundings in the context of the 
development proposals under consideration, relevant development plan policies and 
proposals, and identified material considerations.  It does not form part of the formal 
Planning Committee meeting. 

 

12.7 Site visits conducted by the Planning Committee will normally be unaccompanied (by 
third parties).  As such there is no obligation on the Council to notify the applicant or 
objectors of the arrangements for a site visit. However it may be necessary to contact 
the applicant and/or landowner of the site and/or adjacent sites to gain permission to 
access private property.  Before Members enter the site(s) or building(s) Officers will 
explain to any applicants, objectors, or supporters in attendance the procedure for the 
conduct of the visit.  Officers will then explain to Members the issues relating to the 
Planning Committee item pointing out any site related matters as necessary.  Members 
will be encouraged to ask Officers questions of fact. 

 

12.8 Under no circumstances are Members of the Committee or Officers to enter into any 
discussions with Ward Members, applicants, supporters or objectors on the site visit 
regarding the merits or demerits of the proposal.  During the site visit Members and 
Officers should avoid comments that could be interpreted as deliberations on the 
proposal itself, restricting themselves to questions of clarification or observations of 
fact.  If, in the opinion of the Chair of the Planning Committee, the conduct of 
Members, Officers or third parties is of such a nature as to be potentially in conflict 
with any of these requirements, or the safety of the Members or Officers is in question, 
he/she will immediately suspend the site visit.  If the Chair of the Planning Committee 
does suspend a site visit the application will be determined by a subsequent Planning 
Committee without further recourse to a site visit (even if a further request is made by 
a Member). 

 

12.9 Ward Members will be notified and may be present at a site visit but this is only to 
accompany the Planning Committee members, it is not an opportunity for the Ward 
Members to put forward any case for or against the proposal.  The Ward Member is 
only present to assist with any clarification that may be required in connection with 
local area issues and to hear the explanation given by the Officer. 

 

12.10 The purpose of Planning Committee site visits is: 

 

• For Members of the Planning Committee to familiarise themselves with the site and 
its surroundings and the location of relevant parts of the proposal. 

• For Officer(s) to provide factual information to Members regarding the site and the 
proposed development.   

• For the applicant or their agent to be present on the site, either to enable access or 
to ensure health and safety procedures are followed.   

• At the Chair’s discretion, to visit third party premises.   

Page 89



• To seek clarification on details of the planning application from officers, through the 
Chair. 

 

12.11 All site visits will commence with the Chair of the Planning Committee making a 
statement to all in attendance regarding site visit procedures.  The statement is as 
follows: 

 

“May I remind Members of the Planning Committee that the purpose of this site visit is 
solely to view the site and seek clarification on the planning application from officers. 
Planning Committee Members cannot engage in a debate or answer questions about the 
development.  Members cannot discuss the merits or otherwise of the proposal with 
developers, ward councillors or local residents.” 

 

12.12 The Chair of the Planning Committee is able to suspend a site visit at any time if they 
are not conducted in an appropriate manner or where there are health and safety 
issues. 

12.13 A record that a Planning Committee site visit has taken place should be made through a 
Planning Committee minute. 

 

13.0 DECISIONS CONTRARY TO THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 

13.1   The general principle in planning is that where the Development Plan is up to date and 
relevant, planning applications should be determined in accordance with it unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

13.2 All applications must be assessed in accordance with Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compensation Act 2004 and Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by Section 143 of the Localism Act 2011. 

 

14.0 DECISIONS CONTRARY TO OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 
 

14.1 Department of Communities and Local Government Circular 03/09 advises that the 
most common cause for costs being awarded against a Local Planning Authority is 
where there are unsubstantiated reasons for refusal. However, the circular recognises 
that planning can often involve judgements concerning the character and appearance of 
a local area and the precise interpretation and application of development plan policy 
requirements.  As such the circular states: 

 

 “Planning Authorities are not bound to accept the recommendations of their officers.  
However, if officers’ professional and technical advice is not followed, authorities will 
need to show reasonable planning grounds for taking a contrary decision and produce 

Page 90



relevant evidence on appeal to support the decision in all respects.  If they fail to do so 
costs may be awarded against the authority”. (DCLG Circular 03/09, paragraph B20, 
April 2009). 

 

14.2 Planning applications can also give rise to local controversy and sustained opposition, 
leading to Members being actively lobbied (see Section 7).  However local opposition or 
support for a proposal is not, in itself, a ground for refusing or granting planning 
permission, unless it is founded upon valid planning reasons.  Planning authorities will be 
at risk of costs for unsubstantiated reasons for refusal that rely almost exclusively on 
local opposition for their justification. 

 

14.3 Once the Planning Committee agenda has been published any member may seek advice 
from Planning Officers, irrespective of the recommendation made on any particular 
planning application, and discuss what options there are with the Assistant Director for 
Planning or the Head of Development Management. 

 

14.4 If a decision is to be made contrary to the Assistant Director for Planning 
recommendation, then the Members proposing, seconding or supporting a contrary 
decision must agree the planning reasons leading to this decision and must also give 
Officers an opportunity to explain the implications of such decision prior to the vote.  
The reasons for the decision must be given prior to the vote and shall be minuted.   

 

14.5   In the event that the Planning Committee is minded to grant an application contrary to 
Officers recommendation then they MUST provide: 

 

(i) Full conditions and relevant informatives;   
 

(ii) Full statement of reasons for approval (as defined in Town & Country Planning 
(General Development Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2003);  
 

(iii) Relevant Local Plan and Local Development Framework policies and proposals.   
 

14.6 Where a Member of the Planning Committee moves a motion to refuse an application 
contrary to the Officers’ recommendation then the Member moving the motion MUST 
provide: 

 

(i) Full reasons for refusal, which must include a statement as to demonstrable 
harm caused and a list of the relevant plan and policies which the application is 
in conflict with; 

(ii) Statement of other policies relevant to the decision.   
 

14.7 In the event of a Member motion to refuse, which is seconded, the Chair will if 
necessary adjourn the meeting for a few minutes to allow Officers to advise of any 

Page 91



other relevant planning issues to assist them with their reasons. Vague, generalised or 
inaccurate assertions about a proposals’ impact, which are unsupported by an objective 
analysis, are more likely to result in a costs award. 

 

14.8 If the Member moving the motion does not meet the requirements of (i) and (ii) above 
the motion shall be not be deemed to have been properly made. 

 

14.9 If, in the opinion of the Assistant Director for Planning the possible decision of the 
Planning Committee to refuse planning permission would carry a high risk of an award 
of costs against the Local Planning Authority, s/he shall formally ask the Planning 
Committee to defer a decision and this advice will be formally minuted.  The purpose of 
the deferral shall be to provide time for a full consideration by Officers of the Planning 
Committee’s concerns about the application, such that Officers may advise of grounds 
of refusal, should the Planning Committee remain minded to refuse the application.  In 
making an assessment about the level of risk of a cost award, the Assistant Director for 
Planning shall have regard to: 

 

• The application’s level of compliance with the Local Development Framework and 
other adopted policies; 

• The robustness of the evidence that can be cited to support a refusal of planning 
permission; 

• All other material considerations. 
 

14.10 Any decision made during the Planning Committee forms the full and final decision of 
the Council (subject to agreed matters for deferral and final ratification) and it is 
therefore essential that both Members and Officers carefully follow the above 
procedure in order to provide a legally binding decision. 

 

15.0 APPEALS AND INQUIRIES   
 

15.1 In the event that planning permission is refused either under delegated powers 
conferred on the Assistant Director for Planning or by the Planning Committee, an 
applicant may exercise his/her right of appeal.  Officers are responsible for preparing 
the Council’s evidence for these appeals, and the vast majority of these are dealt with 
by written representations involving an exchange of statements.  On occasions specialist 
Counsel and consultant support is needed to supplement the evidence of Officers.  

 

15.2 In the case of an applicant exercising his/her right to an informal hearing or a Public 
Inquiry Officers will be responsible for presenting the Council’s evidence and attending 
to present that evidence.  Members are at liberty to attend in their capacity as Ward 
Members and may be called to give evidence as a Ward Member.  Members of the 
Planning Committee will not normally be required to attend to present the Council’s 
case.   

Page 92



 

15.3 In the case where the Planning Committee has refused planning permission contrary to 
Officer’s recommendations Officers will normally prepare and present the evidence in 
their role as employee of the Local Planning Authority.  It will be for the Assistant 
Director for Planning to identify the officers to prepare and present the evidence. 

 

15.4 It should not be necessary for Members of the Planning Committee to become involved 
in preparing and presenting the case at appeal on an overturn decision, because the 
reasons for refusal and statements on relevant policies put forward by the Members in 
reaching their decision should be sufficient to defend the case.  However, there may be 
some situations where in an inquiry a Member involvement as a relevant witness is 
necessary in order to provide a full and accurate case. In circumstances where the 
Assistant Director for Planning considers this to be the case the Member will be 
expected to attend any Informal Hearing or Public Inquiry in support of the Council’s 
case. 

 

15.5 In exceptional circumstances the Assistant Director for Planning may not be able to 
prepare the Council’s evidence to the hearing or inquiry because the Officer’s earlier 
recommendation on the grounds of refusal is so prejudiced by the earlier advice given.  
In these circumstances a nominated Member of the Planning Committee together with 
an externally appointed consultant will need to present the Council’s evidence. 

 

16.0 QUALITY OF SERVICE 
 

16.1 The responsibility to provide a quality service is shared by both Officers and Members.  
Unnecessary delay at any point in the process of determining an application can result in 
customer commitments not being met.  It can also mean costly delays and can damage 
the reputation of Plymouth City Council, the Planning Committee itself and its individual 
Members and Officers.  This could have wider implications for the regeneration of 
Plymouth in terms of how investors, and indeed local people, perceive the city. 

 

16.2 Therefore, when making decisions Members and Officers need to ensure primarily that 
a fair and reasonable planning decision is made, but that in so doing account must also 
be taken of customer commitments.  

 

17.0 MONITORING AND REVIEW OF DECISIONS  
 

17.1 Members should also play an active part in regularly reviewing the outcome of planning 
decisions so that lessons can be learned and the future consideration and determination 
of planning application proposals can be improved as part of a broader commitment to 
continuous improvement. 

 

Page 93



17.2 Every year the Planning Committee will undertake an Annual Site Visit to review 
completed projects and look at key regeneration sites that form part of the Local 
Development Framework. There may also be the need for review site visits during the 
determination stage of planning applications. 

 

17.3  Members should assist in the preparation of the Local Development Framework/Local 
Plans by engaging in key consultation stages and discussing with Officers the application 
of key policies. The Chair of Planning Committee will also meet regularly with the 
relevant Portfolio Holder to discuss the interrelationships between policy development 
and policy application. 

 

17.4  Members should therefore ensure that they are available for review visits as and when 
necessary throughout the year and for a whole day of visits for the Annual Site Visit. 

 

18.0 TRAINING 
 

18.1 No Member may sit at a Planning Committee meeting without first having received 
appropriate mandatory training as set out in paragraph 18.2.  This training will expire if 
the Member has not sat on the Planning Committee within 12 months of receiving the 
training, or has had a gap of at least 6 months from the Planning Committee. Where the 
training has expired the Member may not sit on the Planning Committee until they have 
received the mandatory training. 

 

18.2  Given the complex legislative framework for determining planning applications and the 
constant reforms and changes to procedure within the planning system, the Assistant 
Director for Planning will provide a Planning Committee Training Programme 
comprising regular sessions covering:  

 

• An annual Planning Committee training session that will provide an overview of the 
key role of planning in the city and the role of Members in the planning process.  
This training will normally be held once the annual list of Planning Committee 
members are known and should be attended by both new and existing Members.  
Training will be undertaken by appropriate Legal and Planning Officers.  If Members 
join Planning Committee after this training or act as a substitute for a Planning 
Committee Member, they will receive separate training. 
  

• Training Workshops on new Council and Central Government policy and legislation 
or other Planning issues that either Members request or Officers recommend. 
 

• Annual Site Visit. 
 

18.3  The above training will usually be open to all Members of the Council to enable them to 
have a better understanding of planning issues in their role as Ward Councillors.  

Page 94



 

18.4 Members will be expected to make themselves available to attend these training 
sessions in order to keep up to date on the latest planning and development issues. It 
will be the responsibility of each individual Member to ensure that they have had at least 
the annual training in order to be able to sit at a Planning Committee meeting.  The 
Assistant Director for Planning will maintain a register of Member training.  Training will 
be provided using a range of training methods. 

 

19.0 COMPLAINTS 
 

19.1 A complaint that a Member or Officer has breached this code should be made in writing 
to the Head of Legal Services and would be referred to the Monitoring Officer for 
investigation and determination. 

 

19.2 A complaint made in writing regarding the determination of a planning application or a 
related planning matter would be investigated by the Assistant Director for Planning 
and/or an appropriate officer of the Planning Department in accordance with the 
Council’s complaints procedure. 

 

19.3 A complaint may be made to the Local Government Ombudsman in the event that a 
complainant was not satisfied with the result of an investigation under the Council’s 
complaints procedure.  This must be made on the appropriate prescribed form and 
submitted direct to the Local Government Ombudsman. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Paul Barnard, Assistant Director for Planning 

Peter Ford, Head of Development Management 

Julie Rundle, Senior Lawyer 
 

 

Page 95



Page 96

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Appendix B 

 
 
 

PLANNING AND THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
1. FUNCTIONS  
 
 The relevant functions of the Council are: 
 
1.1 Planning and Conservation 
 
A All the Councils functions in relation to Town and Country Planning and 

Development Control as specified in Schedule I to the Local Authorities 
(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000, as amended.  

 
Commons registration 

 
B All the Council’s functions in relation to common land or town and village greens 

or unclaimed common land, or unlawful works on common land and to register 
the variation of rights of common as set out in Schedule I to the Local 
Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000, as 
amended. 

 
Highways Use and Regulation 

 
C All the Council’s functions in relation to the regulation of the use of highways set 

out in Schedule I to the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) 
(England) Regulations 2000, as amended. 

 
 High Hedges 
 
D All the Council’s functions in relation to applications and complaints about high 

hedges under Part 8 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003. 
 
 Trees 
 
E The powers to preserve trees under Sections 197 to 214D of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990, and the Trees Regulations 1999 and to protect 
important hedgerows under the Hedgerows Regulations 1997. 

 
1.2 Policy 

 

Page 97



 

 

The Council decides whether to adopt the Local Development Framework, on 
the recommendation of Cabinet. 

 
2 MATTERS SPECIFICALLY DELEGATED TO THE PLANNING 

COMMITTEE 
 
2.1 In relation to policies and strategies the Committee will: 
 

Advise the Cabinet on the implementation of the Development Plan, Local 
Development Framework and other planning policies and strategies. 

 
2.2 Within the policies laid down by the Council, the Committee will 
 

2.2.1. Determine applications relating to town and country planning, commons 
registration, village greens, the making or confirmation of Tree 
Preservation Orders where there are objections that cannot be resolved 
and the use or regulation of highways that would have a significant impact 
on two or more wards of the Council. 

 
2.2.2 Determine individual applications for planning permission and any other 

application made under planning legislation where: 
 

a) it is an application for 10 or more dwellings or non-residential 
floor space of 1000 sq m or more and more than 5 written 
representations raising valid planning considerations have been 
received during the statutory consultation period; or 

 
b) the application is substantively contrary to a Local Development 

Framework proposal and the officer recommendation is to 
approve; 

 
c) the application is submitted by an employee or Member of the 

Council, or a close relative of an employee or Member of the 
Council living in the same property (see paragraph 4.3 for 
definition of a close relative). 

 
d) a Member of Council has, within 3 weeks of being sent 

notification of an application, written to the Assistant Director for 
Planning directing its determination by the Committee  and given 
reasons for this ;  

 
e) the matter is referred to the Committee by the Assistant 

Director for Planning under one of the following criteria: 
• there are finely balanced policy or precedent issues; 
• there are probity issues or public interest reasons for the matter 

to be determined by the Committee; 

Page 98



 

 

• the matter is an unusual response to a particular set of issues that 
warrants debate by the Committee. 

 
2.2.3 Approve the principal terms of major planning agreements; or any 

substantive changes to the terms of major planning agreements that have 
been specifically agreed by the Planning Committee on a previous 
occasion. 
 

 
 In relation to Highways Matters the Committee will: 
 

2.3.6. Determine the confirmation of Orders to create divert or stop up 
footpaths or bridleways. 

 
2.3.7. Determine applications to modify the definitive map. 

 
2.3.8. Determine applications that are referred by either the Assistant Director 

for Planning or the Assistant Director for Transport. 
 
3. MATTERS DELEGATED TO OFFICERS 

 
3.1 All other non executive functions in respect of planning highways and transport 

have been specifically delegated to the Director for Place 
 
4. GENERAL 

 
4.1. Substitute Members 
 

Any member of Council may act as substitute provided they have undergone the 
Council’s prescribed Member planning training course. 

 
4.2 Planning Committee Procedures are found in the Planning Committee’s Code of 

Good Practice. 
 
4.3 For the purposes of the Planning Committee functions a close relative is defined 

as:  a husband or wife (or civil partner), a son or daughter, a father or mother; 
or a brother or sister. 
 

 
 

Page 99



Page 100

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Revised Jul 2013 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
 

Subject:    Arrangements for Code of Conduct complaints  

Committee:    City Council  

Date:    16 September 2013  

Cabinet Member:   Councillor Peter Smith  

CMT Member: Tim Howes (Assistant Director for Law, Democracy and 

Governance)   

Author: Tim Howes, Assistant Director for Law, Democracy and 
Governance 

Contact details:   Tel: 01752 305403  
    Email: tim.howes@plymouth.gov.uk  

Ref: 

Key Decision:   n/a 

Part: 1   
 
Purpose of the report:  
To update the process for handling complaints under the Councillors Code of Conduct pursuant to  
Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 
         
The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 -2016/17:   
 
This is a legal requirement but links to our values of ‘we are responsible’ and ‘we are fair’. 
          
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land: 
 
All resource implications will be met from existing budgets. 
   
Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management: 
 
None 
 

Equality and Diversity: 

Has an Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?   No 
  
Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 
 
The Council formally adopt these arrangements in accordance with section 28 of the Localism Act 
2011. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
 
None, this is a legal requirement. 

Agenda Item 13Page 101



 

Revised Jul 2013 

 
 
Published work / information: 
 
None 
 
Background papers:  
 
None 
 
 
Sign off:   
 
Fin djn1314.

13 
Leg TH 

0125 
Mon 
Off 

TH 
0125 

HR  Assets   IT  Strat 
Proc 

 

Originating SMT Member Tim Howes 
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the content of the report?  Yes 
 
 
 

 

Page 102



 

Revised Jul 2013 

1.0 Introduction 
 

Under the Localism Act 2011, the Council must have in place arrangements under which allegations 
under the Councillors’ Code of Conduct can be investigated, and under which decisions on 
allegations can be made. 
 
Following the previous adoption of the new Code of Conduct these new arrangements have been 
drafted and were considered initially by the Standards Advisory Group who recommended minor 
amendments to give greater clarity to complainants. The arrangements were subsequently approved 
by the Constitution Review Group on 23 July 2013 with a minor amendment to include reference to 
the informal arrangement for Group Leaders and whips to be made aware of complaints by 
Councillors. 
 
The document follows a standard process adopted throughout local government, but it has been 
adapted to match issues which are unique to Plymouth. 
 
2.0 The Arrangements 
 
Arrangements for handling of allegation under the Code of Conduct against Members of 
Plymouth City Council (“the Council”) 
 
Introduction 
 

This procedure applies to complaints about alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct by 
Members of Plymouth City Council, pursuant to Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011. 

 
For the purposes of this procedure the person who makes the complaint is described as “the 
Complainant” and the person about whom the complaint is made is “the Member”.  In this 
procedure “Member” includes “Co-opted Member”. 
 
The adopted code of conduct for Members is attached at appendix A to these arrangements 
and is also available in the constitution on the council’s website. 

 
Summary of how the procedure works 
 
Stage 1 – Making a complaint 

In order to make a complaint you must send your complaint in writing to the Monitoring 
Officer (see paragraph 1.1 below for details of how to do this and where to send your 
complaint). 

 
Stage 2 – Assessment of your complaint 

If informal resolution is not possible the Monitoring Officer will assess the complaint and 
decide whether to investigate the allegations contained in it.  If the Monitoring Officer decides 
that the complaint should be investigated, he/she will undertake a process (details of which 
are set out below) to determine whether or not the complaint is upheld.  If the complaint is 
not to be investigated the Monitoring Officer will write to you to explain why.  In some cases 
the Monitoring Officer may consider informal resolution of your complaint if appropriate. 
 

Stage 3 – Investigation of the complaint 
If the Monitoring Officer does investigate your complaint, the final summary investigation 
report and finding will be published on the Authority’s website.  In cases where the 
Monitoring Officer upholds your complaint, he/she will consult with the Council’s Standards 
Advisory Group on what if any sanctions should be imposed in respect of the breach. 

Page 103



 

Revised Jul 2013 

 
There are no appeal mechanisms within this procedure.  Should you be dissatisfied with the 
Monitoring Officer’s decisions and/or actions at any point, a member of the public may 
complain to the Local Government Ombudsman or to the courts. 
 

Stage 1 
How to complain about Member conduct and what you and the Member are told after 
you have made a complaint 
 
1.1 How to complain 
 
1.1.1 If you want to complain that a Member of the Authority has breached the Authority’s Code 

of Conduct you must make your complaint in writing; 
 
1.1.2 You can do this by completing a complaint form, which you can obtain by telephoning 01752 

305403 or contacting the Monitoring Officer by email at tim.howes@plymouth.gov.uk The 
complaint form explains what information you should include in the form. 

 
1.1.3 You are not, however, required to use the complaint form, and can make your complaint in 

writing to:  The Monitoring Officer, Plymouth City Council, Civic Centre, Plymouth, PL1 2AA 
or tim.howes@plymouth.gov.uk 

 
1.1.4 If you do not use the complaint form and write to the Monitoring Officer instead you should 

clearly set out the following information in your letter: 
 

• the name of the Member you believe has breached the Code of Conduct; 
• what the Member has done that you believe breaches the Code of Conduct, and 

which paragraphs of the Code you believe they have breached.  (If you are complaining 
about more than one Member you should clearly explain what each individual person 
has done that you believe breaches the Code of Conduct). 

• you should be specific, wherever possible, about exactly what you are alleging the 
Member said or did; 

• you should provide the dates of the alleged incidents wherever possible.  if you cannot 
provide exact dates it is important to give a general timeframe; 

• you should confirm whether there were any witnesses to the alleged conduct and 
provide their names and contact details if possible; 

• you should provide any relevant background information; 
• you should say what action you think would be appropriate to resolve your complaint; 
• you should say whether you would like your identity and the details of your complaint 

to be kept from the Member(s) you are complaining about and, if so, explain why.  Any 
such request will be taken into account but your anonymity cannot be guaranteed. 

 
1.2 What happens once you submit a complaint? 
 
1.2.1 All complaints about Member conduct will be dealt with by the Authority’s Monitoring 

Officer. 
 

1.2.2 If the Monitoring Officer is unsure whether you are actually making a complaint, or any details 
of your complaint, he/she will contact you to clarify. 

 
 

Page 104



 

Revised Jul 2013 

1.2.3 If your complaint identifies criminal conduct or breach of other regulation by any person, the 
Monitoring Officer has the power to call in the police or other regulatory agencies. In 
particular a breach of the process around Disclosable Pecuniary Interests is in most instances 
a criminal offence which should be investigated by the Police. 

 
1.3 What you and the Member are told next 
 
1.3.1 If the Monitoring Officer is clear that you are making a complaint that a Member of the 

Authority has breached the Authority’s Code of Conduct, where the Monitoring Officer 
considers it appropriate, he/she will try to resolve your complaint informally (see Stage 2 
below). 

 
1.3.2 If informal resolution is not appropriate or is unsuccessful, the Monitoring Officer will: 
 

(i) write to you to acknowledge that he/she has received your formal complaint and to 
inform you that the Member you are complaining about will usually be provided with 
your identity, unless you write back within 5 working days asking for this not to 
happen; and  

 
(ii) unless there are good reasons not to, write to the Member you are complaining about: 
 
 (a) stating that a formal complaint has been made against them; 

(b) providing them with your name (unless you have asked that this information is 
not provided and/or the Monitoring Officer considers there are good reasons 
not to provide it); 

(c) stating the relevant paragraphs of the Code you believe the Member has 
breached; and 

(d) stating that the complaint will be considered by the Monitoring Officer. 
 
Stage 2 – Assessment 
 
2.1 Assessing your complaint and making a decision 
 
2.1.1 The Monitoring Officer will assess all complaints on a case by case basis and, in doing this, will 

also take into account relevant guidance, professional advice and the criteria set out below 
and may seek the views of the Independent Person (see paragraphs 3.1.2. and 3.2 below). 

 
2.1.2 The Monitoring Officer will also take into account any relevant criteria and factors. 
 
2.1.3 Given the limited sanctions available to the Monitoring Officer to apply in the event of a 

breach of the Code, the Authority expects this complaints procedure to be proportionate to 
the issues raised and the expected outcomes.   

 
The following criteria will be considered in deciding what action, if any, to take: 
 

a)  Has the complainant submitted enough information to satisfy the Monitoring 
Officer that the complaint should be referred for investigation or other action? 
If not: 
The information provided is insufficient to make a decision. So unless, or until, further 
information is received, no further action will be taken on the complaint. 

 

Page 105



 

Revised Jul 2013 

b) Is the complaint about someone who is no longer a member of the Council, but is 
a member of another authority? If so, should the complaint be referred to the 
monitoring officer of that other authority? 
If yes: 
The complaint will be referred to the monitoring officer of that other authority to consider. 
 

c) Has the complaint already been the subject of an investigation or other action 
relating to the Code of Conduct? Similarly, has the complaint been the subject of 
an investigation by other regulatory authorities? 
If yes: 
There may be nothing more to be gained by further action being taken. 

 
d) Is the complaint about something which happened so long ago that there would 

be little benefit in taking action now? 
If yes: 
Further action may not be warranted. 
 

e) Does the complaint appear too trivial to justify the cost or inconvenience of 
further action? 
If yes: 
Further action will not be warranted. 

 
f) Does the complaint appear to be simply malicious, politically motivated or tit-for-

tat? 
If yes: 
Further action will not normally be warranted. 

 
g) Is the complaint anonymous? 

If yes: 
No action will normally be taken unless there are compelling reasons to suggest otherwise, 
e.g. if it includes documentary or photographic evidence indicating an exceptionally serious or 
significant matter. 

 
h) With respect to complaints made by a Councillor, has the complaint been 

referred to the respective groups for informal resolution? 
If no: 
The complaint will be referred to the Group Whips and Leaders for resolution without the 
requirement for a formal complaint process. 

 
2.1.4 After reviewing your complaint, the Monitoring Officer will do one of the following: 
 

(a) decide that no action should be taken on your complaint (and inform you of this 
decision and the related reasons); or 

(b) decide that informal resolution is appropriate; or 
(c)  decide to investigate your complaint (and inform you of this decision and the related 

reasons); or 
(d)  pass the matter to the Police or other regulatory agency. (see Disclosable Pecuniary 

Interests at paragraph 3.4) 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



 

Revised Jul 2013 

2.2 How are you told about the Monitoring Officer’s decision? 
 
2.2.1 Within 5 working days of making a decision, the Monitoring Officer will provide you and the 

Member you are complaining about with a written document, containing his/her decision.  
This is called a “Decision Notice”. 

 
2.3 What information will the Decision Notice contain? 
 
2.3.1 This will be prepared having regard to any professional advice and the information it contains 

will depend upon what information the Monitoring Officer decides should be provided.  
Normally, however, the Decision Notice will: 

 
• contain your name and a written summary of your complaint; 
• contain the Monitoring Officer’s decision; 
• record the main points the Monitoring Officer considered, the conclusion and the 

reasons. 
 
2.3.2 the Monitoring Officer will first consider whether providing these or any details is in the 

public interest or would undermine a person’s ability to investigate your complaint (as this 
may be necessary at a later stage). 

 
2.3.3 If there has been no finding against the Member, the Decision Notice will not contain the 

name of the Member. 
 
2.4 Decision Notices are made public 
 
2.4.1 After the Decision Notice has been sent to you and the Member you are complaining about, 

the Authority will publish the Decision Notice on its website. 
 
2.5 A decision of ‘no action’ and your right to ask for a review of that decision 

2.5.1 The Monitoring Officer’s decision is final.  Where the Monitoring Officer has decided that no 
action should be taken on your complaint, there is no right to ask for a review of the decision.  
In these circumstances, a member of the public may complain to the Local Government 
Ombudsman at www.lgo.org.uk or in writing The Local Government Ombudsman, PO Box 
4771, Coventry CV4 0EH. 

 
2.6 What is informal resolution? 
 
2.6.1 Where the Monitoring officer decides that it would be appropriate to seek informal 

resolution, he/she will contact you to find out if your complaint can be resolved immediately, 
without recourse to formal investigation. 

 
2.6.2 Unless there are good reasons not to, the Monitoring officer will normally advise the Member 

at this stage that a complaint has been received and provide the Member with such details as 
the Monitoring Officer considers appropriate. 

 
2.6.3 There will be a whole range of actions that may be appropriate to try and resolve your 

complaint informally.  Some examples are:  the Monitoring Officer having a discussion with 
the Member you have complained about; arranging for the Member to do something which 
you have asked them to do; arranging a discussion between you and the Member; obtaining an 
apology from the Member. 

 

Page 107



 

Revised Jul 2013 

2.6.4 It is important, therefore, that you tell us in your complaint what action you think would be 
appropriate to resolve your complaint. 

 
Stage 3 Investigation following assessment 
 
3.1 Monitoring Officer decides to investigate your complaint 
 
3.1.1 Where the Monitoring Officer decides that a complaint should be investigated further, he/she 

may ask you, the Member, any witnesses and any other relevant people to provide them with 
detailed information or explanations, possibly by way of an interview. 

 
3.1.2 The Monitoring Officer may arrange for the investigation to be carried out on his or her 

behalf by another person.  In determining the complaint the Monitoring Officer will seek and 
take into account the views of at least one Independent Member appointed by the Authority 
for such purposes.  The Monitoring Officer may take into account the views of an 
Independent Person on any other matter concerning the investigation. 

 
3.1.3 Information obtained in conducting the investigation will only be released to third parties 

where this will allow your complaint to be dealt with properly. 
 
3.1.4 In addition to taking into account the views of the Independent Person, the Monitoring 

Officer will, when seeking to reach a finding on the complaint, take into account relevant 
guidance and professional advice. The Monitoring Officer may also consult with the Council’s 
Standards Advisory Group which is comprised of six councillors. 

 
3.2 The role of the Independent Person 
 
3.2.1 The role of the Independent Person, under Section 28(7) Localism Act 2011, is: 
 

• to give views, which must be taken into account by the Monitoring Officer before 
he/she makes a decision on an investigation he/she has decided to investigate; 

• give views, if requested by the Monitoring Officer, on any other allegation; 
• to give views to a Member if that person’s behaviour is the subject of an allegation. 

 
3.3 What happens when your complaint is investigated and the investigation is 

completed? 
 
3.3.1 Once the investigation is completed, the Monitoring Officer will, after consulting with the 

Standards Advisory Group: 
 

(i) find that the Member has failed to comply with the Authority’s Code of Conduct (“a 
finding of failure”); OR find that the Member has not failed to comply with the 
Authority’s Code of Conduct (“a finding of no failure”); 

 
(ii) prepare a written summary report of the investigation which contains a statement of 

the finding; 
 
(iii) send a copy of the report to you and the Member as soon as is reasonably practicable 

after making the decision; and 
 

Page 108



 

Revised Jul 2013 

(iv) publish a summary report and finding on the Authority’s website.  The name of the 
Member will only be published where there is a finding of failure on the part of the 
Member. 

 
3.3.2 In cases where the Monitoring Officer upholds your complaint, he/she will consult with the 

Council’s Standards Advisory Group on what if any sanctions should be imposed in respect of 
the breach. 

 
3.3.3  The possible sanctions for breach of the code are: 
 

• A reprimand of the Member by letter; 
• Report to Council proposing a formal censure to Council; 
• Refer findings to full council for information; 
• Publication of the reprimand or censure by press release or other appropriate 

publicity; 
• Recommendation to the Group Leader (or in the case of un-grouped members, 

recommend to council or committee) that he/she be removed from any or all 
committees of the Council; 

• Recommendation to the Leader of the council that the Member be removed from the 
Cabinet, or removed from particular portfolio responsibilities; 

• Recommendation of training for the Member 
 
There is no power to suspend or disqualify the Member or to withdraw member’s allowances 
or special responsibility allowances. 

 
3.3.4 The decision of the Monitoring Officer is final.  There is no entitlement to appeal against the 

Monitoring Officer’s decision on a complaint.  In these circumstances, you may be able to 
complain to the Local Government Ombudsman. 

 
3.4 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 
3.4.1 If the complaint relates to a disclosable pecuniary interest, the Monitoring Officer will either 

pass the complaint directly to the Police or recommend that the Complainant contacts the 
Police. 

 
3.4.2 In respect of disclosable pecuniary interests it is a criminal offence if, without reasonable 

excuse, a Member fails to tell the Monitoring Officer about his/her disclosable pecuniary 
interests, either for inclusion on the register if they are newly elected, co-opted or appointed 
member, or to update the register if they are re-elected, or re-appointed, or when they 
become aware of a disclosable pecuniary interest which is not recorded in the register but 
which relates to any matter; 

• That will be or is being considered at a meeting where they are present, or 
• On which they are acting alone. 

 
3.4.3 It is also a criminal offence for a Member to knowingly or recklessly provide false or 

misleading information, or to participate in the business of the authority where that business 
involves a disclosable pecuniary interest. It is also a criminal offence to continue working on a 
matter which can be discharged by a single member and in which they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest. 
 

3.4.4 If the Member is found guilty of such a criminal offence, they can be fined up to £5,000 and 
disqualified from holding office as a councillor for up to five years. 

Page 109



Page 110

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

COUNCILLORS’ CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

1.  The Code of Conduct 
 

Plymouth City Council has adopted this code which sets out the conduct expected of 
elected and co-opted members of the council.   
 
Holders of public office have a duty to: 

 
a) declare any private interests relating to their public duties and 
b) take steps to resolve such conflicts in a way that protects the public interest. 

 
The code is intended to be consistent with Nolan’s Seven Principles of Public Life namely 
that councillors will act with selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, 
honesty and leadership. 

 
 General principles of public life   

 
Preamble 

 
The principles of public life apply to anyone who works as a public office-holder. This 
includes all those who are elected or appointed to public office, nationally and locally, 
and all people appointed to work in the civil service, local government, the police, courts 
and probation services, non-departmental public bodies, and in the health, education, 
social and care services. All public office-holders are both servants of the public and 
stewards of public resources. The principles also have application to all those in other 
sectors delivering public services. 

 
Selflessness  

 
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

 
Integrity 

 
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or 
organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should 
not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for 
themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve any interests 
and relationships. 

 
Objectivity 

  
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using 
the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

 
Accountability  

 
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and 
must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

 
 

Page 111



 

 

Openness  
 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and 
lawful reasons for so doing. 

 
Honesty  

 
Holders of public office should be truthful.  

 
Leadership  

 
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge 
poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 
 

2.  Who does the code apply to? 
 
The code applies to councillors and co-opted members.  When the code refers to 
councillors, this includes co-opted members 

 
Co-opted member means any person who is a member of any committee or sub-
committee of the council but is not one of its councillors. This includes any officer who 
is a statutory member of a committee and has voting rights. 
 

3.  When does the code apply? 
 
It applies to councillors when they: 

 
a) conduct the business of the council (including the business of their office as a 

councillor or co-opted member) or 
b) act, claim to act or give the impression they are acting as a representative of the 

council  
 

4.  Does the code apply when councillors represent the council on another body? 
 
When councillors are representing the council on another body, they must follow the 
code unless it conflicts with a legal duty of the other body. 
 

5.  Courtesy and equality 
 
Councillors must treat other people with courtesy and must not bully anyone. They 
must not do anything that could lead the council to break equality laws. 

 
The general equality duty applies to ‘public authorities’.  In summary, those subject to 
the general equality duty must, in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the 
need to: 
 

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

Page 112



 

 

characteristic* and those who do not.  
• Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic* and 

those who do not.  
 

These are often referred to as the three aims of the general equality duty.  
 

* Protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, sex, sexual orientation and race – this includes ethnic or national origins, 
colour or nationality, religion or belief (or lack of belief). 
 

6.  Intimidation 
 
Councillors must not intimidate or try to intimidate anyone who is involved in any 
complaint about any alleged breach of the code of conduct.  
 

7.  Impartiality of council officers 
 
Councillors must not do anything which would be likely to prevent officers or 
contractors from being impartial. 

 
It should be noted that the council’s constitution includes a protocol about 
Member/Officer relations. 
 

8.  Information 
 
Councillors must not stop anyone getting information they have a legal right to. 

 
Councillors must not pass on information given to them in confidence or information 
they should know is confidential unless: 
 

• they are required to by law or 
• they have the consent of someone authorised to give it or 
• it is to get professional advice and the person given the information agrees not to 

pass it on to anyone else or 
• passing on the information is reasonable, in the public interest (whistleblowing), 

made in good faith and made in compliance with the reasonable requirements of 
the council. 

 
9.  Cabinet members 

 
At a Cabinet meeting 

 
Cabinet members must declare and give brief details about any conflict of interest* 
relating to the matter to be decided and leave the meeting room when the matter is 
being considered.  Cabinet members may apply to the Monitoring Officer for a 
dispensation in respect of any conflict of interest. 

 
Making individual executive decisions  

 
Cabinet members must declare and give brief details about any conflict of interest* 
relating to the matter to be decided and refer the matter to the Leader for a decision. 

Page 113



 

 

Cabinet members may apply to the Monitoring Officer for a dispensation in respect of 
any conflict of interest.  
 
If the Leader has a conflict of interest*, s/he will refer the matter to the Cabinet. 

 
*  A conflict of interest is a situation in which a councillor’s responsibility to act and take 
decisions impartially, fairly and on merit without bias may conflict with his/her personal 
interest in the situation or where s/he may profit personally from the decisions that s/he 
is due to take. 

 
10.  Disrepute 

 
Councillors must not act in a manner which could be seen to bring the council or the 
role of councillor into disrepute. 
 

11.  Misuse of position 
 
Councillors must not try to use their position improperly to gain an advantage or 
disadvantage for themselves or others. 
 

12.  Use of council resources 
 
When councillors use the council’s resources or let other people use them, they must 
follow any reasonable rules set by the council and make sure that resources are not 
used improperly for political purposes (including party political purposes). 
 

13.  Publicity 
 
Councillors must take into account the Code of Recommended Practice on Local 
Authority Publicity.  
 

14.  Advice of Monitoring Officer and Responsible Finance Officer 
 
Councillors must consider any advice given by the Monitoring Officer or Responsible 
Finance Officer when taking decisions. 
 

15.  Giving reasons for decisions 
 
Councillors must give reasons when required to by the law or by any council 
procedures. 
 

 PECUNIARY AND PRIVATE INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 
 

16.  Does a councillor have a disclosable pecuniary interest in the business of the 
committee? 
 

 Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined in regulations and include the interests of a 
councillor’s spouse or civil partner or cohabitee.  A councillor has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest in: 
 

• any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation that the councillor carries 

Page 114



 

 

on for profit or gain; or that their spouse civil partner or cohabitee carries on 
for profit or gain; 

• any sponsorship that the councillor receives including contributions to their 
expenses as a councillor; or contributions to their election expenses from a 
Trade Union;  

• any land licence or tenancy they have in Plymouth; or that their spouse civil 
partner or cohabitee has 

• any current contracts leases or tenancies between the council and the councillor; 
or between the council and their spouse civil partner or cohabitee; 

• any current contracts leases or tenancies between the council and any 
organisation with land in Plymouth in which he or she is  a partner, a paid 
Director, or has a relevant interest in its shares and securities;  

• any current contracts leases or tenancies between the councillor’s spouse civil 
partner or cohabitee and any organisation with land in Plymouth in which he or 
she is a partner, a paid Director, or has a relevant interest in its shares and 
securities;  

• any organisation which has land or a place of business in Plymouth and in which 
he or she a relevant interest in its shares or its securities.  

• any organisation which has land or a place of business in Plymouth and in which 
the councillors spouse, civil partner or cohabitee has have a relevant interest in 
its shares or its securities. 

 
Full details are given in Appendix A. 
 

17.  What should a councillor do if they have a disclosable pecuniary interest? 
 

17.1 If a councillor: 
 

• attends a meeting of the council, the Cabinet, a committee or sub committee; or 
• intends to take a delegated decision 

 
and is aware that he or she has a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter being or 
due to be dealt with; he or she must declare they have an interest, and the nature of it, 
at the start of the meeting, (or when they realise they have the interest if that is later). 
 

17.2 If declaring an interest would involve revealing sensitive information a councillor need 
only say that they have an interest – they need not say what the interest is (see section 
20). 
 

17.3 The councillor may not participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting or vote 
on the matter and must leave the meeting room when the matter is being considered.  
Councillors may apply to the Monitoring Officer for a dispensation in respect of any 
disclosable pecuniary interest. 
 

18.  Does a councillor have a private interest in the business of the committee? 
 
The public is likely to consider that a councillor has a private interest in the business of a 
meeting if it affects the well being or financial position of: 
 

• his/her family and close associates, or 
• any organisation where he or she is a member, or where he or she is involved in 

Page 115



 

 

its management; or  
• any organisation to which he or she has been appointed by the council. 

 
19.  What should a councillor do if he or she has a private interest? 

 
19.1 When the council is determining any matter in which he or she has a private interest a 

councillor should declare his or her interest if the decision could confer a financial 
advantage or disadvantage on: 
 

• his or her family, or  
• his or her close associates, or  
• an organisation where he or she is a member, or is involved in its management 

(whether or not appointed to that body by the council). This would include 
membership of a secret society and other similar organisations. 

 
19.2 When the council is determining any matter in which he or she has a private interest a 

councillor should declare his or her interest if the decision relates to an approval, 
consent, licence, permission or registration for: 
 

• his or her family, or  
• his or her close associates, or  
• an organisation where he or she is a member, or is involved in its management 

(whether or not appointed to that body by the council) This would include 
membership of a secret society and other similar organisations. 

 
19.2 A councillor should declare an interest, and the nature of it, at the start of the meeting, 

(or when they realise they have the interest if that is later); unless describing the 
interest would involve revealing sensitive information (see section 20). If declaring an 
interest would involve revealing sensitive information a councillor need only say that 
they have an interest – they need not say what the interest is 
 

19.3 Once a councillor has declared a private interest, they can stay in the meeting and speak 
and vote, unless their private interest is also a disclosable pecuniary interest (see section 
16) and he or she does not have a dispensation (see section 21). 
 

19.4 However, if the decision being taken is likely to confer an advantage or disadvantage on: 
 

• a councillor’s family 
• his or her close associates or  
• an organisation where he or she has a private interest 

 
more than it will affect other people living or working in the ward, the councillor should 
discuss this matter with the Monitoring Officer, or his/her designee, in advance of the 
meeting as legal issues of bias may arise. 
 

20 Sensitive information 
 
Information about a councillor’s interests is sensitive if making it public could lead to the 
councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to violence or 
intimidation. Councillors do not have to include information in the register of interests if 
the Monitoring Officer agrees that it is sensitive. If a councillor finds out that the 

Page 116



 

 

information has stopped being sensitive, they must tell the Monitoring Officer within 28 
days and ask for it to be included in the register. 
 

21 Dispensations 
 

21.1 The council has power to grant dispensations for a member to be able to participate in 
or vote at meetings where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest. This may be 
because it considers that the business of the council, Cabinet or a committee is likely to 
be impeded by not granting a dispensation; or that granting the dispensation is in the 
interests of residents; or that the council considers it appropriate to grant a 
dispensation for other reasons.  
 

21.2 A councillor who wishes to seek a dispensation should notify the Monitoring Officer as 
soon as possible of the situation. Several dispensations have already been granted that 
are likely to affect many or all councillors; these relate to decisions about: 
 

• councillor’s allowances, expenses or insurance 
• ceremonial honours given to councillors 
• Council Tax setting 
• school meals or school transport and travelling expenses if the councillor is the 

parent or guardian of a child in full time education unless  the decision relates 
particularly to the school their child attends 

• school meals or school transport and travelling expenses if the councillor is a 
parent governor unless the decision relates particularly to the school of which 
they are a governor 

 
22 Registering interests 

 
22.1 The law requires councillors to register certain interests by writing to the Monitoring 

Officer within 28 days of the code starting to apply to them or 28 days of finding out 
that their interests have changed. There is an exception when sensitive information is 
involved (see section 21). 
 

22.2 The interests that must be registered are: 
 
Any disclosable pecuniary interest which is held by: 

 
• them, or 
• their spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as husband and 

wife or a person with whom they are living as if they were civil partners; and  
• any private interest that the council has decided should be registered 

 
22.3 A councillor’s disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulations, which may 

change from time to time; the present definitions are set out in Appendix A. They mainly 
relate to business interests (for example, their employment, trade or profession, 
contracts or any company with which they are associated) and wider financial interests 
such as, for example, trust funds, investments and assets including land and property). 
 

22.4 A councillor should register the following private interests that he or she has: 
 

• An organisation of which he or she is a member, or which he or she has 

Page 117



 

 

management responsibility for (whether or not appointed to that body by the 
council). This would include membership of a secret society and other similar 
organisations.  

 
23 Penalties for not registering disclosable pecuniary interests 

 
It is a criminal offence to fail to register disclosable pecuniary interests or to 
participate in business in which a councillor has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest. 
 

 
Notes 

• Plymouth City Council provides training about this code of conduct for councillors. 

• Councillors may ask the Monitoring Officer, the Deputy Monitoring Officer or the 
Democratic and Member Support Manager for advice in relation to this code and the 
declaration of interests.  Ultimately, as only the councillor concerned will be aware of all 
the details surrounding any particular situation, it is the responsibility of each councillor 
to decide how to comply with this code of conduct. 

• Councillors are advised to seek advice prior to any meeting/other situation in which 
they consider an interest may arise. 

• A councillor, when considering whether s/he has an interest, may find it useful to ask 
him/herself whether a reasonable member of the public – if he or she knew all the 
relevant facts – would think that the councillor’s personal interest would be likely to 
affect his/her view of the situation.

Page 118



 

 

 

Appendix A 
 

Disclosable pecuniary Interests that must be registered are: 
 

Employment, office, trade, profession or vocation - Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain.  

Sponsorship - Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
Plymouth City Council) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred by the councillor in carrying out their duties as a member, or towards their election 
expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning 
of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.   

Contracts - Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body in which 
the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the council – 
 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and  
(b) which has not been fully discharged.  
 
Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the council.  

Licences - Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the council 
for a month or longer.  

Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s knowledge) – 
 
(a) the landlord is the council; and  
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest.  

Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where – 

(a) that body (to the councillor’s  knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of 
the council; and  
 
(b) either - 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that body; or  

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the 
shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 

Note: In the above descriptions, the following words have the following meanings –  

• “body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the 
relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a 
director, or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest 

Page 119



 

 

• “director” includes a member of the committee of management of an  industrial and 
provident society;  

• “land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not 
carry with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy 
the land or to receive income;  

• “securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society.  

 

 

Page 120



Agenda Item 17Page 121
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 138

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 18Page 139
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 148

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	4 APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES, OUTSIDE BODIES ETC
	7 Finance: New Capital Schemes
	8 Urban Enterprise: New Enterprise Units at Ocean Studios
	New Enterprise Units at Ocean Studio, 06/08/2013 Cabinet

	9 Redevelopment of the Civic Centre and future accommodation requirements
	Redevelopment of the Civic Centre and Future Accommodation Requirements, 03/09/2013 Cabinet

	10 The Brilliant Co-operative Council Sustainable Three Year Plan
	Cabinet Minute 42 The Brilliant Co-operative Council Sustainable Three Year Plan
	The Brilliant Co-operative Council Sustainable Three Year Plan, 03/09/2013 Cabinet

	11 WEBCASTING
	12 CONSTITUTIONAL CHANGES: PLANNING COMMITTEE CODE OF PRACTICE AND TERMS OF REFERENCE
	App A Planning Committee Code of Practice
	App B Constitution tor

	13 ARRANGEMENTS FOR CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS
	Draft councillors code of conduct

	17 REDEVELOPMENT OF THE CIVIC CENTRE AND FUTURE ACCOMMODATION REQUIREMENTS (E3)
	18 SENIOR MANAGEMENT RESTRUCTURE (E2 and 3)

